Interventions to Improve Longterm Adherence to Physical Rehabilitation Among Those with Hip or Knee Osteoarthritis or Chronic Low Back Pain: A Systematic Review

June 2022



#### **U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs**

Veterans Health Administration Health Services Research & Development Service

**Recommended citation:** Seidler KJ, Rethorn ZD, Burke C, et al. Interventions to Improve Long-term Adherence to Physical Rehabilitation Among Those with Hip or Knee Osteoarthritis or Chronic Low Back Pain: A Systematic Review. Washington, DC: Evidence Synthesis Program, Health Services Research and Development Service, Office of Research and Development, Department of Veterans Affairs. VA ESP Project #09-101; 2022.

# **AUTHORS**

Author roles, affiliations, and contributions to the present report (using the <u>CRediT taxonomy</u>) are summarized in the table below.

Author	Role and Affiliation	Report Contribution	
Katie J. Seidler PT, DPT, MSCI	Fellow, Durham Center of Innovation to Accelerate Discovery and Practice Transformation, Durham VA Health Care System Durham, NC	Conceptualization, Investigation, Methodology, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing	
Zachary D. Rethorn, DPT, PhD	Fellow, Durham Center of Innovation to Accelerate Discovery and Practice Transformation, Durham VA Health Care System Durham, NC	Conceptualization, Investigation, Methodology, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing	
Colleen Burke, PT, DPT	Fellow, Durham Center of Innovation to Accelerate Discovery and Practice Transformation, Durham VA Health Care System Durham, NC		
Helen Hoenig, MD	Rehabilitation physician, Rehabilitation & Extended Care, Durham VA Health Care System Durham, NC	Conceptualization, Investigation, Methodology, Writing – review & editing	
	Professor of Medicine, Geriatrics, Department of Medicine, Duke University		
Kelli Allen, PhD	Research Health Scientist & Associate Director, Durham Center of Innovation to Accelerate Discovery and Practice Transformation, Durham VA Health Care System Durham, NC	Conceptualization, Investigation, Methodology, Writing – review & editing	
	Professor, Department of Medicine, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill Durham, NC		
Amir Alishahi Tabriz, MD, PhD, MPH	Assistant Member, Department of Health Outcomes and Behavior, Moffitt Cancer Center Tampa, FL	Conceptualization, Investigation, Methodology, Writing – review & editing	
	Department of Oncological Sciences, University of South Florida Tampa, FL		

Author	Role and Affiliation	Report Contribution
Katherine Norman, PT, DPT, MS, OCS, ATC	Student, Department of Population Health Sciences, Duke University Durham, NC	Conceptualization, Investigation, Methodology, Writing – review & editing
Laura K. Murphy-McMillan, MSN, RN-BC, CHPN, CNL	Nurse, Durham VA Health Care Center System Durham, NC	Conceptualization, Investigation, Methodology, Writing – review & editing
Jason Sharpe, PT, PhD	Fellow, Durham Center of Innovation to Accelerate Discovery and Practice Transformation, Durham VA Health Care System	Conceptualization, Investigation, Methodology, Writing – review & editing
	Durnam, NC	
Letha M. Joseph, DNP,APRN, AGPCNP-BC	Nurse Practitioner, Durham VA Health Care System Durham, NC	Conceptualization, Investigation, Methodology, Writing – review & editing
	Consulting Associate/Clinical Faculty, Duke University School of Nursing Durham, NC	
Jessica R. Dietch, PhD	Assistant Professor, Oregon State University School of Psychological Science	Conceptualization, Investigation, Methodology, Writing – review & editing
	Corvailis, OR	
Andrzej S. Kosinski, PhD	Professor, Department of Biostatistics and Bioinformatics, Duke University School of Medicine Durham, NC	Data curation, Methodology, Formal analysis, Visualization, Writing – review & editing
Sarah Cantrell, MLIS, AHIP	Associate Director for Research & Education, Duke University Medical Center Library & Archives, Duke University School of Medicine Durham, NC	Conceptualization, Methodology, Writing – review & editing
Jennifer M. Gierisch, PhD, MPH	Co-director, Durham Evidence Synthesis Program Durham, NC	Conceptualization, Methodology, Investigation, Formal analysis, Writing – review & editing,
	Core Investigator, Durham Center of Innovation to Accelerate Discovery and Practice Transformation, Durham VA Health Care System Durham, NC	Supervision
	Associate Professor, Department of Population Health Sciences, Duke University School of Medicine Durham, NC	
Belinda Ear, MPH	Research Assistant, Durham Evidence Synthesis Program Durham, NC	Conceptualization, Investigation, Methodology, Visualization, Data curation,

Author	Role and Affiliation	Report Contribution	
	Research Health Science Specialist, Durham Center of Innovation to Accelerate Discovery and Practice Transformation, Durham VA Health Care System	Software, Writing – original draft, Project administration	
	Durham, NC		
Adelaide Gordon, MPH	Project Coordinator, Durham Evidence Synthesis Program Durham, NC	Conceptualization, Methodology, Investigation, Data curation, Formal	
	Research Health Science Specialist, Durham Center of Innovation to Accelerate Discovery and Practice Transformation, Durham VA Health Care System Durham, NC	analysis, Writing – original draft, Project administration	
Karen M. Goldstein, MD, MSPH	Co-director, Durham Evidence Synthesis Program Durham, NC	Conceptualization, Methodology, Investigation, Formal analysis, Visualization, Writing –	
	Core Investigator, Durham Center of Innovation to Accelerate Discovery and Practice Transformation, Durham VA Health Care System Durham, NC	original draft, Writing – review & editing, Supervision	
	Primary Care Provider, Durham Veterans Affairs Medical Center Durham, NC		
	Associate Professor, Department of Medicine, Division of General Internal Medicine, Duke University Durham, NC		

K4

This report was prepared by the Evidence Synthesis Program Center located at the Durham VA Medical Center, Durham, NC, directed by Jennifer M. Gierisch, PhD, MPH, and Karen M. Goldstein, MD, MSPH, and funded by the Department of Veterans Affairs, Veterans Health Administration, Health Services Research and Development.

The findings and conclusions in this document are those of the author(s) who are responsible for its contents and do not necessarily represent the views of the Department of Veterans Affairs or the United States government. Therefore, no statement in this article should be construed as an official position of the Department of Veterans Affairs. No investigators have any affiliations or financial involvement (eg, employment, consultancies, honoraria, stock ownership or options, expert testimony, grants or patents received or pending, or royalties) that conflict with material presented in the report.

Kł

# PREFACE

The VA Evidence Synthesis Program (ESP) was established in 2007 to provide timely and accurate syntheses of targeted health care topics of importance to clinicians, managers, and policymakers as they work to improve the health and health care of Veterans. These reports help:

- Develop clinical policies informed by evidence;
- Implement effective services to improve patient outcomes and to support VA clinical practice guidelines and performance measures; and
- Set the direction for future research to address gaps in clinical knowledge.

The program comprises four ESP Centers across the US and a Coordinating Center located in Portland, Oregon. Center Directors are VA clinicians and recognized leaders in the field of evidence synthesis with close ties to the AHRQ Evidence-based Practice Center Program. The Coordinating Center was created to manage program operations, ensure methodological consistency and quality of products, interface with stakeholders, and address urgent evidence needs. To ensure responsiveness to the needs of decision-makers, the program is governed by a Steering Committee composed of health system leadership and researchers. The program solicits nominations for review topics several times a year via the <u>program website</u>.

The present report was developed in response to a request from the Rehabilitation Research & Development Service (RR&D). The scope was further developed with input from Operational Partners (below), the ESP Coordinating Center, the review team, and the technical expert panel (TEP). The ESP consulted several technical and content experts in designing the research questions and review methodology. In seeking broad expertise and perspectives, divergent and conflicting opinions are common and perceived as healthy scientific discourse that results in a thoughtful, relevant systematic review. Ultimately, however, research questions, design, methodologic approaches, and/or conclusions of the review may not necessarily represent the views of individual technical and content experts.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors are grateful to Liz Wing and Stacy Lavin for editorial and citation management support, and the following individuals for their contributions to this project:

### **Operational Partners**

Operational partners are system-level stakeholders who help ensure relevance of the review topic to the VA, contribute to the development of and approve final project scope and timeframe for completion, provide feedback on the draft report, and provide consultation on strategies for dissemination of the report to the field and relevant groups.

### **Timothy Brindle, PhD**

Scientific Program Manager RR&D, Musculoskeletal Health & Function

### Stuart Hoffman, PhD

Scientific Program Manager RR&D, Brain Health & Injury

#### Karen Siegel, PT, MA

Deputy Director RR&D

#### **Technical Expert Panel**

To ensure robust, scientifically relevant work, the TEP guides topic refinement; provides input on key questions and eligibility criteria, advising on substantive issues or possibly overlooked areas of research; assures VA relevance; and provides feedback on work in progress. TEP members are listed below:

#### Teresa Damush, PhD, MA

Senior Investigator VA HSR&D Center for Health Information and Communication

### Gregory Hicks PT, PHD, FAPTA, FGSA

*Professor* Associate VP for Clinical & Translational Research, UDPI & Director, Clinical Translational ACCEL Program, University of Delaware

#### Kathryn Ross, PhD MPH

Associate Professor Department of Clinical and Health Psychology College of Public Health and Health Professions, University of Florida

#### Debra Weiner, MD

Associate Professor of Medicine Psychiatry and Anesthesiology in the Division of Geriatrics, University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine

#### **Peer Reviewers**

The Coordinating Center sought input from external peer reviewers to review the draft report and provide feedback on the objectives, scope, methods used, perception of bias, and omitted evidence (see Appendix E for disposition of comments). Peer reviewers must disclose any relevant financial or non-financial conflicts of interest. Because of their unique clinical or content expertise, individuals with potential conflicts may be retained. The Coordinating Center works to balance, manage, or mitigate any potential non-financial conflicts of interest identified.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Authorsii
Prefacevi
Acknowledgmentsvi
Abbreviations Tablex
Executive Summary
Introduction7
Purpose7
Background7
Methods
Topic Development
Key Question
Analytic Framework
Definitions9
Protocol9
Data Sources and Searches
Study Selection
Data Abstraction and Assessment12
Synthesis
Results
Literature Flow
Literature Overview
Main Findings17
Key Outcomes of Interest
Discussion
Summary of Findings
Prior Systematic Reviews
Clinical and Policy Implications
Limitations
Future Research
Conclusions
References
Appendix A. Search Strategies
Appendix B. Study Characteristics

Appendix C. Intervention Characteristics	66
Appendix D. Excluded Studies	. 71
Appendix E. Peer Review Disposition	. 78
Appendix F. Behavior Change Techniques Used in Included Studies by Intervention and Comparator Groups	. 87
Appendix G. Behavior Change Techniques Used in Included Studies	90

# FIGURES AND TABLES

Figure 1. Analytic Framework	9
Table 1. Study Eligibility	10
Figure 2. Literature Flowchart	15
Table 2. Evidence Profile of Included Studies	16
Figure 3. Timing of Rehabilitation and Adjunct Interventions	18
Figure 4. Heatmap of BCTs Identified in Index Rehabilitation Programs and Adjunct Adherence Interventions	20
Figure 5. Timeline of Outcome Reporting	21
Table 3. Adherence to Prescribed Home Rehabilitation Program	23
Figure 6. Forest Plot of Adherence Outcomes at 3 to 6 Months	26
Figure 7. Forest Plot of Adherence Outcomes at 9+ Months	26
Figure 8. Forest Plot of Adherence Outcomes as Percent of Prescribed Rehabiliation	27
Table 4. Physical Function Results	28
Figure 9. Forest Plot of Physical Function Outcomes at 3 to 6 Months	32
Figure 10. Forest Plot of Physical Function Outcomes at 9 Months	32
Table 5. Self-efficacy Results	33
Table 6. Adverse Events Results	35
Figure 11. Risk of Bias Ratings Across Randomized Trials: Patient-reported Outcomes	38
Figure 12. Risk of Bias Ratings by Bias Domain: Patient-reported Outcomes	39
Figure 13. Risk of Bias Ratings Across Randomized Trials: Objective Outcomes	39
Figure 14. Risk of Bias Ratings by Bias Domain: Objective Outcomes	40
Figure 15. Risk of Bias Ratings for Cluster-randomized Trials	40
Figure 16. Risk of Bias Ratings by Bias Domain: Objective Outcomes (Cluster-randomized Trials)	41
Figure 17. Risk of Bias Ratings for Non-randomized Trials	41
Table 7. Certainty of Evidence for Rehabilitation Adherence by Intervention and Outcome         Timing	44
Table 8. Highest Priority Evidence Gaps for Long-term PT Adherence	49

# **ABBREVIATIONS TABLE**

Abbreviation	Definition	
BCT	Behavior change technique	
CBT	Cognitive behavior therapy	
CI	Confidence interval	
COE	Certainty of evidence	
COM-B	Capability, opportunity, and motivation	
ESP	Evidence Synthesis Program	
GRADE	Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development, and Evaluation	
KOOS	Knee and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score	
KQ	Key question	
LBP	Low back pain	
NRS	Numeric rating scale	
OA	Osteoarthritis	
OECD	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development	
OR	Odds ratio	
PRESS	Peer Review of Electronic Search Strategies	
PRISMA	Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta Analyses	
PT	Physical therapy	
ROB	Risk of bias	
RR&D	Rehabilitation Research and Development	
SD	Standard deviation	
SEE	Self-Efficacy for Exercise Scale	
SMD	Standardized mean difference	
VHA	Veterans Health Administration	
WOMAC	Western Ontario and McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis Index	

# **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

### **Key Findings**

- We identified 10 studies that evaluated adjunct adherence-enhancing interventions: 6 were delivered concurrent to an index rehabilitation program and 4 were delivered sequentially.
- Most (7) studies targeted patients with knee and/or hip osteoarthritis.
- Of the 3 studies that reported a positive effect on long-term adherence, only 1 was a low risk of bias study.
- Only 1 study described the use of specific behavior change techniques and related theory for the explicit promotion of behavioral maintenance versus initiation of behavior change.
- There was often similarity in the behavior change techniques used in intervention and comparator groups, and no studies provided a rationale for this overlap.
- Identified adjunct adherence interventions do not appear to have a meaningful treatment effect of adjunct adherence interventions on long-term physical function, self-efficacy, or adverse events.

# **INTRODUCTION**

Chronic pain, often caused by musculoskeletal dysfunction, results in billions of dollars in US health care spending annually. In the Veterans Health Administration, 25% of patients with musculoskeletal conditions receive care for low back pain (LBP) annually, and an additional 21% of Veterans receiving musculoskeletal care have osteoarthritis (OA). One approach to managing symptoms for individuals with chronic LBP or OA is physical rehabilitation, which uses clinician-prescribed, tailored exercise and activity. Despite the effectiveness of rehabilitation in reducing pain and disability, adherence to rehabilitation interventions has been measured to be as low as 13%. Poor adherence is a concern especially when the patient is no longer under direct clinical supervision.

Adjunct interventions have been proposed to address low rates of long-term adherence to musculoskeletal rehabilitation by targeting the maintenance of, rather than the initiation of, behavior changes required for long-term success. Examples of adjuncts include psychological interventions (*eg*, cognitive behavioral therapy and motivational interviewing) and performance feedback interventions (*eg*, coaching, peer support, activity tracking). However, it is currently unknown which of these adjunct interventions, and in what combinations, have the greatest impact on patient motivation, long-term adherence to rehabilitation, or ultimate physical function outcomes.

This review aims to evaluate the impact of physical rehabilitation interventions supplemented with 1 or more adherence-enhancing adjunct components, on the following outcomes among adults with hip or knee OA or chronic LBP: (1) adherence, (2) functional improvements, and (3) self-efficacy at  $\geq$  3 months after completing an index rehabilitation program. As part of our analysis, we seek to provide insights into how future interventions might be optimized through the selection of behavior change techniques (BCTs) that maximize patient benefit.

### **METHODS**

#### **Data Sources and Searches**

We conducted a primary search from inception to July 27, 2021 in MEDLINE (via Ovid), CINAHL Complete (via EBSCO), and Embase (via Elsevier). We used database-specific controlled vocabulary as well as relevant keywords to search titles and abstracts.

### **Study Selection**

In brief, eligible studies were randomized and non-randomized trials evaluating adherencefocused intervention components conducted in addition to usual care or usual-care-like physical rehabilitation programs among adults with hip or knee OA or chronic LBP. Studies were required to use a comparator arm featuring the same physical rehabilitation intervention without the adjunct adherence components, and to measure outcomes at least 3 months after the rehabilitation course.

All citations classified for possible inclusion based on title and abstract by at least 1 investigator underwent full-text review. Citations designated for exclusion by 1 investigator at the title-and-abstract level underwent screening by a second investigator. The study was excluded if both investigators agreed on exclusion. All articles reviewed during full-text review were evaluated independently by 2 investigators and all articles meeting eligibility criteria were included for data abstraction.

### **Data Abstraction and Assessment**

Data elements included descriptors to assess applicability, quality elements, intervention details, and outcomes including adverse events. Study risk of bias (ROB) was assessed by the revised Cochrane Risk of Bias for randomized trials and cluster-randomized trials (RoB 2) and the ROBINS-I for non-randomized studies. Quality assessment was completed in duplicate by 2 investigators. Disagreements were resolved by consensus between those 2 investigators or, as needed, with arbitration by a third.

### **Synthesis**

We summarized the following key study characteristics of the included studies: study design, patient demographics, details of the index rehabilitation program, adjunct adherence intervention and comparator, outcomes measures, and timing of outcomes assessment. We considered the feasibility of completing a quantitative synthesis (*ie*, meta-analysis) to estimate summary effects given the volume of relevant literature, conceptual homogeneity of the studies, and completeness of results reporting. We did not conduct a meta-analysis due to incomparability in intervention characteristics, outcome measures, and outcome timing. As an alternative, we report the standardized mean difference for studies reporting similar outcome categories using continuous data. Since meta-analysis was not feasible, we analyzed the data narratively by focusing on identifying patterns in efficacy across included studies by outcome category.

Since the follow-up time points of interest for this review are limited to outcomes  $\geq$  3 months after completing the rehabilitation program, we estimated the time point of each outcome as the time since the end of the rehabilitation program. In addition, for each included study, we coded the BCTs employed in all experimental and comparator arms using a BCT taxonomy derived

from included studies and any published protocols we identified. The certainty of evidence (COE) was assessed using the approach described by the Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development, and Evaluation (GRADE) working group. These domains were considered qualitatively, and a summary rating was assigned after discussion as high, moderate, low, or very low COE.

# RESULTS

### **Results of Literature Search**

We identified 5,512 citations, of which 81 were reviewed at the full-text stage. Of these, 10 unique studies met eligibility criteria. There were 1 non-randomized trial, 2 cluster-randomized trials, and 7 randomized controlled trials. They were conducted in the United States, Canada, Australia, Europe, and Israel.

### Summary of Results for Key Question

### Intervention Characteristics

Of the 10 included studies, 6 delivered adjunct interventions concurrently to an index rehabilitation program, and 4 delivered adjunct interventions sequentially. Rehabilitation programs varied in type (*eg*, submaximal graded exercise program, strength training), duration (1.5–6 months), and number of sessions (median = 5, range = 2–156). Similarly, the adjunct interventions varied in content delivered (*eg*, mean = 5.5 BCTs, range = 2–15), duration (median = 6 months, range = 1–24), and number of contacts (median = 7, range = 2–42). Of the studies that reported the type of professional who delivered the adjunct intervention, all were physical therapists or similarly trained clinicians. Only 3 studies provided details of clinician training, and they addressed standard of care rather than intervention training. Five studies focused on populations with knee OA alone, 3 focused on LBP, 1 focused on hip OA, and 1 focused on both knee and hip OA.

### Behavior Change Techniques

We identified BCTs described by each study across both comparator and intervention arms; none of the included studies commented on clinician knowledge about, familiarity with, or training specifically regarding BCTs. A total of 38 BCTs were identified across the included studies out of the 93 possible BCTs, representing 14 of the 16 BCT clusters. The number of BCTs in index rehabilitation programs ranged from 5 to 11 (mean = 8.8), while adherence interventions included 2 to 15 unique BCTs (mean = 6.2). BCTs included in the index rehabilitation programs generally reflect typical clinical practice using BCTs such as goal setting, instruction on how to perform a behavior, demonstration of the behavior, and behavioral practice/rehearsal. Adjunct interventions varied in complexity with 10 BCT clusters present in  $\leq$  3 adjunct adherence-enhancing interventions.

### Outcomes of Interest

### Adherence to prescribed home rehabilitation program

Ten studies reported on long-term adherence outcomes. Six of these studies evaluated the effect of concurrently delivered adjunct components on adherence to home rehabilitation and 4 studies evaluated sequentially delivered components. Overall, there was no evidence of benefit with



concurrently delivered adjunct interventions at 3 to 6 months (SMD range = 0.05-0.06) or 9 months and longer (SMD range = 0.06-0.20) among those studies with continuous outcome measures. Similarly, only 1 sequentially delivered intervention from a low ROB study reported beneficial effects among patients with knee OA at 9 months post-rehabilitation program (SMD = 0.42, 95% CI [0.02, 0.82]). There was no effect of the intervention across the other 4 studies at 3 to 6 months (SMD range = 0.18-0.42) and 9 months and longer (SMD = -0.12). When adherence is reported as percent completion of prescribed home rehabilitation, only 1 study showed a benefit of adjunct interventions (SMD = 0.50, 95% CI [0.09, 0.90]).

### Physical function

All but 1 of the 10 included studies reported on function as an outcome to evaluate intervention impact. Five of these studies evaluated the effect of concurrently delivered adjunct components on physical function and 4 studies evaluated sequentially delivered components. Among concurrently delivered interventions, there was no evidence of benefit at 3 to 6 months (SMD range = -0.12 - -0.02) or 9 months or longer (SMD range = -0.23 - 0.20). Similarly, there was no evidence of beneficial effect among sequentially delivered adjunct interventions at 3 to 6 months (SMD range = -0.04 - 0.02) or 9 months or longer (SMD range = -0.04 - 0.10). Of note, there was no evidence of intervention effect on function at 6 months for the 1 low-ROB study by Bennell et al that demonstrated improved adherence among participants receiving 24 weeks of sequentially delivered behavior change text messages.

### Self-efficacy

Five studies reported self-efficacy for exercise or related constructs as an intermediate outcome of interest due to its role as an important determinant of long-term adherence. The 2 studies reporting validated measures of self-efficacy found no intervention effect.

### Adverse events

Four studies reported adverse events associated with interventions to improve long-term adherence to rehabilitation programs. Overall, there was no evidence of increased adverse events among patients receiving adjunct adherence interventions.

# DISCUSSION

### Key Findings and Strength of Evidence

We found limited evidence of benefit across the included adjunct adherence-enhancing interventions on long-term adherence and no evidence of benefit on functional outcomes. Six adjunct interventions were delivered concurrently to an index rehabilitation program and 4 were delivered sequentially. Some health behavior models (*ie*, Precaution Adoption Process Model, Transtheoretical Model) suggest that initiation of physical therapy (PT) and long-term adherence to PT are conceptually distinct behaviors that require different skills and psychological processes for support. Designing interventions that disentangle behavioral initiation and maintenance (*ie*, sequential interventions) and target distinct content to support these behaviors may lead to improved results. Moreover, the majority of interventions from studies in our review included BCTs from clusters already represented in the comparator arm (such as goal setting, feedback and monitoring, and repetition and substitution). None of the included studies addressed a

rationale for this overlap, though only 1 study (Bennell et al 2020) specifically refers to the BCTs as a part of intervention development.

Of the 10 studies reporting adherence outcomes, 3 had evidence of a positive effect on the primary outcome of long-term adherence to recommended home rehabilitation programs across endpoints within included studies. However, when considering the difference in adherence at follow-up between intervention and comparator arms, only the study by Bennell et al had a beneficial effect on both measures of long-term adherence. Overall, based on GRADE criteria, we found low certainty of evidence that there is no effect of adjunct intervention components on adherence at 3 to 6 months or 9 months across concurrent and sequential intervention types.

All but 1 included study measured functional outcomes, and all used at least 1 established self-report measure of function. To evaluate sustained functional improvement, we considered the difference in change of function from the end of rehabilitation to follow-up. Overall, there was no evidence of intervention effect (low COE) at any time point regardless of the timing of the adjunct components.

Of the 5 studies reporting self-efficacy, only 2 used validated measures specifically related to self-efficacy of any type and found no effect of the intervention. Only 1 high ROB study found a significant difference using a non-validated measure assessing confidence-like attitudes. Four studies reported adverse events, though none found any difference in events by receipt of adjunct adherence interventions and most reported were minor musculoskeletal discomforts.

### Applicability

While none of the included studies were conducted in the VA or specifically sought to include Veterans, the identified studies were conducted in settings *similar* to the VA Health Care System, and it is reasonable to expect similar outcomes from the Veteran population. In addition, the participants in the included studies are similar in age and comorbidities to Veterans cared for in the VA.

### **Future Research**

We identified 5 key areas in which future research on this topic could fill existing gaps and/or improve the approach. First, future research seeking to promote long-term adherence to prescribed home rehabilitation programs should leverage theoretical/conceptual approaches to promoting behavioral maintenance (*ie*, beyond the initiation of behavior change) and should more generally be grounded in a sound theoretical/conceptual framework. Second, as current rehabilitation practice employs many behavior change techniques as part of standard of care, adherence-enhancing adjunct interventions should consider the use of different BCTs for promoting adherence to prescribed home exercise regimens and patient long-term outcomes. Third, adherence innovations could target both the rehabilitation provider and patient simultaneously and/or take advantage of the flexibility of virtual and/or asynchronous technology to improve long-term engagement. Fourth, the field would also benefit from welldescribed usual care comparators that define standards of care and identify any BCTs. Additionally, studies should include objective functional and adherence outcomes and validated measures of self-efficacy. Continued reporting of outcomes at least 6 months after the rehabilitation program would enable comparisons across studies. Lastly, research is needed on important subpopulations, including underrepresented racial and ethnic populations and younger

Кł

adults with knee and hip OA and LBP, to ensure that studied approaches are effective despite any distinct challenges and needs for incorporating long-term adherence strategies.

### Conclusions

Long-term sustainment of functional improvements gained by short-term rehabilitation programs requires ongoing adherence to recommended home rehabilitation programs well past the end of direct clinical treatment. We found that there is inadequate evidence evaluating rigorously designed adherence-enhancing interventions for the specific promotion of long-term adherence to home rehabilitation programs. As long-term adherence represents a distinct behavioral target (*ie*, behavioral maintenance), future studies may want to consider testing interventions specifically built to target behavioral maintenance of home rehabilitation programs. Future development of interventions to promote long-term or sustained adherence to prescribed home rehabilitation programs could benefit from use of theoretically informed approaches and successful behavioral maintenance interventions for similar conditions. In the meantime, rehabilitation clinicians and referring providers should be aware that long-term commitment to prescribed home rehabilitation programs is necessary to realize ongoing health benefits.

# **EVIDENCE REPORT**

# **INTRODUCTION**

# PURPOSE

The Evidence Synthesis Program (ESP) is responding to a request from the Rehabilitation Research and Development Service (RR&D). Findings from this review will be used to inform future research on adjunct interventions to promote long-term adherence to physical rehabilitation recommendations.

### BACKGROUND

Chronic pain, with musculoskeletal dysfunction as a common cause, results in over \$600 billion of US health care spending annually—exceeding costs for other highly prevalent conditions like heart disease, cancer, and diabetes.<sup>1</sup> Chronic low back pain (LBP), specifically, fell into the highest category of national health care spending in 2016.<sup>2</sup> In the Veterans Health Administration (VHA), 25% of patients with musculoskeletal conditions receive care for LBP annually, and an additional 21% of Veterans receiving musculoskeletal care have osteoarthritis (OA). One approach to managing the symptoms of these chronic conditions is physical rehabilitation. Physical rehabilitation interventions use tailored exercise and activity to improve clinical outcomes for individuals with chronic LBP and OA, reducing pain and disability in these populations.<sup>3,4</sup> Despite the effectiveness of rehabilitation, adherence to rehabilitation interventions has been measured as low as 13%. Poor adherence is a concern especially when the patient is no longer under direct clinical supervision.<sup>5,6</sup>

Adjunct interventions have been proposed to address low rates of long-term adherence to musculoskeletal rehabilitation by targeting the maintenance of, rather than initiation of, behavior change required for long-term success.<sup>7</sup> Examples of adjuncts include psychological interventions (*eg*, cognitive behavioral therapy and motivational interviewing) and performance feedback interventions (*eg*, coaching, peer support, activity tracking<sup>8</sup>). However, it is currently unknown which of these adjunct interventions have the greatest impact on patient motivation, long-term adherence to rehabilitation, or ultimate physical function outcomes. This is largely due to a pervasive disconnect between components of behavior change interventions and the underlying mechanisms of behavior change (capability, opportunity, and motivation).<sup>9</sup> Thus, there is an opportunity to improve long-term patient rehabilitation outcomes by applying current behavior change science—codified in the standardized, evidence-based behavior change technique (BCT) taxonomy<sup>10</sup>—to the analysis and design of long-term adherence interventions.

Promoting long-term physical function and quality of life in Veterans through evidence-based practice is a core goal of the VHA, and improving long-term adherence to rehabilitation for those with chronic musculoskeletal conditions has the potential to significantly delay or prevent severe forms of disease and disability.<sup>11</sup> Thus, the aim of this review is to evaluate the impact of physical rehabilitation interventions supplemented with 1 or more adherence-focused adjunct components, on the following outcomes among adults with hip or knee OA or chronic LBP: (1) adherence, (2) functional improvements, and (3) self-efficacy at  $\geq$  3 months after completing an index rehabilitation program. As part of our analysis, we seek to provide insights into how future interventions might be optimized through the selection of BCTs that maximize patient benefit.



# **METHODS**

# **TOPIC DEVELOPMENT**

This topic was requested by the VA Rehabilitation Research & Development Service (RR&D). The findings from this review will be used to inform the development of a new request for applications on adjunct interventions that promote long-term adherence to physical rehabilitation recommendations. This review may also inform rehabilitation clinicians and program leadership who seek to improve the long-term outcomes for patients with chronic musculoskeletal pain and functional impairment.

### **KEY QUESTION**

The following key question (KQ) was the focus of this review: Among adults with hip/knee osteoarthritis or chronic low back pain, do physical rehabilitation interventions, supplemented with 1 or more adjunct components to promote adherence, improve self-efficacy, adherence, or sustained functional improvements at  $\geq 3$  months after completing the rehabilitation program?

# ANALYTIC FRAMEWORK

The analytic framework shown in Figure 1 provides a conceptual overview of this review. For adults with hip/knee OA or chronic LBP who engage in physical therapy and rehabilitation programs, the goal is to experience sustained functional improvements. It is generally thought that in order to sustain these functional improvements over time, patients need to demonstrate a long-term commitment to the practice of the prescribed home exercise program. However, long-term adherence to prescribed home exercise is often a struggle for many individuals. Thus, there is the potential for interventions that promote long-term adherence to be delivered as an adjunct to a standard rehabilitation program delivered either at the same time as the initial, or index, rehabilitation program (*ie*, concurrently) or after the end of the index program (*ie*, sequentially). An expected intermediate outcome of adjunct interventions that promote long-term adherence is increased self-efficacy to complete the home exercise program as prescribed. We also recognize that it is possible that there could be adverse effects from the addition of adjunct adherence interventions to rehabilitation programs, though we expect such effects to be rare. The analytic framework depicted in Figure 1 is a visual representation of the context for this report and highlights the intermediate and long-term outcomes of interest.

### Figure 1. Analytic Framework



### DEFINITIONS

To guide our review process and reporting of findings, we established the following definitions:

- <u>Index rehabilitation program</u> is the initial physical rehabilitation care (*ie*, active, structured physical activity or activities designed to reduce impairments and improve movement-related function) that is delivered, supervised, and/or monitored by a health care professional or other trained individual.
- <u>Adjunct adherence-enhancing intervention</u> is the supplemental component provided to the patient in addition to the index rehabilitation program (either concurrent with or sequential to) that is designed to promote long-term adherence to the prescribed home rehabilitation practice.

# PROTOCOL

A preregistered protocol for this review can be found on the PROSPERO international prospective register of systematic reviews (<u>http://www.crd.york.ac.uk/PROSPERO/</u>; registration number CRD42021276794). There were no significant deviations after submission of this protocol. In addition, we followed the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta Analyses (PRISMA) guideline.<sup>12</sup>

# DATA SOURCES AND SEARCHES

To identify primary literature that addresses our key question, we conducted a primary search from inception to July 27, 2021, in MEDLINE (via Ovid), CINAHL Complete (via EBSCO), and Embase (via Elsevier). We used database-specific controlled vocabulary as well as relevant keywords to search titles and abstracts (see Appendix A for complete search strategies). To



ensure completeness, our search strategies were developed by an expert medical librarian (SC) with input on key terms from subject matter experts. We identified exemplar articles to use to test the integrity of our developed search strategy prior to executing across all databases. All search strategies were reviewed by a second medical librarian in accordance with the Peer Review of Electronic Search Strategies (PRESS) guideline.<sup>13</sup>

### **STUDY SELECTION**

Studies identified through our primary search were classified independently by investigators for relevance to the KQ based on our eligibility criteria (Table 1). All citations classified for possible inclusion based on title and abstract by at least 1 investigator underwent full-text review. Citations designated for exclusion by 1 investigator at the title-and-abstract level underwent screening by a second investigator. The study was excluded if both investigators agreed on exclusion. All articles reviewed during full-text review were evaluated independently by 2 investigators, and all articles meeting eligibility criteria were included for data abstraction. All articles were tracked in both DistillerSR, a web-based data synthesis software program (Evidence Partners Inc., Manotick, ON, Canada), and EndNote reference management software (Clarivate).

### **Eligibility Criteria**

Our review included studies that met the criteria shown in Table 1.

	Inclusion	Exclusion
Populations	<ul> <li>Adults (age 18 years+) with:</li> <li>Hip or knee osteoarthritis (self-reported diagnosis, clinical criteria, or radiographic evidence)</li> <li>Chronic low back pain (lasting ≥12 weeks)<sup>14</sup></li> </ul>	<ul> <li>&lt;75% participants with hip or knee OA and/or chronic low back pain</li> <li>Patients with OA of hip/knee who are within 12 months before or after joint surgery</li> </ul>
Interventions	<ul> <li>Physical rehabilitation interventions (<i>ie</i>, active, structured physical activity or activities designed to reduce impairments and improve movement-related function that is delivered, supervised, and/or monitored by a health care professional <i>or other trained individual</i>) that have an adjunct component(s) (embedded within initial physical rehabilitation) or are followed by component(s) (delivered after initial physical rehabilitation) designed to promote long-term adherence to the prescribed rehabilitation home practice including but not limited to the following approaches:</li> <li>Feedback and monitoring (<i>eg</i>, use of activity monitors, automated text messages)</li> <li>Social support (<i>eg</i>, peer coaches)</li> <li>Incentives</li> </ul>	Interventions focused on adherence to prescribed activities during initial rehabilitation treatment only Interventions focused on perioperative rehabilitation for knee or hip replacement or other surgery

### Table 1. Study Eligibility

	Inclusion	Exclusion
	• Psychologically informed interactions ( <i>eg</i> , cognitive behavioral therapy, acceptance and commitment therapy, motivational interviewing)	
	Initial rehabilitation intervention must be delivered by trained individuals (in-person or virtual) with clearly stated profession ( <i>eg</i> , PTs, kinesiotherapists, certified exercise physiologist, physiatrist [rehabilitation MD])	
	Adherence-focused sessions/component delivered in addition to the core physical rehabilitation treatment may be delivered by individuals other than those who delivered the original physical rehabilitation treatment	
	Interventions may involve caregiver, but primary target of intervention must be the patient	
Comparators	Same initial physical rehabilitation intervention without the adjunct component or same initial physical rehabilitation with attention control instead of adjunct component	No comparator, other active comparator
Outcome	Any of the following if measured at 3 or more months after the end of the initial rehabilitation intervention:	Any outcomes without at least 1 of those listed under inclusion
	<ul> <li>Self-efficacy to engage in home practice of physical rehabilitation outside of supervised physical rehabilitation</li> <li>Adherence to prescribed rehabilitation home practice</li> </ul>	
	NOTE: If study does not explicitly describe an intent to promote long-term adherence to rehabilitation home practice, it must measure <u>adherence</u> as an outcome.	
	<ul> <li>Measures of physical function (including but not limited to WHO-DAS, FIM + FAM, 6-minute walk test)</li> <li>Adverse events (<i>eg</i>, falls, fractures, ED visits)</li> </ul>	
Setting	Initial physical rehabilitation intervention: clinic or home-based	Inpatient settings
	Adjunct component: in-person, home-based, remotely delivered)	
Timing	At least 2 contacts for initial physical rehabilitation intervention	Not applicable

	Inclusion	Exclusion
Study design	<ul> <li>Randomized trials</li> <li>Non-randomized trials</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Not a clinical study (<i>eg</i>, editorial, letter to an editor)</li> <li>Uncontrolled clinical study</li> <li>Qualitative studies</li> <li>Prospective or retrospective observational studies</li> <li>Systematic review/meta-analysis</li> <li>Clinical guidelines</li> <li>Measurement or validation studies</li> </ul>
Countries	OECDª	Non-OECD
Publication types	Full publication in a peer-reviewed journal	Letters, editorials, reviews, dissertations, meeting abstracts, protocols without results

*Notes.* <sup>a</sup> OECD includes Australia, Austria, Belgium, Canada, Chile, Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Israel, Italy, Japan, Korea, Latvia, Luxembourg, Mexico, Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Poland, Portugal, Slovak Republic, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Turkey, the United Kingdom, and the United States.

*Abbreviations*. ED=emergency department; FIM + FAM=Functional Independence Measure and Functional Assessment Measure; OA=osteoarthritis; OECD=Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development; PT= Physical Therapist; WHO-DAS=World Health Organization Short Disability Assessment Schedule.

# DATA ABSTRACTION AND ASSESSMENT

Data from published reports were abstracted into a customized DistillerSR database by 1 reviewer and over-read by a second reviewer. Disagreements were resolved by consensus. Abstracted data elements included participant descriptors (*eg*, age, sex, race/ethnicity, Veteran status), intervention characteristics (*eg*, interventionist profession, duration of index rehabilitation program, content and mode of both index rehabilitation program and adjunct component, whether adjunct component was delivered concurrently or in series to the initial index rehabilitation treatment course), comparator, and outcomes (*eg*, which outcome was identified as the primary outcome of the study). Multiple published reports analyzing data obtained from a single study were treated as a single data point with the most relevant results drawn across reports. When critical data were missing or unclear in published reports, we requested supplemental data from the study authors. For details of study characteristics, see Appendix B. Appendix C presents details of the intervention characteristics. Appendix D lists excluded studies and the reason for exclusion.

Quality assessment was completed in duplicate by 2 investigators (the investigator who abstracted the included article and the investigator who over-read the abstraction data). Disagreements were resolved by consensus between those 2 investigators or, as needed, by arbitration by a third investigator. We used the revised Cochrane Risk of Bias for randomized trials and cluster randomized trials (RoB 2)<sup>15</sup> and the ROBINS-I for non-randomized studies.<sup>16</sup> The domains for the RoB 2 include (1) bias arising from randomization process; (2) deviations from intended intervention; (3) missing outcome data; (4) bias in measurement of the outcome; and (5) bias in selection of the reported results. Overall risk of bias (ROB) judgments included low ROB, some concerns, and high ROB. Cluster-randomized studies were evaluated additionally for bias arising from the timing of identification and recruitment of individual

participants in relation to timing of randomization. The ROBINS-I includes domains for (1) confounding; (2) participant selection; (3) intervention classification; (4) deviations from intended interventions; (5) missing data; (6) outcome measurement; and (7) selective outcome reporting. Overall ROB judgments included low ROB, serious ROB, critical ROB, and no information.

### **SYNTHESIS**

First, we summarized the following key study characteristics of the included studies: study design, patient demographics, details of the index rehabilitation program, adjunct adherence intervention and comparator, outcomes measures, and timing of outcomes assessment. We considered the feasibility of completing a quantitative synthesis (*ie*, meta-analysis) to estimate summary effects. For meta-analyses, feasibility depends on the volume of relevant literature, conceptual homogeneity of the studies, and completeness of results reporting. Because of incomparability in intervention characteristics (*eg*, training for physical therapists in communication skills vs text message exercise reminders to patients) and delivery methods (*eg*, in-person vs automated), as well as inconsistency in outcome measurement, we did not conduct meta-analyses.

As an alternative to meta-analyses, we calculated the standardized mean difference (SMD) for studies reporting similar outcome categories (*eg*, functional status using a validated tool) when possible. Standardized mean differences for functional outcomes were calculated as the difference in mean change from the end of rehabilitation program between arms (intervention minus control) divided by the pooled standard deviation across the arms. When mean change was not reported by a study, we used difference between means at 2 time points and considered 0.5 correlation between measurements at these 2 time points to compute standard deviation of change. When values at the end of the rehabilitation program were not directly provided by a study, we computed these values based on the baseline mean values and reported mean change from baseline. Standardized mean differences for adherence outcomes were calculated as difference between arms (intervention minus control) at the time of follow-up measurement divided by the pooled standard deviation across the arms.

The follow-up timepoints of interest for this review are limited to outcomes at  $\geq 3$  months after completing the index rehabilitation program. We estimated the time point of each outcome measurement as time since baseline minus the time since end of the rehabilitation program (*eg*, data at 6 months after baseline is the same as data collected 3 months after a 3-month intervention). In cases where the study performed a second round of randomization after the end of the rehabilitation program and before implementation of adjunct adherence components, outcome time points are not changed, as baseline and end of the rehabilitation program are the same.

Because quantitative synthesis was not feasible, we analyzed data narratively through descriptive approaches that identify patterns in key outcomes, comparators, intervention approaches, and other study characteristics. We gave more weight to the evidence from higher quality studies with more precise estimates of effect. The narrative synthesis focused on documenting and identifying patterns in efficacy across included studies by outcome category (*ie*, adherence, functional status, self-efficacy, and adverse events). We analyzed potential reasons for

Кł

inconsistency in treatment effects across studies by evaluating differences in the study population, intervention, comparator, and outcome definitions.

In addition, for each included study, we coded BCTs used in all experimental and control arms using a BCT taxonomy (v1)<sup>10</sup> derived from information presented in included studies and any published protocols we identified. Two experienced reviewers (KS and ZR) independently coded each study for BCTs. Any discrepancies were resolved through discussion. A third author (KG) was consulted if needed.

Finally, the certainty of evidence (COE) was assessed using the approach described by the Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development, and Evaluation (GRADE) working group.<sup>17</sup> GRADE criteria require assessment of 4 domains: risk of bias, consistency, directness, and precision. Additional domains to be used when appropriate are coherence, dose-response association, impact of plausible residual confounders, strength of association (magnitude of effect), and publication bias. These domains were considered qualitatively, and a summary rating was assigned after discussion by a group of investigators (ZR, KS, KG, AG) as high, moderate, low, or very low COE. Randomized and non-randomized designs were not combined per GRADE guidance. Studies reporting dichotomous outcomes were not combined with studies reporting continuous outcomes.

# RESULTS

### LITERATURE FLOW

The literature flow diagram (Figure 2) summarizes the results of the study selection process (full list of excluded studies available in Appendix D).

### Figure 2. Literature Flowchart



Notes. <sup>a</sup> Search results from Medline (2,108), Embase (1,111), and CINAHL (101) were combined.

### LITERATURE OVERVIEW

Our search identified 3,320 potentially relevant articles. After removing duplicates, there were a total of 3,320 articles. After applying inclusion and exclusion criteria to titles and abstracts, 81 articles remained for full-text review. Of these, 11 studies (10 unique) were retained for data abstraction, including 1 non-randomized trial, 2 cluster randomized trials, and 7 randomized controlled trials. None were conducted in the VA. The studies were conducted in the United States (1), Canada (1), Australia (3), Europe (4), and Israel (1) (Table 2).

### Table 2. Evidence Profile of Included Studies

Number of studies: 11 studies (10 unique interventions)

**Study Designs**: Cluster randomized controlled trial (n=2); Individual randomized controlled trial (n=7); non-randomized controlled trial (n=1)

Number of participants: 1,964

**Countries**: Europe (n=4); Australia (n=3); USA (n=1); Canada (n=1); Israel (n=1)

**Patient demographics** (median): age = 62 years old; women (63%); White (74%) (6 studies not reported), Black (2.3%) (9 studies not reported)

**Conditions**: Knee osteoarthritis (n=5); Low back pain (n=3); Hip osteoarthritis (n=1); Knee and Hip osteoarthritis (n=1)

**BCT components**: Mean number of BCTs per index rehabilitation program = 8.8 (range 5 BCTs to 11 BCTs) and mean number of BCTs per adherence adjunct intervention= 6.2 (range 2 BCTs to 15 BCTs)

Duration of index rehabilitation program: Median duration was 3 months (range 1 month to 12 months)

Duration of adherence adjunct: Median duration was 6 months (range 1 month to 24 months)

Intervention timing: Concurrent (n=6); Sequential (n= 4)

**Risk of bias:** Low (n=4); Some concerns (n=2); High (n=4)<sup>a</sup>; Serious (n=1)<sup>b</sup>

*Notes.* <sup>a</sup> One study was evaluated as low risk of bias for objectively measured outcomes and high risk of bias for patient reported outcomes.<sup>18 b</sup> ROBINS-I tool was used to evaluate the non-randomized controlled trial.<sup>19</sup> *Abbreviations.* BCT=behavior change technique.

### **MAIN FINDINGS**

### **Key Points**

- We identified 10 studies evaluating adjunct adherence interventions: 6 delivered concurrently to an index rehabilitation program and 4 delivered sequentially.
- Most studies targeted patients with knee and/or hip OA (7 studies).
- There was often similarity in the behavior change techniques used in intervention and comparator groups, and no studies provided a rationale for this overlap.
- Included studies were generally small and only 5 articulated a specific intent to promote long-term adherence.
- Of the 3 studies that reported a positive effect on long-term adherence, only 1 was a low ROB study.
- Included studies with notable limitations showed no meaningful treatment effect on long-term physical function.

### **Intervention Characteristics**

Of the 10 unique studies included in this review, 4 featured a sequentially delivered adjunct adherence intervention<sup>20-23</sup> and 6 were delivered concurrently to the index rehabilitation  $program^{18,19,24-27}$  (Figure 3). All but 1 study<sup>18</sup> included some form of traditional physical therapy as the index rehabilitation program, though they varied in duration (1.5 to 6 months) and type (eg, submaximal graded exercise program, strength training). The number of physical rehabilitation sessions (median = 5, range = 2-156) also varied widely across the included studies. The duration of individual sessions and dose actually delivered to patients (eg, sessions attended) were not regularly reported in these studies. Five studies<sup>18,20,21,24,26</sup> explicitly focused on improving adherence to rehabilitation or home practice or reported adherence as a primary outcome. Five adjunct interventions<sup>18,20-22,25</sup> were conducted at least partially remotely (eg, telephone, text message). No studies reported using video for adjunct adherence support. The median duration of the adjunct component was 6 months (range = 1-24 months) and the number of sessions ranged from 2 to 42 with a median of 7 sessions. All but 1 study<sup>18</sup> reported the profession of the provider delivering the adjunct adherence intervention, and all were physical therapists or similarly trained clinicians. Little detail was provided about the training or experience of interventions. Below, we describe the concurrent and sequential adjunct interventions in more detail.



### Figure 3. Timing of Rehabilitation and Adjunct Interventions

*Notes.* <sup>a</sup> Participants in the intervention could receive up to 6 extra coaching telephone sessions after the end of the index rehabilitation program. <sup>b</sup> The adjunct components were intentionally different during the same timeframe as the rehabilitation program and determined to be concurrent. <sup>c</sup> The majority of the unique adjunct components were delivered after the rehabilitation program was completed.

#### Concurrently Delivered Adjunct Adherence Interventions

Three concurrently delivered adjunct interventions targeted chronic LBP, 2 focused on knee OA alone, and 1 studied hip and/or knee OA.<sup>19,24,27</sup> All 3 studies focused on the treatment of chronic LBP, included specific provider training, or offered treatment approaches as an integrated component of the index rehabilitation program. Specifically, they provided communication training for physical therapists based on self-determination theory<sup>24</sup> (a transtheoretical, model-informed rehabilitation program.<sup>27,28</sup> Two concurrent interventions for patients with hip or knee OA were aligned with more traditional rehabilitation programs. One provided 6 CBT-informed telephone counseling sessions as a supplement during—and then up to an 6 additional sessions after—a standard progressive individualized home rehabilitation program.<sup>25</sup> The other provided a behavioral-graded activity intervention with an additional 7 booster sessions beyond the end of the index rehabilitation program.<sup>26</sup> Finally, 1 knee OA program consisted of a supervised community walking program supplemented by concurrent group sessions focused on goal setting and support provision.<sup>18</sup>

#### Sequentially Delivered Adjunct Adherence Interventions

All 4 sequentially delivered adjunct adherence intervention studies targeted patients with knee OA. Two with the same lead author were developed as add-on studies recruiting participants who had completed prior physical therapy trials;<sup>20,23</sup> the first provided 2 additional booster physical therapy (PT) sessions over the 24 weeks after index rehabilitation,<sup>23</sup> and the second provided 24 weeks of automated, semi-interactive text messages after index rehabilitation.<sup>20</sup>

Кł

Baker et al<sup>21</sup> provided monthly motivational adherence counseling calls for 18 months after a run-in period of a strength training rehabilitation program, and Quicke et al provided an adherence toolkit including tools for self-monitoring and follow-up adherence sessions.<sup>22</sup> See Appendix C for additional intervention details.

### **Behavior Change Techniques**

We identified BCTs targeting adherence to prescribed physical rehabilitation interventions for each study, including for both the intervention and comparator arms (Appendix F). A total of 38 of the total 93 BCTs from the BCT taxonomy  $(v1)^{10}$  were identified across the included studies, representing 14 of the 16 BCT clusters (see Appendix G). The number of BCTs in comparator arms ranged from 5 to 11 (mean = 8.8 BCTs), while intervention groups included 2 to 15 unique BCTs (mean = 6.2). Bennell et al<sup>20</sup> had the most unique BCTs in the adjunct adherenceenhancing intervention (15), followed by Friedrich et  $al^{27}$  (10) (Figure 4). Of note, Bennell et  $al^{20}$ was the only included study that specifically mentioned incorporation of BCTs and related theory during intervention development. BCTs commonly included in index rehabilitation programs reflect typical clinical practice (examples include goal setting, instruction on how to perform a behavior, demonstration of the behavior, and behavioral practice/rehearsal). Though 14 of 16 BCT clusters were represented across all 10 included studies, 10 BCT clusters were present in  $\leq$  3 adjunct adherence-enhancing interventions. Adjuncts that demonstrated improved long-term adherence tended to have more unique BCTs compared to those that did not improve adherence. Adjuncts that were delivered concurrently likewise tended to have fewer BCTs than those that were delivered sequentially. Across all included studies, little detail was available about how BCTs were operationalized within the clinical encounters.





*Notes.* Behavior change techniques (BCTs) were categorized by count in each cluster and are presented in colors ranging from white to blue as shown in the key. BCT domains: 1. Goals and planning, 2. Feedback and monitoring, 3. Social support, 4. Shaping knowledge, 5. Natural consequences, 6. Comparison of behavior, 7. Associations, 8. Repetition and substitution, 9. Comparison of outcomes, 10. Reward and threat, 11. Regulation, 12. Antecedents, 13. Identity, 14. Scheduled consequences, 15. Self-belief, 16. Covert learning.

# **KEY OUTCOMES OF INTEREST**

Included studies measured outcomes at a variety of time points. In Figure 5, we depict the timing of outcomes by study in relationship to the end of the index rehabilitation program in order to emphasize sustainment of outcome effects. For the rest of the results section, we refer to follow-up time points in this manner unless stated otherwise. Note that the primary study publications did not necessarily label assessment time points in this way. One study<sup>23</sup> reported standard deviation (SD) as a direct measure of change. For all other studies, we computed SDs of change from after treatment to follow-up assuming correlation of 0.5 between after-treatment SD and follow-up SD. For 2 studies,<sup>19,24</sup> we used mean change from baseline to after treatment and the baseline mean (and corresponding SDs) to compute after-treatment mean change and SDs (assuming 0.5 correlation between baseline and after-treatment measurements). For 1 study, we assumed the number of participants after 12 months of follow-up was the same as the number of participants reported at the end of treatment, as the exact number was not specified.<sup>22</sup>





#### Figure 5. Timeline of Outcome Reporting

### Adherence to Prescribed Home Rehabilitation Program

Ten studies reported on long-term adherence outcomes.<sup>18-27</sup> Adherence to the prescribed home rehabilitation program was measured in multiple ways. Only 2 studies employed validated adherence scales; specifically, Ben-Ami et al used the Baecke PA questionnaire,<sup>19</sup> and Bennell et al 2020 used the Exercise Adherence Rating Scale.<sup>20</sup> An additional 6 studies reported adherence using unvalidated numeric rating scales (ranging from 5 to 11 points), though the specific prompt varied (Table 3).<sup>20-25</sup> Six studies assessed self-reported adherence through variations in percent completion of the prescribed home rehabilitation program or physical activity.<sup>18,20,22-25</sup> One study reported the proportion of adherent participants per study arm,<sup>26</sup> and 1 study reported the number of weeks participants reported being adherent after completion of the index rehabilitation program.<sup>27</sup> Adherence was measured at time points ranging from 3 months to 5 years after completion of the index rehabilitation program. Six studies measured adherence at only 1 relevant time point (ranging from 3 to 24 months after the end of the index rehabilitation program).<sup>18-21,23,24</sup>

Next, we report findings for adherence outcomes across studies that evaluated the effect of concurrent and then sequentially delivered adjunct interventions.

#### Concurrently Delivered Adjunct Adherence Interventions (N = 6)

Six studies evaluated the effect of concurrently delivered adjunct interventions reported on adherence to prescribed home rehabilitation programs.<sup>18,19,24-27</sup> Overall, there was no evidence of benefit with concurrently delivered adjunct interventions at 3 to 6 months (SMD range = 0.05– 0.06) or 9 months and longer (SMD range = 0.06–0.20) among those studies with continuous outcome measures (Figures 6, 7, 8). The 1 low-ROB study by Bennell et al (2017) evaluated the concurrent delivery of 6 telephone-delivered coaching sessions with up to 6 additional sessions



Кł

delivered after index rehab.<sup>25</sup> Authors found no significant difference in adherence between intervention and comparator at 6 months post-rehab or 12 months as measured by self-rated adherence by NRS or percent prescribed home exercises completed. Lonsdale et al, the largest (albeit a high ROB) study with 207 participants with chronic LBP, found no effect of communication skills training for physical therapists on adherence at 3 months.<sup>24</sup> Finally, another serious-ROB study by Ben-Ami et al reported a mean difference of 0.7 (95% CI [0.07, 1.3]) on the validated Baecke Physical Activity Questionnaire (range = 1–5; higher = greater activity level) from baseline (pre-index rehab program) to 12 months post-baseline for patients with chronic LBP who had received a 3-month enhance transtheoretical model intervention versus usual care PT.<sup>19</sup> However, when the mean difference between arms at 9 months post-index rehabilitation was considered, there was no significant treatment effect (SMD = 0.20, 95% CI [-0.09, 0.48]; Figure 7).

Pisters et al, a study with some concerns for ROB, reported adherence as a dichotomous outcome (*ie*, being adherent to prescribed rehabilitation or not).<sup>26</sup> Authors evaluated 18 sessions of a behavioral rehabilitation program followed by 7 booster sessions compared to 18 sessions of usual PT care among 200 patients with hip/knee OA and reported a greater odds of participants being adherent to prescribed rehabilitation in the intervention group compared with usual care at 13 months post-index rehabilitation (OR = 3.0, 95% CI [1.5, 6.0]). The other concurrent studies not included in the forest plot were a high ROB studies.<sup>18,28</sup> One that reported similar means across study arms for adherence at 3 months, 11 months, and 5 years.<sup>27</sup> One reported no evidence of significant benefit at 9 months (Table 3).<sup>18</sup>

### Sequentially Delivered Adjunct Adherence Interventions (N = 4)

Four studies (2 low, 1 some concerns, and 1 high ROB) with sequentially delivered adherence interventions reported adherence outcomes.<sup>20-23</sup> Overall, one low ROB study reported beneficial effects. Bennell et al, evaluated the effect of 24 weeks of automated, semi-interactive text messages delivered after index rehabilitation on adherence as measured by the validated Exercise Adherence Rating Scale (score range = 0–24; higher = better adherence) among 110 patients with knee OA.<sup>20</sup> They found higher rates of adherence at 6 months post-index rehabilitation with a mean difference of 3.1 (95% CI [0.8, 5.5]) and a mean difference of 0.6 (95% CI [0.2, 1.0]) additional days that home rehabilitation was completed in the last week. This translated to an SMD of 0.42 (95% CI [0.02, 0.82]). The other low ROB study, Bennell et al (2014), evaluated the sequential delivery of 2 PT booster sessions on 74 participants with knee OA over 24 weeks after index rehabilitation and found no significant effect on adherence (SMD = 0.18, 95% CI [-0.28, 0.63]).<sup>23</sup>

Of the other 2 studies with sequentially delivered interventions, 1 had some concerns for ROB,<sup>22</sup> and 1 had high ROB.<sup>21</sup> They reported no evidence of significant benefit at 24 months (Table 3).<sup>21</sup>

Study Risk of Bias	Time After End of Rehabilitation Program	Outcome
Concurrent		
Bennell, 2017 <sup>25</sup>	6 months	Home rehabilitation adherence (percentage of prescribed sessions completed) Intervention mean = 42% (95% CI [34, 50])
LOW ROD		Comparator mean = $39\%$ (95% CI [31, 48])
		Mean difference = 2% (95% CI [-10%, 14%])
		Self-rated home rehabilitation adherence into NRS
		Intervention mean = 4.1 (95% CI [3.3, 4.9])
		Comparator mean = 3.9 (95% CI [3.1, 4.7])
		Mean difference = 0.2 (95% CI [-0.8, 1.3])
	12 months	Home rehabilitation adherence (percentage of prescribed sessions completed)
		Intervention mean = 39% (95% CI [31, 46])
		Comparator mean = 37% (95% CI [28, 46])
		Mean difference = 1% (95% CI [-10, 12])
		Self-rated home rehabilitation adherence into NRS
		Intervention mean = 3.8 (95% CI [3.1, 4.6])
		Comparator mean = 3.6 (95% CI [2.9, 4.4])
		Mean difference = 0.2 (95% CI [-0.8, 1.2])
Pisters, 2010 <sup>26</sup>	13 months	Self-rated questionnaire - adherence to rehabilitation
Some concerns		Intervention: 46/79
		Comparator: 24/72
		OR = 3.0 (95% CI [1.5, 6.0])
		Self-rated questionnaire - adherence to activities
		Intervention = 32/71
		Control = 17/54
		OR = 1.8 (95% CI [0.8, 3.8])
Brosseau, 2012 <sup>18</sup>	9 months	Number of attended walking sessions/ number of prescribed sessions
High ROB		Intervention mean $= 0.445$ (OD $= 0.400$ )
		Compared a = 0.445 (SD = 0.433)
		Comparator mean = $0.440$ (SD = $0.441$ )
		wean unerence = $NR$ , p-value = 0.989

### Table 3. Adherence to Prescribed Home Rehabilitation Program

Study Risk of Bias	Time After End of Rehabilitation Program	Outcome
Ben-Ami, 2017 <sup>19</sup>	Estimated at 9 months	Baecke Physical Activity Questionnaire (BPAQ)
Serious ROB		Intervention mean = 0.8 (95% CI [0.4, 1.3])
		Comparator mean = 0.1 (95% CI [-0.3, 0.6])
		Mean difference = 0.7 (95% CI [0.07, 1.3])
Friedrich, 1998 <sup>27</sup>	3 months	Treatment compliance after termination of the treatment program in weeks
Companion: Eriedrich 2005 <sup>28</sup>		Intervention mean = 10.6 (SD = 2.7)
Theunch 2000		Comparator mean = $10.3$ (SD = $2.9$ )
High ROB		Mean difference = NR
·	11 months	Treatment compliance after termination of the treatment program in weeks
		Intervention mean = 28.8 (SD = 18.5)
		Comparator mean = $30.1$ (SD = $20.5$ )
		Mean difference = NR
	5 years	Years that rehabilitation program was performed regularly
		Intervention mean = $3.5$ (SD = $2.0$ )
		Comparator mean = $4.4$ (SD = $2.2$ )
		Mean difference = NR
Lonsdale, 2017 <sup>24</sup> High ROB	3 months	Specific adherence to back rehabilitation at home (percentage of prescribed sessions completed per week)
-		Mean difference = 2.57 (95% CI [-6.05, 11.19])
		Home based adherence (self-reported overall adherence to their physiotherapists' recommendations using 7-point rating scales)
		Mean difference = 0.35 (95% CI [-0.13, 0.83])
Sequential		
Bennell, 2014 <sup>23</sup>	6 months	Self-reported adherence to home rehabilitation
Low ROB		Intervention mean = 6.1 (SD = 3.2)
		Comparator mean = 5.5 (SD = 3.5)
		Mean difference = 0.6, <i>p</i> -value > 0.05
		Home rehabilitation sessions completed
		Intervention mean = 56% (SD = 34)
		Comparator mean = 51% (SD = 37)
		Mean difference = NR, <i>p</i> -value > 0.05



Study Risk of Bias	Time After End of Rehabilitation Program	Outcome
Bennell, 2020 <sup>20</sup>	6 months	Exercise Adherence Rating Scale (EARS)
Low ROB		Intervention mean = 16.3 (SD = 6.6)
		Comparator mean = 13.4 (SD = 7.1)
		Mean difference = 3.1 (95% CI [0.8, 5.5])
		Number of days home rehabilitation completed in the past week
		SMS Intervention mean = 1.9 (SD = 1.2)
		Comparator mean = 1.3 (SD = 1.2)
		Mean difference = 0.6 (95% CI [0.2, 1.0])
Quicke, 2017 <sup>22</sup>	3 months	"Been doing exercises as often as advised" (n (%))
Some concerns about ROB		Targeted rehabilitation adherence arm: Strongly agree = 22 (17%); Agree = 72 (57%); Not sure = 14 (11%); Disagree = 17 (13%); Strongly disagree = 2 (2%)
		Usual care arm: Strongly agree = 15 (11%); Agree = 48 (36%); Not sure = 23 (17%); Disagree = 36 (27%); Strongly disagree = 11 (8%)
	12 months	"Been doing exercises as often as advised" (n (%))
		Targeted rehabilitation adherence arm: Strongly agree = 18 (15%); Agree = 42 (36%); Not sure = 22 (19%); Disagree = 25 (21%); Strongly disagree = 10 (9%)
		Usual care arm: Strongly agree = 12 (9%); Agree = 50 (37%); Not sure = 17 (13%); Disagree = 42 (31%); Strongly disagree = 13 (10%)
Baker, 2020 <sup>21</sup> High ROB	24 months	"How would you rate your level of adherence to the prescribed BOOST exercise program over the last 3 months?"
		1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 2 - 2 - 2 - (0 - 0) - (0 - 1 - 2 - 1 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2
		Intervention mean = $3.63$ (95% CI [2.70, 4.56])
		Control mean = $4.01 (95\% \text{ CI} [3.03, 4.99])$
		Mean difference = $-0.38 (95\% \text{ Cr}[-1.67, 0.91])$

Abbreviations. NR=not reported; NRS=numeric rating scale; OR=odds ratio; ROB=risk of bias; SD=standard deviation.

#### Figure 6. Forest Plot of Adherence Outcomes at 3 to 6 Months

			Adjunct Intervention		ntion	Control									
Study	Condition	Delivery	Intervention	ROB	Mean	SD	Ν	Mean	SD	Ν				SMD [95%	CI]
Bennell 2017	Knee OA	Concurrent	Telephone coaching	Low	4.1	3.4	70	3.9	3.3	66	·	•	4	0.06 [-0.28, 0.	40]
Lonsdale 2017	Chronic LBP	Concurrent	PT communication training	High	5.0	2.0	108	4.9	1.9	99		<b>.</b>		0.05 [-0.23, 0.	32]
Bennell 2014	Knee OA	Sequential	Booster sessions	Low	6.1	3.2	38	5.5	3.5	36		-		0.18 [-0.28, 0.	63]
Benne <b>ll</b> 2020	Knee OA	Sequential	One-way text messages	Low	16.3	6.6	48	13.4	7.1	49			-	0.42 [ 0.02, 0.	82]
											Favors Control		Fav Interven	rors	
											-0.50 0.	.00	0.50	1.00	
												SMD			

*Notes.* Bennell 2017 outcomes reported at 6 months after end of rehabilitation; Lonsdale 2017 outcomes reported at 3 months after end of rehabilitation; Bennell 2014 outcomes reported at 6 months after end of rehabilitation; Bennell 2020 outcomes reported at 6 months after end of rehabilitation.

#### Figure 7. Forest Plot of Adherence Outcomes at 9+ Months

			Adjunct		In	terver	ntion	Control							
Study	Condition	Delivery	Intervention	ROB	Mean	SD	Ν	Mean	SD	Ν			SMD [95% CI]		
Bennell 2017	Knee OA	Concurrent	Telephone coaching	Low	3.8	3.2	70	3.6	3.1	66			0.06 [-0.27, 0.40]		
Ben-Ami 2017	Chronic LBP	Concurrent	TTM counseling	Serious	2.6	2.6	94	2.1	2.5	95	-	<b>⊢</b> ⊸	0.20 [-0.09, 0.48]		
Baker 2020	Hip OA	Sequential	Telephone <sup>a</sup> counseling	High	3.6	3.2	45	4.0	3.3	44	<b></b>	_	-0.12 [-0.53, 0.30]		
											Favors Control	F	avors		
											-0.50 0.00	0.50	1.00		
									SMD						

*Notes*. Bennell 2017 outcomes reported at 12 months after end of rehabilitation; Ben-Ami 2017 outcomes reported at approximately 9 months after end of rehabilitation; Baker 2020 outcomes reported at 24 months after end of rehabilitation. <sup>a</sup> Computer-based telephone counseling.
# Figure 8. Forest Plot of Adherence Outcomes as Percent of Prescribed Rehabiliation



*Notes.* Lonsdale 2017 outcomes reported at 3 months after end of rehabilitation; Bennell 2014 outcomes reported at 6 months after end of rehabilitation; Bennell 2020 outcomes reported at 6 months after end of rehabilitation. <sup>a</sup> Bennell 2017 outcomes reported at 12 months after end of rehabilitation.

# **Physical Function**

All but 1<sup>18</sup> of the 10 included studies reported on function as an outcome to evaluate intervention impact. Across the studies, function was assessed by several established self-reported outcome measures including the Western Ontario and McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis Index (WOMAC)—a well-validated, self-report measure for individuals with OA with a functional status subscale,<sup>21-23,25</sup> the Roland-Morris Disability Questionnaire for back pain,<sup>19,24</sup> the Knee and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS) functional subscale,<sup>20</sup> and the low back outcome score.<sup>27</sup> Two studies reported both self-reported function and objective measures of function including several indicators of strength and flexibility in key lower extremity muscle groups.<sup>21,27</sup> As noted above for adherence outcomes, function was assessed at a range of time points spanning from 3 months to 5 years from the end of the index rehabilitation program. Functional status was considered the primary outcome or co-primary outcome in 4 studies.<sup>19,22,23,25</sup>

For functional outcomes, we considered the difference in change from end of index to follow-up between study arms. For *concurrently* delivered adherence adjunct interventions, function was typically reported as baseline (pre-index rehabilitation) to follow-up; thus, we calculated the mean difference in change from end of rehabilitation to follow-up from reported data when possible.

# Concurrently Delivered Adjunct Adherence Interventions (N = 5)

Among the 5 concurrently delivered adherence adjunct interventions<sup>19,24-27</sup> that measured function as an outcome, 4 were rated to have high or serious ROB.<sup>19,24,25,27</sup> Pisters et al<sup>26</sup> was rated to have some concerns for ROB and reported functional status via the indirect assessment of meeting physical activity recommendations among participants with hip or knee OA who received usual physiotherapy with or without an adjunct intervention informed by operant conditioning and self-regulation principles. They reported a higher proportion of individuals in

the intervention arm achieved rehabilitation goals versus the comparator arm at both end of index rehabilitation (OR = 5.3, 95% CI [1.9, 14.8]) and 12 months after end of index rehabilitation (OR= 2.9, 95% CI [1.2, 6.7]). Of the 4 high/serious ROB studies, only 1 reported a positive intervention effect. Ben-Ami et al found a significant intervention benefit for difference in change of functional status as measured by the Roland-Morris Disability Questionnaire from preindex rehabilitation program to 9 months post-index rehabilitation (change in mean difference = 2.7, 95% CI [0.9, 4.5]).<sup>19</sup> This falls below the estimated clinically meaningful difference of 3–5point threshold.<sup>29</sup> Finally, 2 papers from Friedrich et al report on a single high ROB study that examined the addition of a motivational counseling intervention to a submaximal graded rehabilitation program and found better performance on the fingertip-to-floor distance test at 3 months after the end of intervention in the motivation adjunct group that was not sustained at 11 months.<sup>27,28</sup> See Table 4 for additional details. However, when considering mean change from end of index rehabilitation to follow-up as measured by SMD, there was no evidence of benefit among concurrently delivered adjunct interventions at 3-6 months (SMD range = -0.12 - -0.02). At 9 months or longer, SMDs were generally larger, but were more inconsistent than at earlier timepoints and were nonsignificant (SMD range = -0.23-0.20) (Figures 9 and 10).

# Sequentially Delivered Adjunct Adherence Interventions (N = 4)

Four studies delivered adjunct adherence interventions after the end of the index rehabilitation program and also measured functional outcomes.<sup>20-23</sup> By design, sequentially delivered trials evaluated effect as a mean difference from intervention baseline (*ie*, end of index rehabilitation) to follow-up time point. There was no evidence of significant treatment effect at 3 to 6 months (SMD range = -0.04–0.02) across 2 low ROB studies and one with some concerns (Figure 9). Similarly, there was no evidence of significant treatment effect at 9 months or longer (SMDs = -0.04 and 0.10) in 1 high ROB study and 1 study with some concerns for ROB (Figure 10). Of note, there was no evidence of intervention effect on function at 6 months for the 1 low ROB study by Bennell et al that demonstrated improved adherence among participants receiving 24 weeks of sequentially delivered behavior change text messages.<sup>20</sup>

Study Risk of Bias	Time After End of Rehabilitation Program	Outcome
Concurrent		
Bennell, 2017 <sup>25</sup>	6 months	Western Ontario and McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis Index (function subscale)
Low ROB		
		Intervention mean at end of rehabilitation = 52.6 (SD = 16.3)
		Comparator mean at the end of rehabilitation = 48.8 (SD = 16.4)
		Intervention mean = 13.3 (SD = 10.5)
		Comparator mean = 17.4 (SD = 11.9)
		Mean difference = 3.9 (95% CI [-0.3, 8.2])ª
		SMD (change from end of treatment) = -0.05 (95% CI [0.39, 0.28])

# **Table 4. Physical Function Results**



Study Risk of Bias	Time After End of Rehabilitation Program	Outcome
	12 months	Western Ontario and McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis Index (function subscale)
		Intervention mean at end of rehabilitation = 52.6 (SD = 16.3)
		Comparator mean at the end of rehabilitation = 48.8 (SD = 16.4)
		Intervention mean = 12.2 (SD = 10.5)
		Comparator mean = 16.4 (SD = 11.7)
		Mean difference = 3.9 (95% CI [-1.0, 8.7]) <sup>a</sup> SMD (change from end of treatment) = -0.06 (95% CI
		[-0.41, 0.28])
Pisters, 2010 <sup>26</sup>	13 months	Meeting recommendations for physical activity Intervention = 76/87
Some concerns		Comparator = 67/92
about ROB		OR = 2.9 (95% CI [1.2 to 6.7])
Ben-Ami, 2017 <sup>19</sup>	Estimated at 9 months	Roland-Morris Disability Questionnaire
Serious ROB		Intervention change in mean from baseline = 6.7 (95% CI [5.4, 8.0])
		Comparator change in mean from baseline = 4.0 (95% CI [2.7 to 5.2])
		Change in mean difference = 2.7 (95% CI [0.9, 4.5])
		SMD (change from end of treatment) = 0.20 (95% CI [-0.09, 0.49])
Friedrich, 1998 <sup>27</sup>	3 months	Low back outcome score $r = 57.2$ (SD = 15.7)
Companion.		Comparator mean = $51.0$ (SD = $15.7$ )
Friedrich 2005 <sup>28</sup>		Mean difference = NR
High ROB		Fingertip to floor distance
		Intervention mean = 8.6 (SD = 18.6)
		Comparator mean = 16.6 (SD = 18.4)
		Mean difference = NR, <i>p</i> -value = 0.01
		SMD (change from end of treatment) = -0.12 (95% CI [-0.55, 0.30])
	11 months	Fingertip to floor distance
		Intervention mean = $4.3 (SD = 6.1)$
		Comparator mean = 10.1 (SD = 13.0) Mean difference = NR, <i>p</i> -value = 0.052
		Low back outcome score
		Intervention mean = $58.9$ (SD = $12.6$ )
		Comparator mean = $50.9$ (SD = $18.7$ )



Study Risk of Bias	Time After End of Rehabilitation Program	Outcome
		Mean difference = NR
		SMD (change from end of treatment) = -0.23 (95% CI [-0.70, 0.24])
	5 years	Disability
		Intervention mean = NR
		Comparator mean = NR
		Mean difference = NR
		Intervention arm showed greater improvement in disability vs control between 12 months and 5 years ( <i>p</i> -value = 0.003)
Lonsdale 2017 <sup>24</sup>	3 months	Roland-Morris Disability Questionnaire
		Intervention mean = NR
High ROB		Comparator mean = NR
		Difference in change from baseline intervention vs Comparator = 0.09 (95% CI [-1.43, 1.6])
		SMD (change from end of treatment) = -0.02 (95% CI [-0.29, 0.25])
Sequential		
Bennell, 2014 <sup>23</sup> Sequential	6 months	Western Ontario McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis Index (function subscale)
		Intervention mean = 20.2 (SD = 12.4)
Low ROB		Comparator mean = 21 (SD = 12.3)
		Mean difference = -0.3 (95% CI [-0.4, 3.5]) <sup>o</sup>
		SMD (change from end of treatment) = -0.02 (95% CI [-0.48, 0.43])
Bennell, 2020 <sup>20</sup> Sequential	6 months	Function Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS) function subscale
		Intervention mean = 72.4 (SD = 17.6)
Low ROB		Comparator mean = 70 (SD = 21.1)
		Mean difference = -0.2 (95% CI [-6.7, 6.3]) <sup>b</sup>
		SMD (change from end of treatment) = -0.04 (95% CI [-0.44, 0.36])
Quicke, 2020 <sup>22</sup>	3 months	Western Ontario McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis
Sequential		Index (function subscale)
		Intervention mean = $22.7$ (SD = $13.3$ )
Some concerns		Comparator mean = $22.3 (SD = 13.3)$
about ROB		Mean difference = $-0.7 (95\% \text{ CI} [-3.3, 1.9])^{\circ}$
		SMD (change from end of treatment) = 0.02 (95% CI [-0.19, 0.24])
	12 months	Western Ontario McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis Index (function subscale)



₩ 4

Study Risk of Bias	Time After End of Rehabilitation Program	Outcome
		Intervention mean = 23 (SD = 14.4)
		Comparator mean = 21.5 (SD = 14.4)
		Mean difference = 0.4 (95% CI [-2.6, 3.3]) <sup>a</sup>
		SMD (change from end of treatment): 0.10 (95% CI [-0.11, 0.31])
Baker, 2020 <sup>21</sup> Sequential	24 months	Western Ontario McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis Index function subscale
		Intervention mean = 12.74 (95% CI [9.78, 15.69])
High ROB		Comparator mean = 13.09 (95% CI [9.76, 16.43])
-		Mean difference = -0.46 (95% CI [-4.84, 3.93]) <sup>b</sup>
		SMD (change from end of treatment) = -0.04 (95% CI [-0.46, 0.37])
		Quad strength
		$\sqrt{2}$
		Comparator mean = 0.32 (95%  CI  [0.27, 0.34])
		$M_{000} \text{ difference} = 0.02 (95\% \text{ CI} [0.26, 0.35])$
		(95%  Ci[-0.01, 0.05])
		Hamstring strength
		Intervention mean = $0.15 (95\% \text{ CL} [0.13, 0.17])$
		Comparator mean = $0.16$ (95% CI [0.14, 0.18])
		Mean difference = $0.00 (95\% \text{ CL}[-0.02, 0.02])$
		Timed up and go test (seconds)
		Intervention mean = 7.45 (95% CI [6.91, 8.00])
		Comparator mean = 7.71 (95% CI [6.71, 8.71])
		Mean difference = -0.19 (95% CI [-1.13, 0.75])
		Repeated chair stands (5 times, seconds)
		Intervention mean = 13.43 (95% CI [12.40, 14.45])
		Comparator mean = 13.40 (95% CI [12.50, 14.31])
		Mean difference = -0.12 (95% CI [-1.55, 1.31])
		Stair climb (seconds)
		Intervention mean = 13.72 (95% CI [12.14, 15.30])
		Comparator mean = 13.53 (95% CI [11.11, 15.94])
		Mean difference = 0.31 (95% CI [-1.81, 2.43])

*Notes*. <sup>a</sup> Change from pre-rehabilitation baseline to follow-up. <sup>b</sup> Change from post-rehabilitation baseline to follow-up. *Abbreviations*. NR=not reported; NRS=numeric rating scale; OR=odds ratio; ROB=risk of bias; SD=standard deviation; SMD=standardized mean difference.

### Figure 9. Forest Plot of Physical Function Outcomes at 3 to 6 Months

			Adjunct		Intervention		Co	ontrol		
Study	Condition	Delivery	Intervention	ROB	Mean SD N	Mea	n SD	Ν		SMD [95% CI]
Bennell 2017	Knee OA	Concurrent	Telephone coaching	Low	-1.4 10.6 70	-0.	8 11.8	66	·•	-0.05 [-0.39, 0.28]
Friedrich 1998	Chronic LBP	Concurrent	Motivation program	High	-4.6 16.0 43	-2.	6 16.1	41	·•	-0.12 [-0.55, 0.30]
Lonsdale 2017	Chronic LBP	Concurrent	PT communication training	High	-1.4 6.4 108	-1.3	3 6.6	99	<b></b> 4	-0.02 [-0.29, 0.25]
Bennell 2014	Knee OA	Sequential	Booster sessions	Low	2.1 9.1 38	2.	3 7.3	36	·	-0.02 [-0.48, 0.43]
Bennell 2020	Knee OA	Sequential	One-way text messages	Low	-0.2 16.7 48	0.	6 20.9	49	۱۱	-0.04 [-0.44, 0.36]
Quicke 2017	Knee OA	Sequential	Adherence toolkit/counseling	Some concerns	1.2 13.3 163	0.	9 13.7	175	<b>⊢</b> - <b>₽</b> 1	0.02 [-0.19, 0.24]
								Fa Int -1.00	vors Favoi ervention Contri -0.50 0.00 (	rs ol D.50
									SMD	

*Notes.* Bennell 2017 outcomes reported at 6 months after end of rehabilitation; Friedrich 1998 outcomes reported at 3 months after end of rehabilitation; Lonsdale 2017 outcomes reported at 3 months after end of rehabilitation; Bennell 2014 outcomes reported at 6 months after end of rehabilitation; Bennell 2020 outcomes reported at 6 months after end of rehabilitation; Bennell 2020 outcomes reported at 6 months after end of rehabilitation; Bennell 2020 outcomes reported at 6 months after end of rehabilitation; Bennell 2020 outcomes reported at 6 months after end of rehabilitation; Bennell 2020 outcomes reported at 6 months after end of rehabilitation; Bennell 2020 outcomes reported at 6 months after end of rehabilitation; Bennell 2020 outcomes reported at 6 months after end of rehabilitation; Bennell 2020 outcomes reported at 6 months after end of rehabilitation; Bennell 2020 outcomes reported at 6 months after end of rehabilitation; Bennell 2020 outcomes reported at 6 months after end of rehabilitation; Bennell 2020 outcomes reported at 6 months after end of rehabilitation; Bennell 2020 outcomes reported at 6 months after end of rehabilitation; Bennell 2020 outcomes reported at 6 months after end of rehabilitation; Bennell 2020 outcomes reported at 6 months after end of rehabilitation; Bennell 2020 outcomes reported at 6 months after end of rehabilitation; Bennell 2020 outcomes reported at 6 months after end of rehabilitation; Bennell 2020 outcomes reported at 6 months after end of rehabilitation; Bennell 2020 outcomes reported at 6 months after end of rehabilitation; Bennell 2020 outcomes reported at 6 months after end of rehabilitation; Bennell 2020 outcomes reported at 6 months after end of rehabilitation; Bennell 2020 outcomes reported at 6 months after end of rehabilitation; Bennell 2020 outcomes reported at 6 months after end 0 months a

# Figure 10. Forest Plot of Physical Function Outcomes at 9 Months

			Adjunct		Interv	ventio	on		Co	ntrol				
Study	Condition	Delivery	Intervention	ROB	Mean S	D	Ν	Mean	SD	Ν				SMD [95% CI]
Bennell 2017	Knee OA	Concurrent	Telephone coaching	Low	-2.5 10	.6 6	66	-1.8 1	1.7	62		-		-0.06 [-0.41, 0.28]
Friedrich 1998	Chronic LBP	Concurrent	Motivation program	High	-6.3 14	.8 3	34	-2.5 1	7.7	35	ı	-		-0.23 [-0.70, 0.24]
Ben-Ami 2017	Chronic LBP	Concurrent	TTM counseling	Serious	1.8 7	.1 9	94	0.4	6.8	95		-	4	0.20 [-0.09, 0.49]
Quicke 2017	Knee OA	Sequential	Adherence toolkit/counseling	Some concerns	1.5 13	.8 16	63	0.1 1	4.3	175		-	∎'	0.10 [-0.11, 0.31]
Baker 2020	Hip OA	Sequential	Telephone <sup>a</sup> counseling	ı High	-0.5 10	.2 4	15	0.0 1	0.1	44	·			-0.04 [-0.46, 0.37]
										Favo Inter -1.00	ors vention -0.50	0.0	Favors Control 0 0.50	
											SI	ИD		

*Notes.* Bennell 2017 outcomes reported at 12 months after end of rehabilitation; Friedrich 1998 outcomes reported at 11 months after end of rehabilitation; Ben-Ami 2017 outcomes reported approximately 9 months after end of rehabilitation; Quicke 2017 outcomes reported at 12 months after end of rehabilitation; Baker 2020 outcomes reported at 24 months after end of rehabilitation. <sup>a</sup> Computer-based telephone counseling.

#### Self-Efficacy

Five studies reported on self-efficacy for exercise or related constructs as an intermediate outcome of interest due to its role as an important determinant of long-term adherence. Two of the 4 studies measuring self-efficacy were delivered concurrently<sup>18,24</sup> and 2 were delivered sequentially.<sup>20,22</sup> One additional study with a concurrent intervention<sup>27</sup> reported on motivation, a distinct but related construct that, for the purpose of this review, is reported here. In all 5 studies, self-efficacy was reported as a secondary outcome (Table 5).

# Concurrently Delivered Adjunct Adherence Interventions (N = 3)

All 3 concurrent studies reporting self-efficacy-related constructs had high ROB. The Lonsdale<sup>24</sup> study examined 2 subdomains: "autonomous motivation to follow recommendations" (subdomain of the Treatment Self-Regulation Questionnaire) and "controlled motivation to follow recommendations" (subdomain of the Treatment Self-Regulation Questionnaire) among patients with chronic LBP and found no significant intervention effect. The Friedrich<sup>27</sup> study reported motivation towards exercise therapy via selected questions from a Psychotherapy Motivation Questionnaire and found no significant difference.

The third concurrent<sup>18</sup> study examined the "confidence about doing things" and "coping with symptoms" subdomains of the Stanford Questionnaire on Chronic Disease among patients with knee OA and reported a significantly improved "confidence about doing things" at 6 months post-index rehabilitation in the intervention group (a behavioral adjunct intervention delivered concurrently to a supervised walking intervention) versus walking intervention alone (p = 0.041).

# Sequentially Delivered Adjunct Adherence Interventions (N = 2)

Both sequential studies (1 with some concerns for ROB<sup>22</sup> and 1 low ROB<sup>20</sup>) utilized validated measures for self-efficacy: Self-Efficacy for Exercise Scale (SEE), which they used to measure a participant's "confidence in ability to exercise,"<sup>22</sup> and the Arthritis Self-Efficacy Scale (ASES), which breaks down self-efficacy as it relates to "pain," "function," and "other."<sup>20</sup> Bennell et al (2020) found no evidence of treatment effect on any of the subdomains at 24 weeks after index rehab program. Quicke et al<sup>22</sup> reported no statistically significant change within or between treatment arms.

Study Risk of Bias	Time After End of Rehabilitation Program	Outcome
Concurrent		
Brosseau, 2012 <sup>18</sup>	6 months	Stanford questionnaire on chronic disease; coping with symptoms subdomain
High ROB		
-		Intervention mean = 1.388 (SD = 0.856)
		Comparator mean = 1.064 (SD = 0.952)
		<i>p</i> -value = 0.286
	6 months	Stanford questionnaire on chronic disease; confidence about doing things subdomain
		Intervention mean = 7.546 (SD = 1.848)
		Comparator mean = 7.690 (SD = 1.920) <i>p</i> -value = 0.041
Friedrich, 1998 <sup>27</sup>	Estimated at 9 months	Attitude towards exercise therapy
Companion:		Intervention mean = 6.3 (SD = 1.6)
Friedrich 2005 <sup>28</sup>		Comparator mean = 5.6 (SD = 2.1)
High ROB		

# Table 5. Self-efficacy Results



Study Risk of Bias	Time After End of Rehabilitation Program	Outcome
Lonsdale 2017 <sup>24</sup>	3 months	Autonomous motivation to follow recommendations
High ROB		Mean difference = -0.10 (95% CI [-0.35, 0.16]), <i>p</i> -value = 0.41
	3 months	Controlled motivation to follow recommendations
		Mean difference = -0.15 (95% CI [-0.69, 0.38]), <i>p</i> -value = 0.57
Sequential		
Bennell, 2020 <sup>20</sup> Sequential	6 months	Arthritis Self-Efficacy Scale (ASES)
		Self-efficacy: pain
Low ROB		Intervention mean = $6.6$ (SD = $2.2$ )
		Comparator mean = 6.4 (SD = 2.1)
		Difference in change from baseline between groups = -0.4 (95% [CI -1.2, 0.4])
		Self-efficacy: function
		Intervention mean = 8.3 (SD = 1.5)
		Comparator mean = 8.2 (SD = 1.7)
		Difference in change from baseline between groups = 0.1 (95% CI [-0.5, 0.7])
Quicke, 2020 <sup>22</sup> Sequential	3 months	Self-Efficacy for Exercise (SEE)
		Intervention mean = $5.7$ (SD = $2.2$ )
Some concerns		Comparator mean = 5.4 (SD = 2.3)
about ROB		Mean difference = 0.4 (95% CI [0.8, -0.2])

Abbreviations. ROB=risk of bias; SD=standard deviation.

#### **Adverse Events**

Four studies reported adverse events associated with interventions to improve long-term adherence to rehabilitation programs <sup>20,22,23,25</sup> Overall, there was no evidence of increased adverse events among patients receiving adjunct adherence interventions (Table 6).

Bennell et al (2014)<sup>23</sup> determined adverse events by questionnaire at the end of a 24-week adjunct intervention of 2 booster PT sessions after an index rehabilitation program. They reported few adverse events; specifically, 6 participants reported increased knee pain (4 intervention vs 2 control) and 1 participant from the control group reported increased hip pain.

A second study by Bennell et al (2017)<sup>25</sup> collected adverse event reports prospectively through log sheets collected every 3 months for an adjunct telephone coaching intervention delivered concurrently to an index rehabilitation program. They reported that adverse events occurred primarily during intervention delivery and were infrequent during the post-treatment follow-up period. During the treatment phase, 21 of 84 participants from the intervention arm reported 23 adverse events, compared with 21 of 84 participants in the comparator arm reporting 27 adverse events. The most common event was increased knee pain (17 or 26% intervention vs 16 or 23%)

44

comparator). Other adverse events were reported less frequently, including pain in other regions, swelling/inflammation, and increased stiffness. Adverse events were less frequent during the follow-up period from the end of the index intervention to 12 months post-end of index, when 7 intervention participants reported 8 adverse events and 12 comparator participants reported 13 events. Similarly, increased knee pain was most frequent.

A third study by Bennell et al  $(2020)^{20}$  considered adverse events to be "any problem participant believed was caused by advice received and required them to seek treatment or take medication and/or interfered with function for  $\ge 2$  days." They found no difference in overall adverse events between arms (16% sequentially delivered behavioral change text message intervention vs 15% usual care, p = 0.53), for knee pain (9% vs 6%, p = 0.38), or pain in other areas (7% vs 9%, p = 0.48).

Quicke et al<sup>22</sup> reported 2 adverse events in the arms of interest for this review; 1 participant in the comparator arm had a twisted ankle, and 1 in the sequential monitoring intervention arm had a fall while walking. Of note, the authors reported expected soreness and transient increases in pain among 12% of intervention participants and 19% of comparator participants.

Study Risk of Bias	Time After End of Rehabilitation Program	Outcome
Concurrent		
Bennell, 2017 <sup>25</sup>	12 months	Number of adverse events during treatment phase
Low ROB		Total number:
		Intervention = 7 (11%)
		Comparator = 2 (19%)
		Increased knee pain:
		Intervention = 5 (8%)
		Comparator = 9 (15%)
		Pain in other region:
		Intervention = 2 (3%)
		Comparator = 4 (6%)
		Swelling/Inflammation:
		Intervention = 1 (2%)
		Comparator = 0 (0%)
Sequential		
Bennell, 2014 <sup>23</sup>	6 months	Adverse events
Low ROB		Increased knee pain:
		Intervention = 4
		Comparator = 2

# Table 6. Adverse Events Results

Study Risk of Bias	Time After End of Rehabilitation Program	Outcome			
		Increased hip pain:			
		Intervention = 0			
		Comparator = 1			
Bennell, 2020 <sup>20</sup> Sequential	6 months	Any adverse event			
		Intervention = 9 (16%)			
Low ROB		Comparator = 8 (15%)			
		<i>p</i> -value = 0.53			
		Knee pain:			
		Intervention = 5 (9%)			
		Comparator = 3 (6%)			
		<i>p</i> -value = 0.38			
		Pain in other areas:			
		Intervention = 4 (7%)			
		Comparator = 5 (9%)			
		<i>p</i> -value = 0.48			
Quicke, 2020 <sup>22</sup> Sequential	12 months	Adverse events			
		Sprained ankle:			
Some concerns		Intervention = 0			
about ROB		Comparator = 1			
		Fall while walking:			
		Intervention = 1			
		Comparator = 0			

Abbreviations. ROB=risk of bias.

# **Quality of Evidence**

Risk of bias was assessed separately for each study design and outcome type (*ie*, patient reported and objectively measured) using the RoB 2 and the ROBINS-I tools. Overall, only 4 studies were judged to be low ROB. Key sources of bias across study designs and outcomes include deviations from intended intervention, bias in outcome assessment, and missing outcome data. Missing outcome data was a particular issue for studies reporting outcomes at later time points. Four studies were downgraded to high ROB on the missing outcome data domain.<sup>18,21,24,27</sup>

For the 7 individually randomized controlled trials, the ROB (Figure 11) for patient-reported outcomes was judged to be low for 3 studies, some concerns for 1 study, and high for 3 studies.<sup>18,20-23,25,27</sup> Patterns that led to judgments of high ROB and some concerns for ROB (Figure 12) included (1) some concerns about the randomization process; (2) deviations from intended interventions; (3) deviations from adherence to the intervention; (4) missing outcome data; (5) bias in measurements of the outcome; and (6) bias in selection of the reported result.

#### Improving Long-term Adherence to Physical Rehabilitation

Kł

Of the 3 individually randomized controlled trials reporting objective outcomes, 1 was low risk and 2 were high risk.<sup>18,21,27</sup> Patterns that led to judgments of high ROB (Figure 13 and 14) included: (1) some concerns about the randomization process; (2) deviations from intended interventions; (3) some concerns about deviations from adherence to the intervention; (4) missing outcome data; (5) bias in measurements of the outcome; and (6) bias in selection of the reported result.

Of the 2 cluster-randomized controlled trials, 1 was judged to have some concerns and 1 was judged as high ROB.<sup>24,26</sup> Patterns that led to judgments of high ROB and some concerns for ROB (Figure 15 and 16) included: (1) missing outcome data; (2) bias in measurements of the outcome; and (3) some concerns for bias in selection of the reported result.

The 1 non-randomized study evaluated with the ROBINS-I tool was assessed to have serious risk of bias.<sup>19</sup> Patterns that led to judgments of high ROB and some concerns for ROB included: (1) bias due to confounding; (2) bias due to deviations from intended interventions; (3) moderate risk of bias due to measurement of outcomes; and (4) bias in selection of reported results (Figure 17).

M

# Figure 11. Risk of Bias Ratings Across Randomized Trials: Patient-reported Outcomes



#### Figure 12. Risk of Bias Ratings by Bias Domain: Patient-reported Outcomes



Figure 13. Risk of Bias Ratings Across Randomized Trials: Objective Outcomes



#### Figure 14. Risk of Bias Ratings by Bias Domain: Objective Outcomes



Figure 15. Risk of Bias Ratings for Cluster-randomized Trials



#### Figure 16. Risk of Bias Ratings by Bias Domain: Objective Outcomes (Clusterrandomized Trials)



### Figure 17. Risk of Bias Ratings for Non-randomized Trials

		Risk of bias domains							
		D1	D2	D3	D4	D5	D6	D7	Overall
Study	Ben-Ami et al., 2017	X	+	+	X	+	-	+	X
		Domains	Jud	gement					
		D2: Bias due to selection of participants.							Serious
		D3: Bias in classification of interventions.							Moderate
		D5: Bias due to missing data. + Low							Low
		D6: Blas in measurement of outcomes. D7: Blas in selection of the reported result.							

# DISCUSSION

We evaluated the impact of physical rehabilitation programs supplemented with 1 or more adjunct components designed to promote long-term adherence to recommended rehabilitation programs. Specifically, we evaluated the effect of these interventions on self-efficacy for exercise, adherence to recommended home rehabilitation program, and function at  $\geq$  3 months after completing the index rehabilitation program among adults with hip/knee OA or LBP. Our review is novel; we focus on sustained adherence to physical rehabilitation programs supplemented with adherence-enhancing adjunct components, and we conducted a rigorous analysis of the adjunct components using an established tool, the Behavior Change Technique Taxonomy (v1).<sup>10</sup>

# **SUMMARY OF FINDINGS**

We identified 10 studies that included physical rehabilitation programs supplemented by adherence-enhancing adjunct interventions. Six studies were theory informed and included elements of the Transtheoretical Model,<sup>30</sup> Self-Determination Theory,<sup>31</sup> COM-B (capability, opportunity, and motivation),<sup>32</sup> Social Cognitive Theory,<sup>33</sup> and/or Health Change methodology.<sup>34</sup> None explicitly included Veterans or focused on a predominantly Veteran population. We identified behavior change techniques present in adherence-enhancing adjunct interventions and in control interventions. We found limited evidence of benefit across the included interventions on long-term adherence and no evidence for benefit to functional outcomes, though few of the evaluated adherence interventions were theory based or addressed long-term home rehabilitation program adherence as distinct from initiation. Self-efficacy and adverse events were sparsely reported.

The majority of included studies (60%) delivered the adjunct adherence-enhancing intervention concurrently with the index rehabilitation program. Yet, delivering these approaches at the same time may not be an optimal strategy to foster sustained adherence to PT over time. Moreover, some health behavior models suggest that initiation of PT and long-term adherence to PT are conceptually different behaviors that require different skills and psychological processes for support.<sup>35,36</sup> If long-term behavioral maintenance of a home rehabilitation program is the appropriate clinical goal for patients with chronic musculoskeletal conditions, then the conceptual difference between starting and sustaining physical rehabilitation is critical. Designing interventions that disentangle behavioral initiation and maintenance (*ie*, sequential interventions) and target distinct content to support these behaviors may lead to improved results.<sup>7,37-41</sup>

We coded BCTs in adjunct adherence-enhancing interventions and comparator interventions. Comparator interventions generally used BCTs in similar amounts and clusters across studies, which is reflective of typical practice in rehabilitation settings during the initiation of a new home rehabilitation program. Most adjunct adherence-enhancing interventions included few individual BCTs (mean = 5.5), while only 3 included more than 8 BCTs, which prior literature has suggested can enhance behavioral maintenance.<sup>5</sup> Further, many BCT clusters remain largely unexplored. Because behavior change is a complex phenomenon, the lack of complexity in the adjunct interventions as seen by the few BCT clusters explored remains a missed opportunity. Moreover, the majority of interventions from studies in our review included BCTs from clusters already represented in the comparator arm (such as goal setting, feedback and monitoring, and



44

repetition and substitution). While none addressed a rationale for this overlap, only 1 study specifically refers to the BCTs as a part of intervention development. Because initiating a behavior and behavioral maintenance are distinct psychological processes requiring different skills, goals, and processes of change, designing interventions that focus on "just more of the same" BCTs may be insufficient to promote behavioral maintenance. Studies that were theory informed and embraced the distinction between initiation of behaviors and behavioral maintenance (such as Bennell et al<sup>20</sup> and Ben-Ami et al<sup>19</sup>) tended to include more BCTs in the adjunct adherence-enhancing interventions and demonstrated BCTs across a broader range of clusters compared to studies that did not address this distinction.

Adherence was generally reported using non-validated self-report measures. Three studies had evidence of a positive effect on our primary outcome of long-term adherence to recommended home rehabilitation programs across end points within included studies. Of these 3 positive studies, 1 was a low-ROB study by Bennell et al<sup>20</sup> The second study with serious ROB reported a mean difference of 0.7 (95% CI [0.07, 1.3]) on the validated Baecke Physical Activity Questionnaire at 9 months from the end of an enhanced intervention informed by the Transtheoretical Model for patients with LBP. When considering the difference at follow-up between intervention and comparator arms, only the study by Bennell et al<sup>20</sup> had a beneficial effect for both measures of long-term adherence, specifically general self-reported adherence and adherence as a proportion of the prescribed home rehabilitation program completed, with an SMD of 0.42 (95% CI [0.02, 0.82]) and an SMD of 0.50 (95% CI [0.09, 0.90]), respectively.

All but 1 included study<sup>18</sup> measured functional outcomes and all used at least 1 established selfreport measure of function. Two studies also included objective measures of function including several indicators of strength and flexibility in key lower extremity muscle groups.<sup>21,27</sup> Three studies with concurrently delivered adherence adjunct interventions reported a positive effect of the intervention on functional status from pre-index rehabilitation to follow-up, but all had some concerns for ROB or were high ROB. To evaluate sustained functional improvement, we considered the difference in change of function from the end of rehabilitation to follow-up. There was no evidence of intervention effect at any time point, including across both concurrently and sequentially delivered interventions and across the 3 low-ROB studies.

We attempted to identify measures of self-efficacy to carry out home practice of prescribed rehabilitation exercise, but given the limited assessments of this construct, we included related constructs (*eg*, self-efficacy for managing arthritis, motivation to follow [rehabilitation] recommendations, and confidence in doing things [in the context of knee OA]). Of the 5 studies reporting these constructs, only 2 used validated measures specifically related to self-efficacy of any type. One low-ROB study by Bennell et al<sup>20</sup> used the Arthritis Self-Efficacy Scale and found no difference between the sequentially delivered semi-interactive SMS message adjunct intervention and comparator at 24 weeks across any of the 3 subscales (*ie*, pain, function, controlling other symptoms). Of the other 4 studies, only 1 high-ROB study<sup>18</sup> found a significant difference using a non-validated measure assessing confidence-like attitudes. However, we note that self-efficacy is most accurately measured when related to a specific behavior, so these related findings are tangentially relevant. In addition, it is unclear if any of the studies measuring self-efficacy included interventions, it is unknown which BCTs are most effective at promoting self-efficacy.<sup>42,43</sup> Four studies reported adverse events, though none found any

difference in events by receipt of adjunct adherence interventions and most of those reported were minor musculoskeletal discomforts.

# **Certainty of Evidence for Key Outcomes**

To contextualize the overall base of the evidence on key outcomes, we conducted Certainty of Evidence (COE) ratings for adherence and function outcomes. These assessments reflect the degree of confidence we have in our summary findings. For each outcome of interest, we present the COE by outcome (*ie*, adherence, function) and time point (*ie*, 3 to 6 months,  $\geq$  9 months). The non-randomized study and studies reporting categorical outcomes are evaluated separately (Table 7).

We identified low COE that adjunct adherence interventions have no effect on adherence to rehabilitation at 3 to 6 months and 9 months after the end of the rehabilitation period. Adjunct components had no significant effect when studies reported adherence as percent adherent to the prescribed dose of rehabilitation. These were also determined to be very low certainty. We found low certainty and very low certainty that adherence interventions have no effect on physical function at 3 to 9 months and very low certainty at 9 months. Ratings of low and very low COE indicate that the true effect of adjunct interventions on long-term adherence to recommended rehabilitation programs and physical function might be considerably different from the estimated effect we found in the included studies. Future studies may shift these COE ratings.

Intervention	Number of Studies (N)	Findings	Certainty of Evidence (Rationale)
Adherence 3 to 6 months	4 randomized (514 participants)	SMD range = 0.05–0.42 (95% CI range = -0.23–0.82)	<b>Very low certainty of no effect</b> (rated down for serious risk of bias, serious inconsistency, and serious imprecision)
	1 randomized (200 participants)	OR = 2.9 (95% CI [1.2, 6.7])	Very low certainty of increased adherence (rated down for serious risk of bias, serious indirectness, and serious imprecision)
Adherence 9+ months	2 randomized (225 participants)	SMD range = -0.12–0.06 (95% CI range = -0.53–0.40)	Very low certainty of no effect (rated down for serious risk of bias, serious inconsistency, and serious imprecision)
	1 non-randomized (189 participants)	SMD = 0.20 (95% CI [-0.09, 0.48])	Very low certainty of no effect (rated down for serious risk of bias and serious imprecision)
	1 randomized (200 participants)	Adherence to rehabilitation: OR = $3.0 (95\% \text{ CI } [1.5, 6.0])$ Adherence to activities: OR = $1.8 (95\% \text{ CI } [0.8, 3.8])$	Very low certainty of increased adherence (rated down for serious risk of bias, serious indirectness, and serious imprecision)

# Table 7. Certainty of Evidence for Rehabilitation Adherence by Intervention and Outcome Timing

Intervention	Number of Studies (N)	Findings	Certainty of Evidence (Rationale)
Adherence % of Dose Prescribed	4 randomized (514 participants)	SMD range = -0.03–0.50 (95% Cl range = -0.31–0.90)	Very low certainty of no effect (rated down for serious risk of bias, serious inconsistency, serious imprecision)
Physical Function 3 to 6 months	6 randomized (936 participants)	SMD range = -0.12–0.02 (95% Cl range = -0.55–0.24)	Low certainty of no effect (rated down for serious risk of bias and serious imprecision)
	1 randomized (200 participants)	OR = 5.3 (95% CI [1.9, 14.8])	Very low certainty of increased function (rated down for serious risk of bias, serious indirectness, and serious imprecision)
Physical Function 9+ months	4 randomized (624 participants)	SMD range = -0.23–0.10 (95% CI range = -0.70–0.31)	<b>Low certainty of no effect</b> (rated down for serious risk of bias and serious imprecision)
	1 non-randomized (189 participants)	Mean = 0.20 (95% CI [-0.09, 0.49])	Very low certainty of no effect (rated down for serious risk of bias, and serious imprecision)
	1 randomized (200 participants)	OR = 2.9 (95% CI [1.2, 6.7])	Very low certainty of increased function (rated down for serious risk of bias, serious indirectness, and serious imprecision)

*Notes.* Randomized and non-randomized designs were not combined as per GRADE guidance.<sup>17</sup> Studies reporting dichotomous outcomes were not be combined with studies reporting continuous outcomes. *Abbreviations.* OR=odds ratio; SMD=standardized mean difference.

# **PRIOR SYSTEMATIC REVIEWS**

Several prior systematic reviews provide additional context for our findings. Nicolson et al<sup>44</sup> aimed to determine the effectiveness of interventions to increase adherence to therapeutic exercise among older adults with LBP and/or hip/knee OA. Four studies in this review reported improved adherence from 4 weeks to 12 months (SMD= 0.26–1.23) and standardized mean differences with low to very low COE indicated a small effect in favor of adjunct sessions. Yet, the authors of this review defined adherence in a way that included short-term (< 3 months) adherence or adherence during delivery of a rehabilitation intervention. In contrast, our review focused on adherence following an index rehabilitation intervention, and few interventions demonstrated improvements in this outcome. Moreover, we allowed the inclusion of high-quality non-randomized trials in our review that were excluded by Nicolson et al. Four<sup>18,23,26,27</sup> of our included studies overlapped with Nicolson et al, likely due to similar populations, outcomes, and inclusion criteria.<sup>18,23,26,27</sup> However, our results extend the work of Nicolson et al in providing data on long-term adherence to home rehabilitation programs.

Two prior reviews examined the use of BCTs to improve adherence to exercise or physical activity. Eisele et al<sup>45</sup> examined the effectiveness of BCTs to enhance physical activity among patients with chronic musculoskeletal conditions across 22 studies (3 included in our review<sup>18,19,25</sup>). A subgroup analysis examining the difference between high BCT (defined as an



44

adherence-enhancing intervention containing  $\geq 8$  BCTs) and low BCT (defined as an adherenceenhancing intervention containing < 8 BCTs) interventions found a higher effect (SMD = 0.29, 95% CI [0.19, 0.40]) for interventions using a greater number of BCTs. Our results largely follow this trend with the exception of Pisters et al<sup>26</sup> (adherence-enhancing intervention containing 2 BCTs and a positive effect) and Friedrich et al<sup>27</sup> (adherence-enhancing intervention containing 10 BCTs and a null result). Comparing our review to Eisele et al reveals that while researchers and clinicians often focus primarily on intervention content, our results point to the importance of considering the comparator arm content in comparison to the intervention. Specifically, we found that adjunct adherence interventions largely employed similar BCTs to those used in comparator arms. To move the field forward, interventions designed to improve long-term adherence to home rehabilitation programs should make sure that intervention BCTs build on and complement those BCTs used in the routine rehabilitation programs that focus on initiating a home rehabilitation program; in particular, interventions should employ BCTs with the theoretical grounding and an evidence base that supports the maintenance of behavior change.

Including 24 studies (2 included in our review),<sup>23,25</sup> a systematic review by Willett et al<sup>46</sup> identified 5 BCTs that had high effectiveness ratios ( $\geq$  50%) in promoting adherence to exercise among those with hip/knee OA (behavioral contract, nonspecific reward, goal setting [behavior], self-monitoring of behavior, and social support [unspecified]). Two of the 5 effective BCTs identified by Willett et al were present in nearly all (80%, self-monitoring of behavior) or all (goal setting [behavior]) interventions included in our review. In contrast, 3 of the 5 effective BCTs were rarely seen (behavioral contract, 20%; nonspecific reward, 30%; social support [unspecified], 30%) in our review. Including these BCTs known to be effective at promoting exercise adherence may enhance the effectiveness of future interventions designed to enhance adherence, especially as the intention to perform exercises and social support are previously identified predictors of long-term adherence to exercise.<sup>5</sup>

Jordan et al<sup>11</sup> completed a Cochrane review of 42 RCTs (1 included in our review<sup>27</sup>) examining interventions including self-management interventions, psychological interventions, and rehabilitation interventions to improve exercise adherence for individuals with chronic musculoskeletal pain. The authors' conclusions were limited by a lack of high-quality RCTs with long-term follow-up that explicitly address adherence to exercises and the lack of standard validated measures of exercise adherence. Though these recommendations are now 12 years old, based on our review findings we believe that these conclusions remain valid.

# **CLINICAL AND POLICY IMPLICATIONS**

As noted, we found little evidence for the benefit of existing adjunct adherence interventions on long-term adherence or functional outcomes. Included studies differed in many core features, including patient population, follow-up length, and study quality, as well as in how they approached the goal of engaging patients with chronic musculoskeletal conditions in the long-term practice of prescribed home rehabilitation programs. The adjunct adherence interventions we identified included a limited number of established strategies (*ie*, BCTs) known to promote sustained behavior change, used the same strategies as are used for initial rehabilitation treatment, and generally did not draw a distinction between initiation and maintenance of home rehabilitation programs.

44

These findings and methodological limitations make specific clinical recommendations challenging. Nonetheless, we believe a few key concepts may inform current clinical practice. First, rehabilitation clinicians and primary care providers should consider disentangling support for starting a rehabilitation program and coaching to commit to long-term rehabilitation recommendations. In doing so, rehabilitation clinicians should approach the prescription of home rehabilitation as a behavior change initiation conversation and employ appropriate approaches for initiating a new behavior.

Second, typical rehabilitation practice utilizes a number of strategies (ie, BCTs) as part of the standard of care for LBP and lower limb arthritis<sup>47</sup> (eg, goal setting, behavioral practice, and information about health consequences). When shifting aims to the promotion and encouragement of long-term sustainment of a home rehabilitation practice after successful initiation, clinicians need to employ a targeted and distinct set of strategies for maintenance.<sup>5,7</sup> Unfortunately, the field lacks evidence-based or clinical guidelines to draw from to inform which strategies, or BCTs, are most appropriate for the promotion of the sustained practice of prescribed home rehabilitation programs in the context of LBP or hip/knee OA. We can draw from other fields of behavioral maintenance that suggest approaches such as a shift in selfregulatory focus<sup>48,49</sup> (*ie*, focus on approaching a favorable endpoint vs avoiding a less favorable alternative state), relapse prevention planning, fostering effective self-monitoring, and shifting social support from the physical therapist to the patient's social network.<sup>50</sup> We can also look to existing successful VHA programs that seek to promote long-term behavior change. While not rehabilitation specific, the VA has already invested in some programs to promote the long-term physical function of Veterans, using social support. Two such examples include the nationally disseminated VHA Gerofit program, with demonstrated evidence of improvement in morbidity and mortality<sup>51</sup> (now being disseminated nationwide), and the Peer-To-Peer Whole Health program.<sup>52</sup>

# LIMITATIONS

It is important to consider our findings within the context of both the limitations of our methodological approach to this systematic review and those of the identified literature meeting our inclusion criteria.

Our methodological approach includes multiple strengths, including following an *a priori* developed protocol, obtaining guidance for approach and eligibility criteria from an expert panel, using a conceptual model to frame our review, and rigorous categorization of behavioral change techniques reported in the included interventions using an established method. It should be noted that we focused this review on common chronic musculoskeletal conditions that require long-term maintenance for improvement of function; findings may not be relevant to other clinical conditions requiring physical therapy for rehabilitation (*eg*, post joint replacement, after an acute injury). In addition, there may be other studies that did not explicitly intend to promote long-term adherence or measure adherence at time points 3 months and greater but that could provide useful insight into this topic. Further, half of the included studies did not have an *a priori* focus on long-term adherence and, as such, were not directly designed to address the key question proposed here about maintenance of physical rehabilitation programs. Our use of the BCT taxonomy also has limitations. Although 2 authors independently coded and reviewed the BCTs present in each study, reporting of control arm and intervention arm components was often insufficient. Thus, we cannot guarantee the completeness and comparability of the coded BCTs.

Кł

Finally, we did not attempt to combine studies reporting continuous and dichotomous outcomes; a future synthesis employing methods to do so may arrive at different conclusions."

### **Publication Bias**

In the context of this review, which found a small number of included studies, existing statistical methods are not useful to detect publication bias. It is possible that there are existing studies or projects evaluating interventions to promote long-term adherence to physical therapy that were not published in the indexed literature. For example, it is possible that individual clinics or health care systems have developed internal programs to promote long-term rehabilitation adherence that have been evaluated as quality improvement projects but not published in the peer-reviewed literature.

# **Study Quality**

We were also limited by the quality of identified studies. Common potential sources of bias across the included studies included an inadequate description of intervention delivery, deviations from intended intervention delivery, missing outcome data (especially for longer-term outcome assessment time points), and reliance on self-reported outcomes with the potential for bias.

### Heterogeneity

Potential sources of heterogeneity in effects include the participating patient population, the length of follow-up assessments (which ranged from 3 months to 60 months), measurement of key outcomes (eg, type of instrument used), and the type of interventions themselves. Specifically, 6 of the included studies<sup>18,19,24,25,27,28,53</sup> reported on adjunct adherence interventions delivered concurrently to the index rehabilitation intervention and 2 focused on training the PT providers in advance of providing direct patient care. On the other hand, 4 studies evaluated the effect of interventions delivered after the completion of index rehabilitation care, effectively extending the contact and support provided to participants. While we categorized studies as delivering the adjunct intervention either concurrently to the index rehab program or sequentially, the identified studies were not always easy to classify. In some cases, this was due to overlap of the adherence adjunct intervention both during the index rehab program and subsequently (eg, Pisters et al<sup>26</sup> and Quicke et al<sup>22</sup>). In addition, we sought to include studies whose sole comparison was the addition of an adjunct adherence intervention to a standard rehabilitation program (ie, A vs A + B study design). However, in an effort to identify potentially relevant literature, some of the included studies did not feature an index rehabilitation intervention identical to that of the comparator (eg, Quicke et  $al^{22}$ ). This was particularly challenging to clarify in studies that administered the adjunct adherence intervention concurrently with the index rehabilitation program.

# Applicability of Findings to the VA Population

While none of the included studies were conducted in the VA or specifically sought to include Veterans, the identified studies were conducted in settings *similar* to the VA Health Care System, and it is reasonable to expect they would function similarly. In addition, the participants in the included studies are similar in age and comorbidities to Veterans cared for in the VA.

# **FUTURE RESEARCH**

To guide our assessment of important gaps in the existing literature, we consider each category in the PICOTS (population, intervention, comparator, outcomes, timing, setting) framework (Table 8). We identify those study design characteristics that we feel would provide the greatest contribution to this body of literature given the current state of the evidence. For each of the gaps described in Table 8, we identified that there is currently insufficient information.

PICOTS Domain	Evidence Gap/Area for Future Exploration
Population	<ul> <li>Populations including underrepresented racial and ethnic groups</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Younger patients with knee and hip osteoarthritis and lower back pain, as their challenges and needs for incorporating long-term strategies into working-age lifestyles may be different from other age groups</li> </ul>
Intervention	<ul> <li>Distinction between interventions promoting the initiation of behavior change versus behavioral maintenance grounded in best theoretical/conceptual approaches</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Adherence-enhancing adjunct interventions that use different BCTs than are typically seen in usual rehabilitation care</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Interventions aimed at both the rehabilitation provider and patient simultaneously</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Virtual and/or asynchronous interventions for flexibility and convenience of long-term patient engagement</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Titrating adherence interventions to individual's needed level of support</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Use of BCTs known to be effective from related literature for long-term home adherence</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Clearly described and varied dose of the intervention delivered to patients</li> </ul>
Comparator	<ul> <li>Well-described usual care/standard rehabilitation programs that clearly demonstrate provision of standards of care and identified behavior change techniques</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Various delivery modalities in order to compare in-person to virtually delivered</li> </ul>
Outcomes	• Objective functional outcomes <i>(eg</i> , 6-minute walk test, 30-second sit to stand test)
	<ul> <li>Validated measures specific to self-efficacy for exercise/physical activity</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Standardized and validated measures of adherence (objective when possible, such as accelerometer data)</li> </ul>
Timing	<ul> <li>Longer-term outcomes at least 6 months after completion of index rehabilitation program to facilitate comparison across studies</li> </ul>
Setting	Community-based rehabilitation

Table 8. Highest Priority Evidence Gaps for Long-term PT Adherence

# **Future Intervention Design Considerations**

Initiation of behavior change requires a skill set fundamentally different from that needed to maintain behavior change.<sup>7</sup> Long-term adherence to home rehabilitation programs prescribed by rehabilitation clinicians should be considered behavioral maintenance and thus requires different BCTs, goals, and skills compared to behavioral initiation. Moreover, the potential for the type,

Кł

sequence, and number of BCTs to interact dynamically to optimally promote behavioral initiation and maintenance offers new avenues for intervention development.

While we are unable to draw definitive conclusions about the type of interventions most likely to lead to long-term adherence and functional improvement, we can suggest the types of strategies that could be explored in the future, including social support, behavioral contracts, and the use of rewards. Social support is particularly intriguing for VA-based rehabilitation adherence efforts, as social support delivered through peer support has been shown to be broadly accepted and effective within the Veteran population,<sup>54-56</sup> and peer support specialists are already incorporated into multiple kinds of VA care provision.<sup>57,58</sup> Further, theoretical and empirical evidence suggests the critical role of positive, structural social support from within the patient's own social network as a key factor in behavioral maintenance.<sup>7,59,60</sup>

The collected literature shows that the field of behavioral maintenance of home rehabilitation programs is nascent. In addition to methodologically rigorous randomized trials testing adjunct interventions designed to promote behavioral maintenance of prescribed home rehabilitation, more recent innovations in clinical trials design such as SMART or MOST designs could be helpful to move this body of literature forward.<sup>61</sup> Programs should ensure that the adherence adjunct intervention arm is delivered in addition to an index rehabilitation program identical to that administered to the comparator arm (*ie*, a true A vs A + B comparison). This is particularly important for concurrently delivered adjunct interventions, from which adjunct components are inherently more difficult to disentangle compared to sequentially delivered adjunct intervention at studies. Further, studies should consider a purposefully sequenced combination of intervention approaches (*ie*, behavior initiation followed by behavioral maintenance).

# CONCLUSIONS

Long-term sustainment of functional improvements gained by short-term rehabilitation programs requires ongoing adherence to recommended home rehabilitation programs well past the end of direct clinical treatment. We found that there is inadequate evidence evaluating rigorously designed adherence-enhancing interventions for the specific promotion of long-term adherence to home rehabilitation programs. As long-term adherence represents a distinct behavioral target (*ie*, behavioral maintenance), future studies may want to consider testing interventions specifically built to target behavioral maintenance of home rehabilitation programs. Future development of interventions to promote long-term or sustained adherence to prescribed home rehabilitation programs could benefit from use of theoretically informed approaches and successful behavioral maintenance interventions validated in similar conditions. In the meantime, rehabilitation clinicians and referring providers should be aware that long-term commitment to prescribed home rehabilitation programs is necessary to realize ongoing health benefits.

# REFERENCES

- 1. Gaskin DJ, Richard P. The economic costs of pain in the United States. *J Pain*. 2012;13(8):715-24.
- 2. Dieleman JL, Cao J, Chapin A, et al. US Health Care Spending by Payer and Health Condition, 1996-2016. *Jama*. 2020;323(9):863-884.
- 3. Fransen M, McConnell S, Harmer AR, et al. Exercise for osteoarthritis of the knee. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*. 2015;1:CD004376.
- 4. Hayden JA, Ellis J, Ogilvie R, et al. Exercise for treatment of chronic low back pain. Cochrane.org; 2021.
- 5. Essery R, Geraghty AW, Kirby S, et al. Predictors of adherence to home-based physical therapies: a systematic review. *Disabil Rehabil*. 2017;39(6):519-534.
- 6. Sluijs EM, Kok GJ, van der Zee J. Correlates of exercise compliance in physical therapy. *Phys Ther.* 1993;73(11):771-82; discussion 783-6.
- 7. Voils CI, Gierisch JM, Yancy WS, et al. Differentiating Behavior Initiation and Maintenance: Theoretical Framework and Proof of Concept. *Health Education & Behavior*. 2013;41(3):325-336.
- 8. O'Halloran PD, Blackstock F, Shields N, et al. Motivational interviewing to increase physical activity in people with chronic health conditions: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clin Rehabil.* 2014;28(12):1159-71.
- 9. Bassett SFPMD. Bridging the intention-behaviour gap with behaviour change strategies for physiotherapy rehabilitation non-adherence. *New Zealand Journal of Physiotherapy*. 2015;43(3):105-111.
- 10. Michie S, Richardson M, Johnston M, et al. The behavior change technique taxonomy (v1) of 93 hierarchically clustered techniques: building an international consensus for the reporting of behavior change interventions. *Ann Behav Med.* 2013;46(1):81-95.
- Jordan JL, Holden MA, Mason EE, et al. Interventions to improve adherence to exercise for chronic musculoskeletal pain in adults. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*. 2010(1):CD005956.
- 12. Page MJ, McKenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, et al. The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. *BMJ*. 2021;372:n71.
- 13. McGowan J, Sampson M, Salzwedel DM, et al. PRESS Peer Review of Electronic Search Strategies: 2015 Guideline Statement. *J Clin Epidemiol*. 2016(1878-5921 (Electronic)).
- 14. National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke. Low Back Pain Fact Sheet. Vol. 2022: National Institutes of Health; 2021.
- 15. RoB2 Development Group. Revised Cochrane risk-of-bias tool for randomized trials (RoB 2). Vol. 2022: riskofbias.info; 2019.
- 16. Sterne JAC, Hernán MA, Reeves BC, et al. ROBINS-I: a tool for assessing risk of bias in non-randomised studies of interventions. *BMJ*. 2016;355:i4919.
- 17. Hultcrantz M, Rind D, Akl EA, et al. The GRADE Working Group clarifies the construct of certainty of evidence. (1878-5921 (Electronic)).
- 18. Brosseau L, Wells GA, Kenny GP, et al. The implementation of a community-based aerobic walking program for mild to moderate knee osteoarthritis (OA): a knowledge translation (KT) randomized controlled trial (RCT): Part I: The Uptake of the Ottawa Panel clinical practice guidelines (CPGs). *BMC Public Health*. 2012;12:871.



- 19. Ben-Ami N, Chodick G, Mirovsky Y, et al. Increasing Recreational Physical Activity in Patients With Chronic Low Back Pain: A Pragmatic Controlled Clinical Trial. *Journal of Orthopaedic & Sports Physical Therapy*. 2017;47(2):57-66.
- 20. Bennell K, Nelligan RK, Schwartz S, et al. Behavior Change Text Messages for Home Exercise Adherence in Knee Osteoarthritis: Randomized Trial. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*. 2020;22(9):e21749.
- 21. Baker K, LaValley MP, Brown C, et al. Efficacy of Computer-Based Telephone Counseling on Long-Term Adherence to Strength Training in Elderly Patients With Knee Osteoarthritis: A Randomized Trial. *Arthritis care & research*. 2020;72(7):982-990.
- 22. Quicke JG, Foster NE, Ogollah RO, et al. Relationship Between Attitudes and Beliefs and Physical Activity in Older Adults With Knee Pain: Secondary Analysis of a Randomized Controlled Trial. *Arthritis care & research*. 2017;69(8):1192-1200.
- 23. Bennell KL, Kyriakides M, Hodges PW, et al. Effects of two physiotherapy booster sessions on outcomes with home exercise in people with knee osteoarthritis: a randomized controlled trial. *Arthritis care & research*. 2014;66(11):1680-7.
- 24. Lonsdale C, Hall AM, Murray A, et al. Communication Skills Training for Practitioners to Increase Patient Adherence to Home-Based Rehabilitation for Chronic Low Back Pain: Results of a Cluster Randomized Controlled Trial. *Archives of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation*. 2017;98(9):1732-1743.e7.
- 25. Bennell KL, Campbell PK, Egerton T, et al. Telephone Coaching to Enhance a Home-Based Physical Activity Program for Knee Osteoarthritis: A Randomized Clinical Trial. *Arthritis care & research*. 2017;69(1):84-94.
- 26. Pisters MF, Veenhof C, de Bakker DH, et al. Behavioural graded activity results in better exercise adherence and more physical activity than usual care in people with osteoarthritis: a cluster-randomised trial. *Journal of Physiotherapy*. 2010;56(1):41-7.
- 27. Friedrich M, Gittler G, Halberstadt Y, et al. Combined exercise and motivation program: effect on the compliance and level of disability of patients with chronic low back pain: a randomized controlled trial. *Archives of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation*. 1998;79(5):475-87.
- 28. Friedrich M, Gittler G, Arendasy M, et al. Long-term effect of a combined exercise and motivational program on the level of disability of patients with chronic low back pain. *Spine*. 2005;30(9):995-1000.
- 29. Jordan K, Dunn KM, Lewis M, et al. A minimal clinically important difference was derived for the Roland-Morris Disability Questionnaire for low back pain. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*. 2006;59(1):45-52.
- 30. Prochaska JO, DiClemente CC. Stages and processes of self-change of smoking: toward an integrative model of change. *J Consult Clin Psychol*. 1983;51(3):390-5.
- 31. Ryan RM, Deci EL. Self-determination theory and the facilitation of intrinsic motivation, social development, and well-being. *Am Psychol.* 2000;55(1):68-78.
- 32. Michie S, van Stralen MM, West R. The behaviour change wheel: a new method for characterising and designing behaviour change interventions. *Implement Sci.* 2011;6:42.
- 33. Bandura A. Social cognitive theory of self-regulation. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*. 1991;50(2):248-287.
- 34. Gale J, Skouteris H. Health coaching: facilitating health behaviour change for chronic condition prevention and self-management. In: Caltabiano M, Ricciardelli L, eds. *Handbook of applied topics in health psychology*. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley-Blackwell; 2013.
- 35. Weinstein ND. The precaution adoption process. *Health Psychology*. 1988;7(4):355-386.



- 36. Prochaska JO, DiClemente CC. Transtheoretical therapy: Toward a more integrative model of change. *Psychother Theory Res Pract.* 1982;19:279-288.
- Voils CI, Olsen MK, Gierisch JM, et al. Maintenance of Weight Loss After Initiation of Nutrition Training: A Randomized Trial. *Annals of Internal Medicine*. 2017(1539-3704 (Electronic)).
- 38. Voils CI, Gierisch JM, Olsen MK, et al. Study design and protocol for a theory-based behavioral intervention focusing on maintenance of weight loss: the Maintenance After Initiation of Nutrition TrAINing (MAINTAIN) study. *Contemp Clin Trials*. 2014(1559-2030 (Electronic)).
- 39. Kwasnicka D, Dombrowski SU, White M, et al. Theoretical explanations for maintenance of behaviour change: a systematic review of behaviour theories. *Health Psychol Rev.* 2016(1743-7202 (Electronic)).
- 40. Greaves C, Poltawski L, Garside R, et al. Understanding the challenge of weight loss maintenance: a systematic review and synthesis of qualitative research on weight loss maintenance. *Health Psychol Rev.* 2017(1743-7202 (Electronic)).
- 41. Howlett N, Trivedi D, Troop NA, et al. Are physical activity interventions for healthy inactive adults effective in promoting behavior change and maintenance, and which behavior change techniques are effective? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Translational Behavioral Medicine*. 2019(1613-9860 (Electronic)).
- 42. Tang MY, Smith DM, Mc Sharry J, et al. Behavior Change Techniques Associated With Changes in Postintervention and Maintained Changes in Self-Efficacy For Physical Activity: A Systematic Review With Meta-analysis. *Ann Behav Med.* 2019(1532-4796 (Electronic)).
- 43. French DP, Olander EK, Chisholm A, et al. Which Behaviour Change Techniques Are Most Effective at Increasing Older Adults' Self-Efficacy and Physical Activity Behaviour? A Systematic Review. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*. 2014;48(2):225-234.
- 44. Nicolson PJA, Bennell KL, Dobson FL, et al. Interventions to increase adherence to therapeutic exercise in older adults with low back pain and/or hip/knee osteoarthritis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*. 2017;51(10):791-799.
- 45. Eisele A, Schagg D, Kramer LV, et al. Behaviour change techniques applied in interventions to enhance physical activity adherence in patients with chronic musculoskeletal conditions: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Patient Educ Couns*. 2019;102(1):25-36.
- 46. Willett M, Duda J, Fenton S, et al. Effectiveness of behaviour change techniques in physiotherapy interventions to promote physical activity adherence in lower limb osteoarthritis patients: A systematic review. *PLoS One*. 2019;14(7):e0219482.
- 47. American Physical Therapy Association. APTA Guide to Physical Therapist Practice Alexandria, VA: APTA; 2021.
- 48. Rothman AJ. Toward a theory-based analysis of behavioral maintenance. *Health Psychol.* 2000;19(1S):64-9.
- 49. Rothman AJ, Sheeran P, Wood W. Reflective and automatic processes in the initiation and maintenance of dietary change. *Ann Behav Med.* 2009;38 Suppl 1:S4-17.
- 50. Schwarzer R, Schuz B, Ziegelmann JP, et al. Adoption and maintenance of four health behaviors: theory-guided longitudinal studies on dental flossing, seat belt use, dietary behavior, and physical activity. *Ann Behav Med.* 2007;33(2):156-66.
- 51. Morey MC, Pieper CF, Crowley GM, et al. Exercise adherence and 10-year mortality in chronically ill older adults. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 2002;50(12):1929-33.



Kł

- 52. US Department of Veterans Affairs. Sharing Whole Health: Peer-to-Peer. 2021.
- 53. Minns Lowe CJ, Wilson MS, Sackley CM, et al. Blind outcome assessment: the development and use of procedures to maintain and describe blinding in a pragmatic physiotherapy rehabilitation trial. *Clinical Rehabilitation*. 2011;25(3):264-74.
- 54. Azevedo KJ, Ramirez JC, Kumar A, et al. Rethinking Violence Prevention in Rural and Underserved Communities: How Veteran Peer Support Groups Help Participants Deal with Sequelae from Violent Traumatic Experiences. *The Journal of Rural Health*. 2020;36(2):266-273.
- 55. Goldstein KM, Zullig LL, Oddone EZ, et al. Understanding women veterans' preferences for peer support interventions to promote heart healthy behaviors: A qualitative study. *Preventive medicine reports*. 2018;10:353-358.
- 56. Matthias MS, Kukla M, McGuire AB, et al. How Do Patients with Chronic Pain Benefit from a Peer-Supported Pain Self-Management Intervention? A Qualitative Investigation. *Pain Medicine*. 2016;17(12):2247-2255.
- 57. Chinman M, Henze K, P S. Peer Specialist Toolkit: Implementing Peer Support Services in VHA Pittsburgh, PA: VA Pittsburgh Healthcare System; 2013.
- 58. US Department of Veterans Affairs. VA Caregiver Support Program: Peer Support Mentoring Program. 2022.
- 59. Karfopoulou E, Anastasiou CA, Avgeraki E, et al. The role of social support in weight loss maintenance: results from the MedWeight study. *J Behav Med*. 2016;39(3):511-8.
- 60. Schwarzer R, Leppin A. Social Support and Health: A Theoretical and Empirical Overview. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*. 1991;8(1):99-127.
- 61. Collins LM, Murphy SA, Strecher V. The multiphase optimization strategy (MOST) and the sequential multiple assignment randomized trial (SMART): new methods for more potent eHealth interventions. *Am J Prev Med.* 2007;32(5 Suppl):S112-8.
- 62. Hay E, Dziedzic K, Foster N, et al. 2018.

# **APPENDIX A. SEARCH STRATEGIES**

# Database: MEDLINE (via Ovid MEDLINE ALL 1946 to July 26, 2021)

Search date: 7/27/2021

Search Set	Search Strategy			
#1	(osteoarthritis/ AND (knee* OR hip* OR patella*).ti,ab.) OR exp Osteoarthritis, Hip/ or exp Osteoarthritis, Knee/ OR ((knee OR knees OR patella* OR hip OR hips) AND (osteoarthritis OR osteoarthritic OR arthrosis OR arthroses OR OA OR coxarthorsis OR coxarthroses)).ti,ab. OR ((knee* OR patella* OR hip OR hips) AND degenerative AND (arthritis OR arthritic OR joint OR joints)).ti,ab.			
#2	exp low back pain/ OR exp sciatica/ OR (lumbago OR sciatica).ti,ab.			
#3	((back or low?back or spine or spinal or thoracic or vertebr* or intervertebr* or sciatic* or lumbar or lumbro* or lumbo*) adj3 (pain* or ache* or radiculopath* or polyradiculopath* or compress*)).ti,ab.			
#4	(low or lower or lowback or sciatic* or ischia* or lumbo* or lumba* or sacroili* OR sacral).ti,ab.	4,298,601		
#5	3 AND 4	52,655		
#6	1 OR 2 OR 5	117,475		
#7	(exp Rehabilitation/ AND physical.ti,ab.) OR exp Exercise/ OR exp Exercise Therapy/ OR exp Physical Fitness/ OR exp Physical Conditioning, Human/ OR exp Circuit-Based Exercise/ OR exp Endurance Training/ OR exp High- Intensity Interval Training/ OR exp Plyometric Exercise/ OR exp Resistance Training/ OR exp Tai Ji/ OR exp Yoga/ OR exp Hydrotherapy/ OR exp Musculoskeletal Manipulations/ OR exp Cognitive Behavioral Therapy/ OR exp "Acceptance and Commitment Therapy"/ OR exp Mindfulness/ OR exp Meditation/ OR exp Fitness Trackers/ OR exp Reminder Systems/ OR exp Meditation/ OR exp Fitness Trackers/ OR exp Reminder Systems/ OR exp Peer Group/ OR exp Teit Messaging/ OR exp Mobile Applications/ OR (Physical ADJ activit*).ti, ab. OR (Physical ADJ telerehab*).ti, ab. OR (Physical ADJ activit*).ti, ab. OR (Movement OR exercis* OR sport OR sports OR athletics OR athletic OR yoga OR pilates OR "Tai chi" OR "Tai ji" OR fitness OR plyometrics OR hydrotherapy OR "interval training" OR HIIT OR physiotherap* OR kinesiol* OR cycling OR spinning).ti, ab. OR ((circuit* OR strength* OR resistance* OR weight* OR aerobic* OR endurance) ADJ train*).ti, ab. OR (Physical ADJ therap*).ti, ab. OR ((acceptance OR mobilization OR mobilisation)).ti, ab. OR ((behavior* OR behaviour* OR psychological OR mental) ADJ2 (therap* OR treat* OR therapeutic OR intervention* OR adaptation*)).ti, ab. OR ((geer OR peers OR social OR commitment) ADJ2 (therap* OR treat* OR therapeutic OR intervention OR "Peer-to-peer").ti, ab. OR ((peer OR peers OR social OR caregiver*) ADJ support*).ti, ab. OR (coach* OR mentor* OR counsel* OR biopsychosocial OR bio?psycho?social OR counselling OR mindfulness OR meditation OR "Peer-to-peer").ti, ab. OR ((peer OR peers OR social OR caregiver*) ADJ support*).ti, ab. OR (coach* OR mentor* OR counsel* OR boost* OR wearable* OR "fitness tracker" OR "activity tracker" OR "activity trackers" OR fitbit OR "apple watch").ti, ab. OR (reminder* ADJ2 (system* OR messag* OR text* OR mail OR telephone OR phone)).ti, ab. OR (automated	1,498,833		

Search Set	Search Strategy	Results
	telephone OR phone)).ti,ab. OR (text?messag* OR email OR e?mail OR "electronic mail" OR "electronic message" OR "electronic messages").ti,ab. OR (performance ADJ feedback).ti,ab. OR (Remote ADJ monitor*).ti,ab. OR ("mobile application" OR "mobile applications" OR "mobile apps").ti,ab.	
#8	6 AND 7	24,101
#9	exp Patient Compliance/ OR exp Medication Adherence/ OR exp Patient Participation/ OR "Patient Acceptance of Health Care"/ OR Treatment Refusal/ OR exp Motivation/ OR exp Self Efficacy/ OR exp Problem Solving/ OR exp Decision Making/ OR exp Choice Behavior/ OR (Adhere* OR adhering OR Complian* OR complying OR Cooperat*).ti,ab. OR ((change OR changes OR changing OR modify OR modifies OR modifying OR modification) ADJ (behavior* OR behaviour*)).ti,ab. OR (Motivat* OR incentiv* OR disincentiv* OR perceiv* OR perception* OR belief*).ti,ab. OR (Self ADJ efficacy).ti,ab. OR Self-efficacy.ti,ab. OR (Self ADJ monitoring).ti,ab. OR Self-monitoring.ti,ab. OR (Self ADJ talk).ti,ab. OR (Self-talk OR Attitude* OR Empower*).ti,ab. OR ((treat* OR therapy OR therapeutic) ADJ refus*).ti,ab. OR ((goal OR goals) ADJ setting).ti,ab. OR Goal-setting.ti,ab. OR (Action ADJ plan*).ti,ab. OR (Non?complian* OR Non?adheren* OR Attendance OR Non?attend* OR Encourag*).ti,ab. OR (patient ADJ3 participation).ti,ab.	1,818,940
#10	8 AND 9	4,193
#11	randomized controlled trial.pt. OR controlled clinical trial.pt. OR clinical trial.pt. OR randomized.ti,ab. OR randomised.ti,ab. OR randomization.ti,ab. OR randomisation.ti,ab. OR placebo.ti,ab. OR randomly.ti,ab. OR trial.ti,ab. OR groups.ti,ab. OR nonrandom.ti,ab. OR "non-random".ti,ab. OR nonrandomized.ti,ab. OR "non-random".ti,ab. OR "non-randomised.ti,ab. OR "non-randomised".ti,ab. OR "non-randomised".ti,ab. OR quasi-experiment*.ti,ab. OR quazi-experiment*.ti,ab. OR quasi-experiment*.ti,ab. OR ((controlled.ti,ab.) AND (trial.ti,ab. OR study.ti,ab.))	3,640,469
#12	10 AND 11	2,145
#13	12 NOT (exp animals/ not exp humans/)	2,140
#14	13 NOT (case reports.pt OR editorial.pt OR letter.pt OR comment.pt)	2,119

# Database: Embase (via Elsevier)

Search date: 7/27/2021

Search Set	Search Strategy	Results
#1	'knee osteoarthritis'/exp OR 'hip osteoarthritis'/exp OR ((knee OR knees OR patella* OR hip OR hips) AND (osteoarthritis OR osteoarthritic OR arthrosis OR arthroses OR OA OR coxarthorsis OR coxarthroses)):ti,ab OR ((knee* OR patella* OR hip OR hips) AND degenerative AND (arthritis OR arthritic OR joint OR joints)):ti,ab	79,989
#2	'low back pain'/exp OR 'sciatica'/exp OR (lumbago OR sciatica):ti,ab	70,044



Search Set	Search Strategy		
#3	((back or low?back or spine or spinal or thoracic or vertebr* or intervertebr* or sciatic* or lumbar or lumbro* or lumbo*) NEAR/3 (pain* or ache* or radiculopath* or polyradiculopath* or compress*)):ti,ab		
#4	(low or lower or lowback or sciatic* or ischia* or lumbo* or lumba* or sacroili* OR sacral):ti,ab	5,793,899	
#5	#3 AND #4	77,207	
#6	#1 OR# 2 OR #5	183,162	
#7	<ul> <li>(low or lower or lowback or sciatic* or ischia* or lumbo* or lumba* or sacroili* OR sacral):ti,ab</li> <li>#3 AND #4</li> <li>#1 OR# 2 OR #5</li> <li>('rehabilitation'/exp AND physical:ti,ab) OR 'exercise'/exp OR 'Tai Chi'/exp OR 'yogal'exp OR 'hydrotherapy'/exp OR 'musculoskeletal manipulation'/exp OR 'cognitve behavioral therapy/exp OR 'acceptance and commitment therapy'/exp OR 'meatable computer//exp OR 'acceptance and commitment therapy'/exp OR 'meatable computer//exp OR 'accieptance and commitment therapy/exp OR 'meatable computer/exp OR 'activity tracker'exp OR 'reminder system'/exp OR 'peer group'/exp OR 'text messaging'/exp OR 'mobile application'/exp OR (Physical NEAR/1 rehab*):ti,ab OR (Physical NEAR/1 telerehab*):ti,ab OR (Physical NEAR/1 activit*):ti,ab OR (Physical NEAR/1 telerehab*):ti,ab OR (physical NEAR/1 activit*):ti,ab OR (Movement OR exercis* OR sport OR sports OR athletics OR athletic OR yoga OR pilates OR 'fai chi' OR 'fai ji' OR fitness OR plyometrics OR hydrotherapy OR 'interval training' OR HIIT OR strength* OR resistance* OR weight* OR aerobic* OR behaviour* OR mobilization OR mobilisation)):ti,ab OR ((behavior* OR behaviour* OR mobilization OR motal)):ti,ab OR (Cherap* OR treat* OR therapeutic OR intervention* OR mobilization OR mobilisation)):ti,ab OR Core or Pares OR social OR commelling OR mindfulness OR meditation OR mobilisation)):ti,ab OR (Core OR peers OR social OR commelling OR mindfulness OR meditation OR 'Peer-to-peer'):ti,ab OR ((peer OR peers OR social OR commellior OR mobilisation)):ti,ab OR (cocach* OR mentor* OR commister) NEAR/2 (therap* OR treat* OR therapeutic OR intervention* OR 'mobile application* NEAR/2 interview*):ti,ab OR (texephance OR commeller) OR 'activity tracker' OR 'fitness tracker' OR 'interses Tracker' OR 'interventon*) (Chi aborte) or yescho?social OR counselling OR mindfulness OR meditation OR 'Peer-to-peer'):ti,ab OR (cocach* OR mentor* OR counsel* OR hone)):ti,ab OR (automated NEAR/1 (messag* OR text* OR mail OR 'electronic</li></ul>		
#8	#6 AND #7	37,245	
#9	'patient compliance'/exp OR 'medication compliance'/exp OR 'patient participation'/exp OR 'patient attitude'/exp OR 'treatment refusal'/exp OR 'motivation'/exp OR 'self concept'/exp OR 'problem solving'/exp OR 'decision making'/exp OR (Adhere* OR adhering OR Complian* OR complying OR Cooperat*):ti,ab OR ((change OR changes OR changing OR modify OR modifies OR modifying OR modification) NEAR/1 (behavior* OR behaviour*)):ti,ab OR (Motivat* OR incentiv* OR disincentiv* OR perceiv* OR perception* OR belief*):ti,ab OR (Self NEAR/1 efficacy):ti,ab OR Self-	2,749,149	



Search Set	Search Strategy	Results
	efficacy:ti,ab OR (Self NEAR/1 monitoring):ti,ab OR Self-monitoring:ti,ab OR (Self NEAR/1 talk):ti,ab OR (Self-talk OR Attitude* OR Empower*):ti,ab OR ((treat* OR therapy OR therapeutic) NEAR/1 refus*):ti,ab OR ((goal OR goals) NEAR/1 setting):ti,ab OR Goal-setting:ti,ab OR (Action NEAR/1 plan*):ti,ab OR (Non?complian* OR Non?adheren* OR Attendance OR Non?attend* OR Encourag*):ti,ab OR (patient NEAR/3 participation):ti,ab	
#10	#8 AND #9	8,078
#11	'crossover procedure'/exp OR 'randomized controlled trial'/exp OR 'controlled clinical trial'/exp OR 'single blind procedure'/exp OR 'double blind procedure'/exp OR 'crossover procedure':de OR 'double-blind procedure':de OR 'randomized controlled trial':de OR 'single-blind procedure':de OR (random* OR factorial* OR crossover* OR cross NEXT/1 over* OR placebo* OR doubl* NEAR/1 blind* OR singl* NEAR/1 blind* OR assign* OR allocat* OR volunteer*):ti,ab OR placebo:ti,ab OR groups:ti,ab OR nonrandom:ti,ab OR non?random:ti,ab OR nonrandomized:ti,ab OR non?randomized:ti,ab OR nonrandomised:ti,ab OR non?randomised:ti,ab OR quasi?experiment*:ti,ab OR quazi?experiment*:ti,ab OR quasiexperiment*:ti,ab OR quazi?random*:ti,ab OR quasi?control*:ti,ab OR quazi?control*:ti,ab OR quasi?random*:ti,ab OR quasi?control*:ti,ab OR quazi?control*:ti,ab OR quasicontrol*:ti,ab OR quazicontrol*:ti,ab OR ((controlled:ti,ab) AND (trial:ti,ab OR study:ti,ab))	5,425,748
#12	#10 AND #11	3,771
#13	#12 AND [humans]/lim	3,676
#14	#13 NOT ('case report'/exp OR 'case study'/exp OR 'editorial'/exp OR [editorial]/lim OR 'letter'/exp OR [letter]/lim OR 'note'/exp OR [note]/lim OR [conference abstract]/lim OR 'conference abstract'/exp OR 'conference abstract'/it)	2,655

# Database: CINAHL Complete (via EBSCO)

Search date: 7/27/2021

Search Set	Search Strategy	Results
#1	((MH osteoarthritis) AND ((TI knee* OR AB knee*) OR (TI hip* OR AB hip*) OR (TI patella* OR AB patella*))) OR (MH "Osteoarthritis, Hip") OR (MH "Osteoarthritis, Knee") OR (((TI knee OR AB knee) OR (TI knees OR AB knees) OR (TI patella* OR AB patella*) OR (TI hip OR AB hip) OR (TI hips OR AB hips)) AND ((TI osteoarthritis OR AB osteoarthritis) OR (TI osteoarthritic OR AB osteoarthritic) OR (TI arthrosis OR AB arthrosis) OR (TI arthroses OR AB arthroses) OR (TI OA OR AB OA) OR (TI coxarthorsis OR AB coxarthorsis) OR (TI coxarthroses OR AB coxarthroses))) OR (((TI knee* OR AB knee*) OR (TI patella* OR AB patella*) OR (TI hip OR AB hip) OR (TI hips OR AB hips)) AND (TI degenerative OR AB degenerative) AND ((TI arthritis OR AB arthritis) OR (TI arthritic OR AB arthritic) OR (TI joint OR AB joint) OR (TI joints OR AB joints)))	26,315
#2	(MH "Low Back Pain") OR (MH "sciatica") OR ((TI lumbago OR AB lumbago) OR (TI sciatica OR AB sciatica))	22,894



Search Set	Search Strategy		
#3	(((TI back OR AB back) OR (TI low#back OR AB low#back) OR (TI spine OR AB spine) OR (TI spinal OR AB spinal) OR (TI thoracic OR AB thoracic) OR (TI vertebr* OR AB vertebr*) OR (TI intervertebr* OR AB intervertebr*) OR (TI sciatic* OR AB sciatic*) OR (TI lumbar OR AB lumbar) OR (TI lumbro* OR AB lumbro*) OR (TI lumbo* OR AB lumbo*)) N3 ((TI pain* OR AB pain*) OR (TI ache* OR AB ache*) OR (TI radiculopath* OR AB radiculopath*) OR (TI polyradiculopath* OR AB polyradiculopath*) OR (TI compress* OR AB compress*)))	39,563	
#4	((TI low OR AB low) OR (TI lower OR AB lower) OR (TI lowback OR AB lowback) OR (TI sciatic* OR AB sciatic*) OR (TI ischia* OR AB ischia*) OR (TI lumbo* OR AB lumbo*) OR (TI lumba* OR AB lumba*) OR (TI sacroili* OR AB sacroili*) OR (TI sacral OR AB sacral))	760,111	
#5	S3 AND S4	27,382	
#6	S1 OR S2 OR S5	60,510	
#7	((MH "Rehabilitation+") AND (TI physical OR AB physical)) OR (MH "Exercise+") OR (MH "Therapeutic Exercise+" OR (MH "Physical Fitness+") OR (MH "Physical Therapy+") OR (MH "Resistance Training") OR (MH "Yoga+") OR (MH "Tai Chi") OR (MH "Meditation") OR (MH "Mental Healing") OR (MH "Hydrotherapy") OR (MH "Applied Kinesiology") OR (MH "Manual Therapy") OR (MH "Cognitive Therapy+") OR (MH "Mental Interviewing") OR (MH "Wearable Sensors+") OR (MH "Mitvational Interviewing") OR (MH "Wearable Sensors+") OR (MH "Fitness Trackers") OR (MH "Reminder Systems") OR (MH "Peer Group") OR (MH "Peer Pressure") OR (MH "Support, Psychosocial") OR (MH "Mentorship") OR (MH "Text Messaging+") OR (MH "Mobile Applications") OR ((TI Physical OR AB Physical) W1 (TI rehab* OR AB rehab*)) OR ((TI Physical OR AB Physical) W1 (TI telerehab* OR AB telerehab*)) OR ((TI Physical OR AB Physical) W1 (TI telerehab* OR AB telerehab*)) OR ((TI Physical OR AB Physical) W1 (TI telerehab* OR AB exercis*) OR (TI sport OR AB sport) OR (TI sports OR AB sports) OR (TI athletics OR AB athletics) OR (TI athletic OR AB athletic) OR (TI vga OR AB vga) OR (TI physiotherap* OR AB pilates) OR (TI "Tai chi" OR AB "Tai chi") OR (TI "Tai ji" OR AB "Tai ji") OR (TI fitness OR AB fitness) OR (TI plyometrics OR AB plyometrics) OR (TI hydrotherapy OR AB hydrotherapy) OR (TI "interval training" OR AB eycling) OR (TI kinesiol* OR AB kinesiol*) OR (TI cycling OR AB eycling) OR (TI spinning OR AB spinning)) OR (((TI circuit* OR AB circuit*) OR (TI stength* OR AB strength*) OR (TI resistance* OR AB reaistance*) OR (TI weight* OR AB musculoskeletal) OR (TI MSK OR AB MSK)) N2 ((TI therap* OR AB herap*) OR (TI treat* OR AB treat*) OR ((TI musculoskeletal OR AB musculoskeletal) OR (TI mental OR AB mental)) N2 ((TI therap* OR AB therap*) OR (TI metat* OR AB treat*) OR (TI mobilization OR AB mobilization) OR (TI mental OR AB mental)) N2 ((TI therap* OR AB therap*) OR (TI treat* OR AB treat*) OR (TI mobilization OR AB mobilization) OR (TI mental OR AB mental)) N2 ((TI therap* OR	773,686	



Search Set	Search Strategy	Results
	OR ((TI Motivation* OR AB Motivation*) N2 (TI interview* OR AB interview*)) OR ((TI biopsychosocial OR AB biopsychosocial) OR (TI bio#psycho#social OR AB bio#psycho#social) OR (TI counselling OR AB counselling) OR (TI mindfulness OR AB mindfulness) OR (TI meditation OR AB meditation) OR (TI Peer-to-peer OR AB Peer-to-peer)) OR (((TI peer OR AB peer) OR (TI peers OR AB peers) OR (TI social OR AB social) OR (TI caregiver* OR AB caregiver*)) W1 (TI support* OR AB support*)) OR ((TI coach* OR AB coach*) OR (TI mentor* OR AB mentor*) OR (TI counsel* OR AB counsel*) OR (TI boost* OR AB boost*) OR (TI wearable* OR AB wearable*) OR (TI fitness tracker" OR AB "fitness tracker") OR (TI "fitness tracker" OR AB "fitness tracker") OR (TI "activity trackers") OR (TI "fitness tracker") OR (TI "apple watch" OR AB "apple watch")) OR ((TI reminder* OR AB reminder*) N2 ((TI system* OR AB "apple watch")) OR ((TI messag* OR AB messag*) OR (TI text* OR AB text*) OR (TI mail OR AB mail) OR (TI telephone OR AB telephone) OR (TI phone OR AB phone)))) OR ((TI automated OR AB automated) W1 ((TI messag* OR AB messag*) OR (TI text* OR AB text*) OR (TI mail OR AB mail) OR (TI text* OR AB text*) OR (TI mail OR AB mail) OR (TI text* OR AB text#messag*) OR (TI email OR AB mail) OR (TI text* OR AB text#messag*) OR (TI mail OR AB mail) OR (TI text* OR AB text#messag*) OR (TI mail OR AB mail) OR (TI text* OR AB text#messag*) OR (TI mail OR AB mail) OR (TI text* OR AB text*) OR (TI "electronic mail" OR AB email) OR (TI text* messag*) OR (TI text* OR AB text*) OR (TI mail OR AB mail) OR (TI text* messag*) OR (TI message" OR AB "electronic message") OR (TI text* messag*) OR (TI message" OR AB "electronic message") OR (TI text* messag*) OR (TI mentor* OR AB monitor*)) OR ((TI performance OR AB performance) W1 (TI feedback OR AB feedback)) OR ((TI mobile application" OR AB "mobile application") OR (AB "mobile applications" OR AB "mobile application") OR (AB "mobile applications" OR AB "mobile application") OR (AB "mobile applications") OR	
#8	S6 AND S7	17,992
#9	(MH "Patient Compliance+") OR (MH "Medication Compliance") OR (MH "Consumer Participation") OR (MH "Treatment Refusal") OR (MH "Motivation+") OR (MH "Self Efficacy") OR (MH "Problem Solving+") OR (MH "Decision Making+") OR ((TI Adhere* OR AB Adhere*) OR (TI adhering OR AB adhering) OR (TI Complian* OR AB Complian*) OR (TI complying OR AB complying) OR (TI Cooperat* OR AB Cooperat*)) OR (((TI change OR AB change) OR (TI changes OR AB changes) OR (TI changing OR AB changing) OR (TI nodify OR AB modify) OR (TI modifies OR AB modifies) OR (TI modifying OR AB modifying) OR (TI modification OR AB modification)) W1 ((TI behavior* OR AB behavior*) OR (TI behaviour* OR AB behaviour*))) OR ((TI Motivat* OR AB Motivat*) OR (TI behaviour* OR AB behaviour*))) OR ((TI Motivat* OR AB Motivat*) OR (TI perceiv* OR AB incentiv*) OR (TI disincentiv* OR AB disincentiv*) OR (TI perceiv* OR AB belief*)) OR ((TI Self OR AB Self) W1 (TI efficacy OR AB efficacy)) OR (TI Self-efficacy OR AB Self-efficacy) OR ((TI Self OR AB Self) W1 (TI monitoring OR ((TI Self OR AB Self) W1 (TI talk OR AB Self- monitoring) OR ((TI Self OR AB Self) W1 (TI talk OR AB talk)) OR (((TI Self- talk OR AB Self-talk) OR (TI Attitude* OR AB treat*) OR (TI therapy OR AB therapy) OR (((TI goal OR AB goal) OR (TI goals OR AB goals)) W1 (TI setting OR AB setting)) OR (TI Goal-setting OR AB Goal-setting) OR (((TI Action OR AB Action) W1 (TI plan* OR AB plan*)) OR (((TI Non#acheren*) OR (TI Attendance OR AB Attendance) OR (TI Non#attend* OR AB	792,963

Search Set	Search Strategy	Results
	Non#attend*) OR (TI Encourag* OR AB Encourag*)) OR ((TI patient OR AB patient) N3 (TI participation OR AB participation))	
#10	S8 AND S9	3,188
#11	(ZT "randomized controlled trial") OR (MH "Randomized Controlled Trials") OR TI ("randomized controlled trial" OR "controlled clinical trial" OR randomized OR randomised OR randomization OR randomisation OR placebo OR randomly OR trial OR trials OR groups OR "single blind" OR "single blinded" OR "double blind" OR "double-blinded OR nonrandom* OR non-random* OR quasiexperiment* OR quasi-experiment* OR quaziexperiment* OR quazi-experiment* OR quasi- random* OR quazirandom* OR quazi-random* OR quasi- control* OR quazicontrol* OR quazi-control*) OR AB ("randomized controlled trial" OR "controlled clinical trial" OR randomized OR randomised OR randomization OR randomisation OR placebo OR randomly OR trial OR trials OR groups OR "single blind" OR "single blinded" OR "double blind" OR "double-blinded OR nonrandom* OR non-random * OR quasiexperiment* OR quasi-experiment* OR quazi-experiment* OR quasiexperiment* OR quasi-experiment* OR quazi-random* OR quasiexperiment* OR quasi-experiment* OR quazi-random* OR quasiexperiment* OR quasi-experiment* OR quazi-experiment* OR quazi- experiment* OR quasi-experiment* OR quazi-random* OR quazi-random* OR quasi-control* OR quazi-random* OR quazi-control*)	
#12	S10 AND S11	758
#13	S12 NOT PT ( Abstract OR Book OR Book Chapter OR Book Review OR Case Study OR Commentary OR Editorial OR Letter OR Masters Thesis OR Pamphlet OR Pamphlet Chapter OR Poetry )	738

# **APPENDIX B. STUDY CHARACTERISTICS**

Study	Sample Size Condition Targeted	Population Mean Age Female % Race %	Index Rehabilitation Program Characteristics (Duration)	Adherence Adjunct Characteristics (Frequency, Duration)	Outcomes Assessed	Risk of Bias Funding Source Conflict Declared
Concurrently	Delivered A	djunct Adherenc	e Interventions			
Bennell, 2017 <sup>25</sup>	N=168 Knee OA	Median age: 62.3 Women: 63%	5 sessions focused on quad and hip strengthening	Coaching, motivation, self- efficacy, and therapeutic alliance	Adherence, Physical function, Adverse events	Low risk Supported by the
		Race: NR	(6 months)	(6 telephone coaching sessions over 6 months with the option for 6 more for total of 12)		Medical Research Council
						Primary author declared conflict
Pisters, 2010 <sup>26</sup>	N=200 Hip OA,	Median age: 65.0	Maximum of 18 individual usual care	Eighteen sessions behavioral graded activity over 12 weeks	Adherence, Physical function	Some concerns
	Knee OA	Women: 77%physical therapy sessions+ up to 7 booster sessionsRace: NRsessionsover the next year focused on	None listed			
			(3 months)	barriers, support, and integrating change into daily living		No conflicts declared
Study	Sample Size Condition Targeted	Population Mean Age Female % Race %	Index Rehabilitation Program Characteristics (Duration)	Adherence Adjunct Characteristics (Frequency, Duration)	Outcomes Assessed	Risk of Bias Funding Source Conflict Declared
---------------------------------	---	--	---	--	---------------------------------	---
Brosseau, 2012 <sup>18</sup>	N=222 Knee OA	Median age: 63.4 Women: 68.9% Race: 89% White, 2.3% Black, 3.6% Hispanic, 4.5% Asian or Pacific Islander	Community-based supervised aerobic walking program. All provided with pedometers and log books to track physical activity. Three weekly sessions (12 months)	Twenty group sessions: short/long-term goal setting and instructional sessions about benefits of physical activity and in-person monthly sessions with moral support. Goal setting and telephone counselling were also provided. (32 sessions possible over 12 months)	Adherence, Self- efficacy	Patient reported: High Objective: Low Canadian Institute of Health Research (CIHR) No conflicts declared
Ben-Ami, 2017 <sup>19</sup>	N=220 Low back pain	Median age: 42.0 Women: 54% Race: NR	Usual care physical therapy (3 months)	Enhanced transtheoretical model intervention: focused on motivation/self-efficacy, mutual decision-making about recreational aerobic activity; could offer up to 4 specific back exercises (1 initial evaluation, at least 2 follow-ups over an estimated 3 months)	Adherence, Physical function	Serious risk Maccabi Healthcare Services in Israel No conflicts declared
Lonsdale, 2017 <sup>24</sup>	N= 255 Low back pain	Median age: 45.4 Women: 54% Race: NR	Usual care physical therapy (3 months)	Communication training for providers included self- determination theory, implementing communication strategies, simulated treatment sessions, role play, goal setting, group sessions and email follow-up (8 hours of training)	Adherence	High risk Health registration board of Ireland Author declared conflicts

Study	Sample Size Condition Targeted	Population Mean Age Female % Race %	Index Rehabilitation Program Characteristics (Duration)	Adherence Adjunct Characteristics (Frequency, Duration)	Outcomes Assessed	Risk of Bias Funding Source Conflict Declared
Friedrich, 1998 <sup>27</sup>	N=93 Low back	Median age: 44.1	Rehabilitation consisted of a	Same exercise program as comparator + counseling	Adherence, Physical function,	High risk
Companion:	pain	Women: 50% Race: NR	submaximal graded exercise program for	covering: 1) information strategies including	Self-efficacy	None listed
Friedrich 2005 <sup>28</sup>			10 sessionsadherence, 2) reinforcement, 3) treatment contract, 4)(approximately 1 month)placing treatment contract in prominent place, 5) exercise diary			No conflicts declared
Sequentially	Delivered Ad	djunct Adherence	e Interventions			
Bennell, 2020 <sup>20</sup>	N=110 Knee OA	N=110 Median age: Knee OA 62.3 Women: 67% Race: NR	5 physical therapy sessions	One-way text messages	Adherence, Physical function,	Low risk
			(3 months)	(5 messages weekly for 24 weeks)	Adverse events	National Health and Medical Research Council Program Grant
						First author declared conflicts
Quicke, 2017 <sup>22</sup>	N=514 Knee OP	N=514 Median age: Knee OP 62.8 Women: 51% Race: NR	Up to 4 one-on-one sessions with	Adherence toolkit: self- monitoring, diaries, and follow-	Adherence, Physical function,	Some concerns
			, physical therapist	up adherence sessions	Adverse events, Self- efficacy	National Institute for Health Research
			(3 months)	(8-10 contacts over 6 months)		
						No conflicts declared

Evidence Synthesis Program

Sample Size Condition Targeted	Population Mean Age Female % Race %	Index Rehabilitation Program Characteristics (Duration)	Adherence Adjunct Characteristics (Frequency, Duration)	Outcomes Assessed	Risk of Bias Funding Source Conflict Declared
N=104 Hip OA	Median age: 65.2 Women: 82% Race: 60% White	Tailored supervised strength training exercise program (1.5 months)	Computer-based telephone counseling with assessment of behavior, goal setting, lapsing information. Alerts to the study team when the participants experienced bad pain or an extended lapse in exercise.	Adherence, Physical function	High risk National Institute of Disability, Independent Living, and Rehabilitation
			(Weekly call for first 6 months, then monthly for next 18 months)		No conflicts declared
N=78 Knee OA	Median age: 62.1 Women: 54% Race: NR	14 physical therapy visits over 12 weeks. 2 sessions in first week and then 1 session per week after. Patients completed a quad strengthening program or a neuromuscular exercise program	Booster sessions (2 additional sessions over 24 weeks)	Adherence, Physical function, Adverse events	High risk Supported by the National Health and Medical Research Council No conflicts declared
	Sample Size Condition Targeted N=104 Hip OA	Sample Size Condition TargetedPopulation Mean Age Female % Race %N=104 Hip OAMedian age: 65.2 Women: 82% Race: 60% WhiteN=78 Knee OAMedian age: 62.1 Women: 54% Race: NR	Sample Size Condition TargetedPopulation Mean Age Female % Race %Index Rehabilitation Program Characteristics (Duration)N=104 Hip OAMedian age: 65.2 Women: 82% Race: 60% WhiteTailored supervised strength training exercise program (1.5 months)N=78 Knee OAMedian age: 62.1 Women: 54% Race: NRTailored supervised strength training exercise program (1.5 months)N=78 Knee OAMedian age: 62.1 Women: 54% Race: NR14 physical therapy visits over 12 weeks. 2 sessions in first week and then 1 session per week after. Patients completed a quad strengthening program or a neuromuscular exercise program	Sample Size Condition TargetedPopulation Mean Age Female % Race %Index Rehabilitation Program Characteristics (Duration)Adherence Adjunct Characteristics (Frequency, Duration)N=104 Hip OAMedian age: 65.2 Women: 82% Race: 60% WhiteTailored supervised strength training exercise program (1.5 months)Computer-based telephone counseling with assessment of behavior, goal setting, lapsing information. Alerts to the study team when the participants experienced bad pain or an extended lapse in exercise.N=78 Knee OAMedian age: 62.1 Women: 54% Race: NR14 physical therapy visits over 12 weeks. 	Sample Size Condition TargetedPopulation Mean Age Female % Race %Index Rehabilitation Program Characteristics (Duration)Adherence Adjunct Characteristics (Frequency, Duration)Outcomes AssessedN=104 Hip OAMedian age: 65.2 Women: 82% Race: 60% WhiteTailored supervised strength training exercise program (1.5 months)Computer-based telephone counseling with assessment of behavior, goal setting, lapsing information. Alerts to the study team when the participants experienced bad pain or an extended lapse in exercise.Adherence, Physical functionN=78 Knee OAMedian age: 62.1 Women: 54% Race: NR14 physical therapy visits over 12 weeks. 2 sessions in first week and then 1 session per week after. Patients completed a quad strengthening program or a neuromuscular exercise programAdherence, Physical functionN=78 Knee OAMedian age: 62.1 Women: 54% Race: NR14 physical therapy visits over 12 weeks. 2 sessions in first week and then 1 session per week after. Patients completed a quad strengthening program or a neuromuscular exercise programAdherence, Physical function, Adverse events0months)3 months)

*Notes.* Two studies reported adjunct components that both overlapped the rehabilitation intervention and continued sequentially after the rehabilitation ended.<sup>22,26</sup> *Abbreviations.* OA=Osteoarthritis.

# **APPENDIX C. INTERVENTION CHARACTERISTICS**

Study	Index Rehabilitation Program	Adjunct Intervention Components	Intervention Timing	Type of Provider	# BCTs Described
Condition		Duration			
	Duration	Fidelity	Theory or Conceptual Approach	Mode	
Concurrently D	Delivered Adjunct Adherend	ce Interventions			
Bennell, 2017 <sup>25</sup>	5 (30 minute) sessions over 6 months focused on quad and hip strengthening and	Coaching, motivation, self-efficacy, and therapeutic alliance	Concurrent HealthChange	Physical therapist, Nurse, Psychologist, Occupational therapist Telephone	Adjunct intervention group: 13
	prescription for evidence-based progressive individualized home	6 months with the option for 6 more (for a total of 12)	( <i>ie</i> , motivational interviewing, cognitive behavioral		Control group: 11
	exercise program	Most attended all 5 therapy sessions; 4.4 (SD 1.2) intervention vs 4.3 (SD 1.4) control; overall mean fidelity of coaches on calls 7.1 (SD 0.6) out of 10	therapy, and solution focused coaching)		
Pisters, 2010 <sup>26</sup>	Maximum of 18 sessions (30 minute)	Behavioral exercise program with additional booster sessions focused on	Concurrent	Physiotherapists	Adjunct intervention
Knee/Hip OA	individual sessions with patient functioning, addressing barriers, support, and integrating change into dail		Operant conditioning	In-person	group: 12
·	(intervention arm received behavioral	living	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		Control group: 10
	exercise program vs usual PT care in comparator arm)	Additional 7 booster sessions over 5 weeks			
	3 months	17% deviated from trial protocol; intervention average 9.8 of 18 sessions (SD 3.5) vs 11.7 (SD 4.3) over 12 weeks			

Evidence Synthesis Program

Study	Index Rehabilitation Program	Adjunct Intervention Components	Intervention Timing	Type of Provider	# BCTs Described
Condition		Duration			
	Duration	Fidelity	Theory or Conceptual Approach	Mode	
Brosseau, 2012 <sup>18</sup>	Community-based supervised aerobic	20 (2 hour) group sessions: short/long- term goal setting and instructional	Concurrent	Not reported	Adjunct intervention
Knee OA	provided with	activity and in-person monthly sessions	Not reported	In-person and telephone	group. 9
	pedometers and log books to track physical activity. Three (65	with moral support. Goal setting and telephone counselling were also provided.			Walking control group: 5
	minute) weekly sessions.	32 sessions possible over 12 months			
	12 months	NR			
Ben-Ami, 2017 <sup>19</sup>	Usual care physical therapy	Counseling included minimum of 2 (20-30 minute) one-on-one sessions with no	Concurrent	Physical therapist	Adjunct intervention
Ohnenia Law	0	upper limit. Sessions focused on motivation/self-efficacy, mutual decision-	Transtheoretical	In-person	group: 17
Back Pain	3 monuns	making about recreational aerobic activity; could offer up to 4 specific back exercises	model		Control group: 9
		One 40 min initial evaluation, at least two 1:1 20-30 min follow-ups			
		65% intervention group completed treatment vs 45% control group			

Evidence Synthesis Program

Study	Index Rehabilitation Program	Adjunct Intervention Components	Intervention Timing	Type of Provider	# BCTs Described
Condition		Duration			
	Duration	Fidelity	Theory or Conceptual Approach	Mode	
Lonsdale, 2017 <sup>24</sup>	Usual care physical therapy	Communication training for providers included self-determination theory,	Concurrent	Physical therapist	Adjunct intervention
Chronic Low	3 months	implementing communication strategies, simulated treatment sessions, role play,	Self-determination	In-person	group: 12
Back Pain	5 11011113	goal setting, group sessions and email follow-up	lieory		Control group: 9
		Physical therapists received 8 hours of training			
		Planned for use of blinded accelerometers but didn't use 2/2 participant burden; convenience sample of 24 patients to evaluate support provision – found large positive effect of training d = 2.27			
Friedrich, 1998 <sup>27</sup>	Rehabilitation consisted of a submaximal graded	Counseling elements included 1) information, 2) reinforcement, 3)	Concurrent	Physical therapist	Adjunct intervention
Companion: Friedrich 2005	exercise program for 10 (25 minute) sessions.	treatment contract, 4) placing treatment contract in prominent place, 5) exercise	Not reported	In-person	group: 18
	1 month	diary.			Control group: 8
Chronic Low Back Pain		10 (25-minute) sessions over approximately 5 weeks			
		Intervention arm: 81.8% treatment sessions vs 51% control			

Study	Index Rehabilitation Program	Adjunct Intervention Components	Intervention Timing	Type of Provider	# BCTs Described
Condition		Duration			
	Duration	Fidelity	Theory or Conceptual Approach	Mode	
Sequentially De	elivered Adjunct Adherence	e Interventions			
Bennell, 2020 <sup>20</sup>	Five (30-40 minute) physical therapy	24 weeks of automated, semi-interactive text messages	Sequential	Physical therapist	Adjunct intervention
Knee OA	sessions included non- weight-bearing exercise aimed at the quads and functional weight-	Up to 5 text messages weekly for 24 weeks	COM-B (capability, opportunity, and	Test messages	group: 26 BCTs Control group: 11
bearing exercises aime at hips and quads/hamstrings.		2 in intervention arm stopped SMS messages; mean messages 57.9 (9.1) total (total range 46-58); reply rate to self- reporting home sessions 66% (SD 34%)	motivation)	otivation)	
	3 months				
Quicke, 2017 <sup>22</sup>	Up to 4 one-on-one sessions with physical	Adherence toolkit: self-monitoring, diaries, and follow-up adherence sessions	Sequential	Physical therapist	Adjunct intervention
0	therapist		Self-efficacy and	In-person and	group:11
Companion: Hay 2018 <sup>62</sup>	3 months	8-10 contacts over 6 months	self-regulation theory	telephone	Control group: 7
Knee OA		7.6% received no PT (6.9% control, 7.4% intervention group); control group had fewer sessions than intervention: median 3 (IQR 2-4) vs 7 (4-8); control received 89% in line with protocol vs 48% in intervention group			

Evidence Synthesis Program

Study	Index Rehabilitation Program	Adjunct Intervention Components	Intervention Timing	Type of Provider	# BCTs Described
Condition		Duration			
	Duration	Fidelity	Theory or Conceptual Approach	Mode	
Baker, 2020 <sup>21</sup>	Tailored supervised strength training	Monthly motivational adherence counseling telephone calls: Assessment	Sequential	Exercise physiologists,	Adjunct intervention
Knee OA	exercise program. Participants were asked to continue the program for 2 years following the run-in period.	of behavior, goal setting, overcoming barriers to exercise, lapsing information, alerts to the study team when the participants experienced bad pain or an extended lapse in exercise; optional booster session	Transtheoretical module, social cognitive theory, self-efficacy	physical therapists, interventionists Telephone	group: 14 BCTs Control group: 9 BCTs
	1.5 months				
		Weekly call for first 6 months, then monthly for next 18 months			
		Specifics of compliance not given; only a few used booster sessions from each arm			
Bennell, 2014 <sup>23</sup>	Fourteen (30-40 minute) physical therapy visits	Booster sessions	Sequential	Physical therapist	Adjunct intervention
Knee OA	over 12 weeks. 2 sessions in first week	2 additional 30-minute sessions over 24 weeks	Not reported	In person	group: 11
-	and then 1 session per				Control group: 9
	week after. Patients completed a quad strengthening program or a neuromuscular exercise program.	In intervention group: 63% attended both, 25% only 1, 12% neither			
	3 months				

*Notes.* Two studies reported adjunct components that both overlapped the rehabilitation intervention and continued sequentially after the rehabilitation ended.<sup>22,26</sup> *Abbreviations.* OA=Osteoarthritis.

## **APPENDIX D. EXCLUDED STUDIES**

Exclude reasons: 1=Non-OECD, 2=Ineligible population, 3=Ineligible comparator, 4=Ineligible outcome, 5=Ineligible intervention, 5=Ineligible timing, 6=Ineligible study design.

Citation	Exclude Reason
Aliyu, 2018 <sup>1</sup>	1
Bagheri, 2020 <sup>2</sup>	1
Buchner, 2006 <sup>3</sup>	2
Canaway, 2018 <sup>4</sup>	4
Chen, 2020 <sup>5</sup>	1
Chen, 2016 <sup>6</sup>	2
Cheung, 2016 <sup>7</sup>	3
Christiansen, 2020 <sup>8</sup>	2
Christiansen, 2010 <sup>9</sup>	4
Coppack, 2012 <sup>10</sup>	6
Davergne, 2019 <sup>11</sup>	2
De Oliveira Silva, 2020 <sup>12</sup>	2
Elbadawy, 2017 <sup>13</sup>	1
Focht, 2014 <sup>14</sup>	3
Garver, 2011 <sup>15</sup>	3
Gay, 2020 <sup>16</sup>	3
George, 2010 <sup>17</sup>	3
Geraghty, 2018 <sup>18</sup>	5
Godges, 2008 <sup>19</sup>	2
Gohner, 2006 <sup>20</sup>	2
Hay, 2018 <sup>21</sup>	7
Hugli, 2015 <sup>22</sup>	5
Hunt, 2013 <sup>23</sup>	4
lles, 2011 <sup>24</sup>	2
Jacobson, 2015 <sup>25</sup>	5
Jensen, 2001 <sup>26</sup>	2
Jensen, 2012 <sup>27</sup>	3
Jessep, 2009 <sup>28</sup>	3
Johansson, 2009 <sup>29</sup>	2
Kaapa, 2006 <sup>30</sup>	5
Karvannan, 2012 <sup>31</sup>	1
Keefe, 2004 <sup>32</sup>	4
Keefe, 1999 <sup>33</sup>	5
Kerns, 2014 <sup>34</sup>	3
King, 2008 <sup>35</sup>	3

Citation	Exclude Reason
Krein, 2013 <sup>36</sup>	3
Ledingham, 2020 <sup>37</sup>	3
Li, 2020 <sup>38</sup>	3
Lonsdale, 2012 <sup>39</sup>	3
Marconcin, 2021 <sup>40</sup>	5
Meng, 2017 <sup>41</sup>	3
Monticone, 2021 <sup>42</sup>	2
Nelligan, 2019 <sup>43</sup>	7
Nelson, 2020 <sup>44</sup>	2
Nicolson, 2018 <sup>45</sup>	3
O'Brien, 2013 <sup>46</sup>	4
O'Neill, 2020 <sup>47</sup>	5
Palmer, 2014 <sup>48</sup>	5
Patel, 2014 <sup>49</sup>	4
Pelle, 2021 <sup>50</sup>	3
Penttinen, 2002 <sup>51</sup>	4
Pires, 2020 <sup>52</sup>	3
Reilly, 1989 <sup>53</sup>	5
Rejeski, 1997 <sup>54</sup>	3
Rini, 2015 <sup>55</sup>	3
Ronzi, 2017 <sup>56</sup>	4
Şahin Onat, 2013 <sup>57</sup>	4
Schiltenwolf, 2006 <sup>58</sup>	5
Shimo, 2021 <sup>59</sup>	4
Smeets, 2006 <sup>60</sup>	5
Smeets, 2008 <sup>61</sup>	3
Steinhilber, 2012 <sup>62</sup>	2
Storro, 2004 <sup>63</sup>	3
Suzuki, 2019 <sup>64</sup>	2
Thomas, 2002 <sup>65</sup>	5
Van Dillen, 2016 <sup>66</sup>	2
van Dulmen, 2014 <sup>67</sup>	1
Vong, 2011 <sup>68</sup>	3
Walsh, 2013 <sup>69</sup>	2
Willett, 2017 <sup>70</sup>	3

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Aliyu FY, Wasiu AA, Bello B. Effects of a combined lumbar stabilization exercise and cognitive behavioral therapy on selected variables of individuals with non-specific low back pain: A randomized clinical trial. *Fisioterapia*. 2018;40(5):257-264.
- 2. Bagheri R, Hedayati R, Ehsani F, Hemati-Boruojeni N, Abri A, Taghizadeh Delkhosh C. Cognitive Behavioral Therapy With Stabilization Exercises Affects Transverse Abdominis Muscle Thickness in Patients With Chronic Low Back Pain: A Double-Blinded Randomized Trial Study. *Journal of Manipulative & Physiological Therapeutics*. 2020;43(5):418-428.
- 3. Buchner M, Zahlten-Hinguranage A, Schiltenwolf M, Neubauer E. Therapy outcome after multidisciplinary treatment for chronic neck and chronic low back pain: A prospective clinical study in 365 patients. *Scandinavian Journal of Rheumatology*. 2006;35(5):363-367.
- 4. Canaway A, Pincus T, Underwood M, Shapiro Y, Chodick G, Ben-Ami N. Is an enhanced behaviour change intervention cost-effective compared with physiotherapy for patients with chronic low back pain? Results from a multicentre trial in Israel. *BMJ Open.* 2018;8(4):e019928.
- 5. Chen H, Wang Y, Liu C, et al. Benefits of a transtheoretical model-based program on exercise adherence in older adults with knee osteoarthritis: A cluster randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*. 2020;76(7):1765-1779.
- 6. Chen M, Li P, Lin F. Influence of structured telephone follow-up on patient compliance with rehabilitation after total knee arthroplasty. *Patient preference & adherence*. 2016;10:257-264.
- 7. Cheung C, Wyman JF, Savik K. Adherence to a Yoga Program in Older Women with Knee Osteoarthritis. *Journal of Aging & Physical Activity*. 2016;24(2):181-188.
- 8. Christiansen MB, Thoma LM, Master H, et al. Feasibility and Preliminary Outcomes of a Physical Therapist–Administered Physical Activity Intervention After Total Knee Replacement. *Arthritis Care and Research*. 2020;72(5):661-668.
- 9. Christiansen S, Oettingen G, Dahme B, Klinger R. A short goal-pursuit intervention to improve physical capacity: a randomized clinical trial in chronic back pain patients. *Pain*. 2010;149(3):444-452.
- 10. Coppack RJ, Kristensen J, Karageorghis CI. Use of a goal setting intervention to increase adherence to low back pain rehabilitation: a randomized controlled trial. *Clinical Rehabilitation*. 2012;26(11):1032-1042.
- Davergne T, Pallot A, Dechartres A, Fautrel B, Gossec L. Use of Wearable Activity Trackers to Improve Physical Activity Behavior in Patients With Rheumatic and Musculoskeletal Diseases: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Arthritis Care and Research.* 2019;71(6):758-767.
- 12. De Oliveira Silva D, Pazzinatto MF, Crossley KM, Azevedo FM, Barton CJ. Novel Stepped Care Approach to Provide Education and Exercise Therapy for Patellofemoral Pain: Feasibility Study. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*. 2020;22(7):e18584.
- 13. Elbadawy MA. Effectiveness of Periosteal Stimulation Therapy and Home Exercise Program in the Rehabilitation of Patients With Advanced Knee Osteoarthritis. *Clinical Journal of Pain.* 2017;33(3):254-263.
- 14. Focht BC, Garver MJ, Devor ST, et al. Group-mediated physical activity promotion and mobility in sedentary patients with knee osteoarthritis: Results from the IMPACT-pilot trial. *Journal of Rheumatology*. 2014;41(10):2068-2077.



- 15. Garver MJ. *Improving Maintenance of Physical Activity Trial (IMPACT-P)*, Ohio State University; 2011.
- 16. Gay C, Guiguet-Auclair C, Coste N, et al. Limited effect of a self-management exercise program added to spa therapy for increasing physical activity in patients with knee osteoarthritis: A quasi-randomized controlled trial. *Annals of Physical & Rehabilitation Medicine*. 2020;63(3):181-188.
- 17. George SZ, Wittmer VT, Fillingim RB, Robinson ME. Comparison of graded exercise and graded exposure clinical outcomes for patients with chronic low back pain. *Journal* of Orthopaedic & Sports Physical Therapy. 2010;40(11):694-704.
- 18. Geraghty AWA, Stanford R, Stuart B, et al. Using an internet intervention to support selfmanagement of low back pain in primary care: findings from a randomised controlled feasibility trial (SupportBack). *BMJ Open.* 2018;8(3):e016768.
- 19. Godges JJ, Anger MA, Zimmerman G, Delitto A. Effects of education on return-to-work status for people with fear-avoidance beliefs and acute low back pain. *Physical Therapy*. 2008;88(2):231-239.
- 20. Gohner W, Schlicht W. Preventing chronic back pain: evaluation of a theory-based cognitive-behavioural training programme for patients with subacute back pain. *Patient Education & Counseling*. 2006;64(1-3):87-95.
- 21. Hay E, Dziedzic K, Foster N, et al. *NIHR Journals Library. Programme Grants for Applied Research.* 2018;7:7.
- 22. Hugli AS, Ernst MJ, Kool J, et al. Adherence to home exercises in non-specific low back pain. A randomised controlled pilot trial. *Journal of Bodywork & Movement Therapies*. 2015;19(1):177-185.
- 23. Hunt MA, Keefe FJ, Bryant C, et al. A physiotherapist-delivered, combined exercise and pain coping skills training intervention for individuals with knee osteoarthritis: a pilot study. *Knee*. 2013;20(2):106-112.
- 24. Iles R, Taylor NF, Davidson M, O'Halloran P. Telephone coaching can increase activity levels for people with non-chronic low back pain: a randomised trial. *Journal of Physiotherapy*. 2011;57(4):231-238.
- 25. Jacobson EE, Meleger AL, Bonato P, et al. Structural integration as an adjunct to outpatient rehabilitation for chronic nonspecific low back pain: a randomized pilot clinical trial. *Evidence-Based Complementary & Alternative Medicine: eCAM.* 2015;2015:813418.
- 26. Jensen IB, Bergstrom G, Ljungquist T, Bodin L, Nygren AL. A randomized controlled component analysis of a behavioral medicine rehabilitation program for chronic spinal pain: are the effects dependent on gender? *Pain.* 2001;91(1-2):65-78.
- 27. Jensen LD, Maribo T, Schiottz-Christensen B, et al. Counselling low-back-pain patients in secondary healthcare: a randomised trial addressing experienced workplace barriers and physical activity. *Occupational & Environmental Medicine*. 2012;69(1):21-28.
- 28. Jessep SA, Walsh NE, Ratcliffe J, Hurley MV. Long-term clinical benefits and costs of an integrated rehabilitation programme compared with outpatient physiotherapy for chronic knee pain. *Physiotherapy*. 2009;95(2):94-102.
- 29. Johansson AC, Linton SJ, Bergkvist L, Nilsson O, Cornefjord M. Clinic-based training in comparison to home-based training after first-time lumbar disc surgery: a randomised controlled trial. *European Spine Journal*. 2009;18(3):398-409.
- 30. Kaapa EH, Frantsi K, Sarna S, Malmivaara A. Multidisciplinary group rehabilitation versus individual physiotherapy for chronic nonspecific low back pain: a randomized trial. *Spine*. 2006;31(4):371-376.



- 31. Karvannan H, Maiya AG, Chakravarty RD, et al. Effectiveness of behavior graded activity on exercise adherence and physical activity in hip and knee osteoarthritis A systematic review. *Indian Journal of Rheumatology*. 2012;7(3):141-146.
- 32. Keefe FJ, Blumenthal J, Baucom D, et al. Effects of spouse-assisted coping skills training and exercise training in patients with osteoarthritic knee pain: a randomized controlled study. *Pain.* 2004;110(3):539-549.
- 33. Keefe FJ, Caldwell DS, Baucom D, et al. Spouse-assisted coping skills training in the management of knee pain in osteoarthritis: Long-term follow-up results. *Arthritis Care and Research*. 1999;12(2):101-111.
- 34. Kerns RD, Burns JW, Shulman M, et al. Can we improve cognitive-behavioral therapy for chronic back pain treatment engagement and adherence? A controlled trial of tailored versus standard therapy. *Health Psychology*. 2014;33(9):938-947.
- 35. King LK, Birmingham TB, Kean CO, Jones IC, Bryant DM, Giffin JR. Resistance training for medial compartment knee osteoarthritis and malalignment. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*. 2008;40(8):1376-1384.
- 36. Krein SL, Kadri R, Hughes M, et al. Pedometer-based internet-mediated intervention for adults with chronic low back pain: randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*. 2013;15(8):e181.
- 37. Ledingham A, Cohn ES, Baker KR, Keysor JJ. Exercise adherence: beliefs of adults with knee osteoarthritis over 2 years. *Physiotherapy Theory & Practice*. 2020;36(12):1363-1378.
- 38. Li LC, Feehan LM, Xie H, et al. Effects of a 12-Week Multifaceted Wearable-Based Program for People With Knee Osteoarthritis: Randomized Controlled Trial. *JMIR Mhealth and Uhealth*. 2020;8(7):e19116.
- 39. Lonsdale C, Hall AM, Williams GC, et al. Communication style and exercise compliance in physiotherapy (CONNECT): a cluster randomized controlled trial to test a theory-based intervention to increase chronic low back pain patients' adherence to physiotherapists' recommendations: study rationale, design, and methods. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*. 2012;13:104.
- 40. Marconcin P, Yazigi F, Teles J, Campos P, Espanha M. The effectiveness of a randomised clinical trial of PLE<sup>2</sup> NO self-management and exercise programme for knee osteoarthritis to improve self-efficacy. *Musculoskeletal Care*. 2021;02:02.
- 41. Meng K, Peters S, Faller H. Effectiveness of a standardized back school program for patients with chronic low back pain after implementation in routine rehabilitation care. *Patient Education & Counseling.* 2017;100(6):1161-1168.
- 42. Monticone M, Ambrosini E, Portoghese I, Rocca B. Multidisciplinary program based on early management of psychological factors reduces disability of patients with subacute low back pain. Results of a randomised controlled study with one year follow-up. *European journal of physical & rehabilitation medicine*. 2021;05:05.
- 43. Nelligan RK, Hinman RS, Kasza J, et al. Effect of a short message service (SMS) intervention on adherence to a physiotherapist-prescribed home exercise program for people with knee osteoarthritis and obesity: protocol for the ADHERE randomised controlled trial. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*. 2019;20(1):428.
- 44. Nelson M, Bourke M, Crossley K, Russell T. Telerehabilitation is non-inferior to usual care following total hip replacement a randomized controlled non-inferiority trial. *Physiotherapy*. 2020;107:19-27.

- 45. Nicolson PJA, Hinman RS, French SD, Lonsdale C, Bennell KL. Improving Adherence to Exercise: Do People With Knee Osteoarthritis and Physical Therapists Agree on the Behavioral Approaches Likely to Succeed? *Arthritis care & research*. 2018;70(3):388-397.
- 46. O'Brien D, Bassett S, McNair P. The effect of action and coping plans on exercise adherence in people with lower limb osteoarthritis: feasibility study. *New Zealand Journal of Physiotherapy*. 2013;41(2):49-57.
- 47. O'Neill A, O'Sullivan K, O'Sullivan P, Purtill H, O'Keeffe M. Examining what factors mediate treatment effect in chronic low back pain: A mediation analysis of a Cognitive Functional Therapy clinical trial. *European Journal of Pain.* 2020;24(9):1765-1774.
- 48. Palmer S, Domaille M, Cramp F, et al. Transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation as an adjunct to education and exercise for knee osteoarthritis: a randomized controlled trial. *Arthritis care & research*. 2014;66(3):387-394.
- 49. Patel S, Ngunjiri A, Hee SW, et al. Primum non nocere: shared informed decision making in low back pain—a pilot cluster randomised trial. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*. 2014;15:282.
- 50. Pelle T, van der Palen J, de Graaf F, van den Hoogen FHJ, Bevers K, van den Ende CHM. Use and usability of the dr. Bart app and its relation with health care utilisation and clinical outcomes in people with knee and/or hip osteoarthritis. *BMC Health Services Research*. 2021;21(1):444.
- 51. Penttinen J, Nevala-Puranen N, Airaksinen O, Jaaskelainen M, Sintonen H, Takala J. Randomized controlled trial of back school with and without peer support. *Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation*. 2002;12(1):21-29.
- 52. Pires D, Cruz EB, Costa D, Nunes C. Beyond pain and disability: an explanatory mixed methods study exploring outcomes after physiotherapy intervention in patients with chronic low back pain. *Disability & Rehabilitation*. 2020:1-10.
- 53. Reilly K, Lovejoy B, Willams R, Roth H. Differences between a supervised and independent strength and conditioning program with chronic low back syndromes. *Journal of Occupational Medicine*. 1989;31(6):547-550.
- 54. Rejeski WJ, Brawley LR, Ettinger W, Morgan T, Thompson C. Compliance to exercise therapy in older participants with knee osteoarthritis: implications for treating disability. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*. 1997;29(8):977-985.
- 55. Rini C, Porter LS, Somers TJ, et al. Automated Internet-based pain coping skills training to manage osteoarthritis pain: a randomized controlled trial. *Pain.* 2015;156(5):837-848.
- 56. Ronzi Y, Roche-Leboucher G, Begue C, et al. Efficiency of three treatment strategies on occupational and quality of life impairments for chronic low back pain patients: is the multidisciplinary approach the key feature to success? *Clinical Rehabilitation*. 2017;31(10):1364-1373.
- 57. Şahin Onat S, Ünsal Delialioğlu S, Uçar D. Exercises in the treatment of elderly patients with knee osteoarthritis: Factors affecting the efficiency of patient education. *Turk Geriatri Dergisi*. 2013;16(2):166-171.
- 58. Schiltenwolf M, Buchner M, Heindl B, Von Reumont J, Müller A, Eich W. Comparison of a biopsychosocial therapy (BT) with a conventional biomedical therapy (MT) of subacute low back pain in the first episode of sick leave: A randomized controlled trial. *European Spine Journal*. 2006;15(7):1083-1092.
- 59. Shimo K, Hasegawa M, Mizutani S, Hasegawa T, Ushida T. Effects of a 12-week workplace counseling program on physical activity and low back pain: A pilot



randomized controlled study. *Journal of Back & Musculoskeletal Rehabilitation*. 2021;30:30.

- 60. Smeets RJEM, Vlaeyen JWS, Hidding A, et al. Active rehabilitation for chronic low back pain: Cognitive-behavioral, physical, or both? First direct post-treatment results from a randomized controlled trial [ISRCTN22714229]. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*. 2006;7.
- 61. Smeets R, Vlaeyen JWS, Hidding A, Kester ADM, van der Heijden G, Knottnerus AJ. Chronic low back pain: physical training, graded activity with problem solving training, or both? The one-year post-treatment results of a randomized controlled trial. *Pain*. 2008;134(3):263-276.
- 62. Steinhilber B, Haupt G, Miller R, et al. Feasibility and efficacy of an 8-week progressive home-based strengthening exercise program in patients with osteoarthritis of the hip and/or total hip joint replacement: a preliminary trial. *Clinical Rheumatology*. 2012;31(3):511-519.
- 63. Storro S, Moen J, Svebak S. Effects on sick-leave of a multidisciplinary rehabilitation programme for chronic low back, neck or shoulder pain: comparison with usual treatment. *Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine*. 2004;36(1):12-16.
- 64. Suzuki Y, Iijima H, Tashiro Y, et al. Home exercise therapy to improve muscle strength and joint flexibility effectively treats pre-radiographic knee OA in community-dwelling elderly: a randomized controlled trial. *Clinical Rheumatology*. 2019;38(1):133-141.
- 65. Thomas KS, Muir KR, Doherty M, Jones AC, O'Reilly SC, Bassey EJ. Home based exercise programme for knee pain and knee osteoarthritis: randomised controlled trial. *BMJ*. 2002;325(7367):752.
- 66. Van Dillen LR, Norton BJ, Sahrmann SA, et al. Efficacy of classification-specific treatment and adherence on outcomes in people with chronic low back pain. A one-year follow-up, prospective, randomized, controlled clinical trial. *Manual Therapy*. 2016;24:52-64.
- 67. van Dulmen SA, Maas M, Staal JB, et al. Effectiveness of peer assessment for implementing a Dutch physical therapy low back pain guideline: cluster randomized controlled trial. *Physical Therapy*. 2014;94(10):1396-1409.
- 68. Vong SK, Cheing GL, Chan F, So EM, Chan CC. Motivational enhancement therapy in addition to physical therapy improves motivational factors and treatment outcomes in people with low back pain: a randomized controlled trial. *Archives of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation*. 2011;92(2):176-183.
- 69. Walsh N, Cramp F, Palmer S, et al. Exercise and self-management for people with chronic knee, hip or lower back pain: A cluster randomised controlled trial of clinical and cost-effectiveness. Study protocol. *Physiotherapy (United Kingdom)*. 2013;99(4):352-357.
- 70. Willett M, Duda J, Gautrey C, Fenton S, Greig C, Rushton A. Effectiveness of behavioural change techniques in physiotherapy interventions to promote physical activity adherence in patients with hip and knee osteoarthritis: a systematic review protocol. *BMJ Open.* 2017;7(6):e015833.

# **APPENDIX E. PEER REVIEW DISPOSITION**

Question Text	Reviewer Number	Comment	Response
Are the objectives,	1	Yes	
scope, and methods for this	2	Yes	
review clearly	3	Yes	
described?	4	Yes	
	5	Yes	
	6	Yes	
Is there any	1	No	
indication of bias in our synthesis of the evidence?	2	No	
	3	No	
	4	No	
	5	No	
	6	No	
Are you aware of	1	No	
any <u>published</u> or	2	No	
studies that we	3	No	
may have	4	No	
overlooked?	5	No	
	6	No	
Additional	1		
suggestions or comments can be provided below. If applicable, please indicate the page and line numbers from the draft report.	2	Executive Summary, Key Findings Page 11, 3rd bullet from top, and on page 14 key findings and strength of evidence - report states "overlap in behavior change techniques with comparator arms" - Were rationales provided in the study publications on why the BCT overlap between arms? Or adherence/maintenance was not the	We appreciate this important question. Five of the 10 unique included studies had adherence as a primary outcome or aim of the study. Of these, only one study (Bennell et al) <sup>20</sup> mentions that the intervention development was informed by the BCTs and related theory. No studies provide a rationale for the overlap. We have added this to the executive summary and the main body of the report (Key Findings and Discussion sections).

Question Text	Reviewer Number	Comment	Response
		primary aim of the trial?	
	2	Executive summary Page 11 - 7th bullet - appears to be a typo - says "imitation'" Should it be "initiation?"	Thank you, this typo has been corrected.
	2	Page 12: intervention characteristics - all were PTs who delivered intervention - did the research report	We agree that these are key details about the included studies that warrant reporting.
		training/knowledge/experience of PT in behavior change techniques? Did any of the final studies report fidelity or quality of delivery?	Little information was provided about the training of the physical therapy interventionists. Only three studies mentioned PT training and they reported on the standard of care training. <sup>19,24,27</sup> None reported training specifically about PT knowledge or familiarity with BCTs. A comment was added about this lack of available detail (see Executive Summary and main report in Intervention Characteristics sections).
			All but one study <sup>18</sup> provided some information about fidelity to intervention protocol, though the method of reporting fidelity was variable. There was no clear pattern between higher reported fidelity and intervention effect. We have added this information to Appendix C.
	2	Page 15 - Lines 20-23 "Overall we determined there was low certainty that adjunctive intervention components have no effect on the adherence	We have clarified the wording of the certainty of evidence statement in the key findings and strength of evidence section of the executive summary to read:
		A CONFUSING STATEMENT -do you mean your team could not conclude that actually no effect exists on adherence or low certainty of any effect existing on adherence??	"Overall, based on GRADE criteria, we found low certainty of evidence that there is no effect of adjunctive interventions on adherence"
	2	Page 25 lines 12 - we analyzed data narratively?? What does that mean?	We have reworded this section of the data synthesis methods in the executive summary for clarity and the passage now reads as follows:
			"Because quantitative synthesis was not feasible, we analyzed data narratively through descriptive approaches which identify patterns in

Question Text	Reviewer Number	Comment	Response
			key outcomes, comparators, intervention approaches, and other study characteristics."
	2	PAge 29 Behavior Change Techniques How was goal setting utilized? Were these clinical goals or patient self management goals? Support? The report includes very little details on the operationalization of BCTs. The authors do state often BCTs were insufficiently described in papers. (page 57)	The Behavior Change Technique Taxonomy provides extensive definitions of each of the 93 individual BCTs. There are multiple specific techniques for goal setting. For example, BCT 1.1 is related to behavioral goal setting while BCT 1.3 described a goal focused on a specific outcome. While it is beyond the scope of this report to provide granular detail about each technique, we would refer readers to the reference by Mitchie et al <sup>10</sup> for more extensive definitions. We have also added text noting that there was little detail about how individual BCTs were operationalized across the included studies (see BCT section in main report results).
	2 PAge 30 - line #16 - What is cove learning? Is this vicarious learning	PAge 30 - line #16 - What is covert learning? Is this vicarious learning?	The BCT cluster "covert learning" includes BCTs for imaginary punishment, imaginary reward, and vicarious consequences. Further detail can be found in Michie et al <sup>10</sup>
2 5	2	Overall, the authors performed rigorous methods with a limited set of eligible trials.	Thank you
	5	This manuscript focused on synthesizing the evidence regarding interventions to improve long-term adherence to physical rehabilitation among adults with hip or knee osteoarthritis or chronic low back pain. Overall, this was a well-written review and the authors used rigorous study selection and review methods. Most of my comments (outlined below) focus on additional contextualization of the literature or revisions for clarity/readability.	Thank you
	5	1. What was the length of intervention provided (not just time to the follow-up assessment) for each sequentially delivered adjunct adherence intervention (some of this info is in the appendix, but it would be helpful to have it in the main	We agree fully that intervention dose plays an important role in behavior maintenance. The duration of contact across the sequentially delivered interventions was 6 months for 3 of the 4 sequential studies and 2 years for the 4 <sup>th</sup> . The frequency of contact during the intervention period ranged from 2 contacts over 6 months to 42 contacts over 2 years. As noted by the reviewer, the one

Question Text	Reviewer Number	Comment	Response
Question Text		paper)? For example, it is described that the Bennell et al study (which showed an effect) was delivered weekly for 24 weeks, which represents weekly contact throughout the 6-month follow-up period. Another intervention is described as including two booster sessions; however, the frequency/duration of contact in the other studies is not described. This might be important as, in other health behavior change areas, the amount and continued nature of contact appears to be critical for promoting maintenance (e.g., in research on obesity treatment programs, provision of continued follow-up by an interventionist has been shown to promote long-term weight loss maintenance; however this effect disappears when extended-care interventions end, suggesting that a chronic disease/continuous care model may be more appropriate for continued promotion of weight loss maintenance). It would be helpful to investigate whether the frequency/duration of contact was associated with stated outcomes, and highlight this as an area of future research if a gap is identified.	sequentially delivered intervention that showed an effect was Bennell et al. <sup>20</sup> We have moved this information from the appendix into the Intervention Characteristics section of the Executive Summary and main report. Regarding the importance of the association between intervention dose and outcomes, we are unable to consider any subgroup analysis by this design feature given the small number of identified studies relevant to this question. We agree that it should be noted as a gap for future research. We have added this to the future research sections (see Table 8).
	5	2. The authors cite the Voils paper (citation 7) in several places to back up the argument that maintenance of behavior change requires fundamentally different skills than those used for initiation of behavior change. Although this has been argued in relation to several health behaviors, there still exists limited / preliminary data to back up this model. The Voils paper cited is	We appreciate the reviewer's comment and agree we did not provide full support for our argument. While the study of Voils et al that we cited is a pilot study, it is one that incorporated over a decade of research and foundational thought into the development of a new framework. Examples of prior work contributing to this concept including work by Kwasnicka et al, Greaves et al, and Howlett et al. <sup>13,39-41</sup> In addition, the framework from Voils' paper has been subsequently used in well-powered trials which have gone on to demonstrate positive effect (Voils et al, 2017). <sup>37,38</sup> We have added these citations to the discussion section of the main report as well.

Question Text	Reviewer Number	Comment	Response
		only a pilot trial and by itself does not provide the level of evidence necessary to support this argument as it is written in the paper. Consider presenting more nuance within this argument, highlighting gaps in this area as another potential area for future research.	
	5	Other comments by section: 3. Data synthesis, page 14: the authors note "standardized mean differenceswere calculated as the difference in change from the end of rehabilitation program between arms." Please clarify how these were calculated (e.g., typically this means dividing means by SDs, was this done? Were SDs available in all articles?). For which studies were all data available and for which did you have to make assumptions based on baseline data?	We have added further details to the methods section describing how standardized mean differences were calculated for all studies in forest plots using the pooled standard deviation. One study <sup>23</sup> , provided SD as a function of change directly. For all other studies, we computed SD of change from after-treatment to follow-up assuming correlation of 0.5 between after-treatment SD and follow-up SD. For two studies <sup>19,24</sup> , we used mean change from baseline to after-treatment and the baseline mean (and corresponding SDs) to compute after-treatment mean change and SD (assuming 0.5 correlation between baseline and after-treatment measurements). We computed follow-up mean and SD the same way. Details have been added to the Key Outcomes of Interest results section of the main report.
	5	4. The discussion describes issues with missing outcome data; however, it is unclear from the results how much data were missing and whether missing data procedures were used (this could also represent another important future direction for research).	Thank you, we have highlighted missing data as a key contributor to study ratings of high risk of bias in the quality of the evidence section of the results.
	5	5. Also in the discussion, it would be helpful to provide more information on the categories of BCTs/individual BCTs that were not included in reviewed	We discuss categories of BCTs that may be useful for future research that were not well represented in our included studies in the "Future Intervention Design Considerations" on page 65. Some

Question Text	estion Text Reviewer Comment Number		Response	
		interventions as potential areas for future research.	examples include social support, behavioral contracts, intention to perform exercises, and the use of rewards.	
	5	6. In Appendix E, it would be helpful to provide more detail on what each BCT is (vs. just giving the #) so that readers do not have to reference another paper to understand which BCTs were included/which were excluded.	Thank you, the BCT domains have been added to this appendix (Appendix F in the final report).	
	5	7. Figure 1: I find this figure confusing / hard to follow – I'm not sure what it adds beyond the text, and the use of boxes and arrows could potentially mislead readers to assume that moderation and mediation pathways are being described (these may be appropriate, but should be discussed in the text as well).	For our reports, we include a visual representation of an analytic framework, as opposed to a conceptual model, using standardized nomenclature for systematic reviews. We agree that the previous version was somewhat confusing and could be interpreted to imply that the listed intermediate outcomes were mediators of the distal health outcomes. We have reworked this figure and clarified the associated text.	
	5	8. Table 7: I do not understand why there are studies separated out within rows (e.g., under adherence 3 to 6 months, 4 RCTs are in one row while another RCT is in another); shouldn't certainty of evidence summarize certainty across ALL of these studies, combined?	Thank you. Randomized and nonrandomized designs are not combined as per GRADE guidance. <sup>17</sup> Studies reporting dichotomous outcomes could not be combined with studies reporting continuous outcomes. This clarification has been added to the report (rating the body of evidence methods section and table 7 notes).	
	5	9. Table 8: The first bullet point is a full sentence but the remaining bullet points are not; it would be helpful for readability to pick one format and stick with it. Similarly, some of the bullet points identify gaps (missing research in the field) while others seem more like they are suggesting solutions (e.g., suggesting specific new areas). Consider clarifying how gaps are described (for further clarification between the two, could a column of	Thank you, we have standardized the bullet point formatting and clarified the language.	

Question Text	Reviewer Number	Comment	Response	
		"future directions" be added to the table?).		
	5	Other minor comments:	Thank you. We have added expansions for the acronyms.	
		10. Acronyms are used before they are defined (e.g., use of OA, ROB, BCTs, SMD in the executive summary). PICOTS is undefined.		
	5 1° m th pr • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	<ul> <li>11. There are some typos/grammatical mistakes (I've identified some below); the manuscript would benefit from close proofing. For example:</li> <li>The final bullet point in the executive summary: did the authors mean to write that "focus of differences in initiation" vs "imitation"? In this same bullet point, modifying "tailoring" to "tailor" would promote readability via parallel format across each recommendation.</li> <li>Readability would be improved by consistently writing out or using numerals consistently (e.g., "two investigators" vs "2 investigators" in Data Abstraction section on page 2).</li> <li>Readability would also be improved by consistent use of either active or passive voice.</li> <li>Page 47, line 21: there is an extra word ("studies did not have an a prior focus")</li> </ul>	Thank you. These typos have been addressed where necessary. The ESP style guide stipulates that numbers are written as numerals unless they appear at the start of a sentence.	
	6	•Page 3, line 52: adjective should be adjunctive	Thank you, we corrected this typo.	
	6	• Page 4, lines 51-54 requires further explanation – too vague	We have added further clarification by adding the specific models that specify conceptually distinct stages for initiation and long-term adherence.	
	6	• Page 47, line 21 "a prior" should be "a priori"	Thank you, we corrected this typo.	

Question Text	Reviewer Number	Comment	Response
	6	• I think the conclusions and findings are logical based on the review. I have input about self-efficacy. There are many different self-efficacy scales and self- efficacy is behavior specific. For example, the Arthritis Self-Efficacy Scale assesses a person's confidence in managing their condition (arthritis). It is a poor reflection of a person's confidence to complete their exercise home program, yet I'm guessing it was used in some of the studies for this purpose. I also wonder if in the studies that measured self-efficacy, they included specific interventions to improve self- efficacy. I looked at one of the articles cited (Bennell et al, 2020) and it doesn't appear to me that they included interventions to improve exercise self- efficacy, but it's difficult to tell. The types of interventions that should be used to improve self-efficacy for exercise include mastery experiences, vicarious experiences, verbal persuasion, and affective states. While I'm not sure this information changes your results/conclusions, it is an observation you could include that has implications for future research. You did mention that several of the self-efficacy scales were not valid and reliable; I think you could also indicate that they may not have been well-matched for the intervention, and, the interventions did not employ specific approaches to enhance self- efficacy. The fact that numerous articles found no difference between self- efficacy scores in the control and experimental groups illustrates my point.	We agree that measures of self-efficacy should be specific to the behavior in question and those used by the included studies did not all align with adherence to a home exercise program. We included all related outcomes though acknowledge this is not ideal and have clarified this in the report under key points in the discussion section of the main report. The reviewer raises an important point about the need for the inclusion of intervention components to promote self-efficacy related to completing recommended exercise regimens. At this point, there are no clear BCTs that have been identified which are clearly associated with improved self-efficacy though in the context of physical activities more BCTs seem to be associated with improved self-efficacy (Tang et al). <sup>42</sup> We have added clarity around this limitation in the report and as an area for future research.

Question Text	Reviewer Number	Comment	Response
	6	I wonder about the compounding factor of face-to-face interventions vs. telephonic or text message interventions. It seems that you lumped all approaches together. If the literature indicates that there is no difference in outcomes comparing face-to-face interventions and telephonic/SMS/computer, then I think this is a sound approach. If the literature does not support no difference, then the difference needs to be teased out.	Because the literature in the field is nascent and the volume of studies is small, it is challenging to draw comparisons for outcomes related to the face-to-face vs telephonic/text message interventions. No studies made this direct comparison. We highlight this as an evidence gap to be further explored in Table 8.

## APPENDIX F. BEHAVIOR CHANGE TECHNIQUES USED IN INCLUDED STUDIES BY INTERVENTION AND COMPARATOR GROUPS

Please refer to the main report's reference list for full citations.

Study	Index Rehabilitation	Program	Adjunct Adherence Intervention	e-Enhancing
Concurrently Deliver	red Adjunct Adherence			
Bennell 2020 <sup>20</sup>	Goals and planning (1.1,1.4) Feedback and monitoring (2.1,2.2,2.3) Shaping knowledge (4.1)	Comparison of behavior (6.1) Repetition and substitution (8.1,8.6,8.7) Comparison of outcomes (9.1)	Goals and planning (1.2,1.3) Feedback and monitoring (2.4) Social support (3.1) Shaping knowledge (4.4) Natural consequences (5.1) Comparison of behavior (6.2) Associations (7.1)	Repetition and substitution (8.3) Reward and threat (10.9) Antecedents (12.1,12.4) Self-belief (15.1,15.3,15.4)
Baker 2020 <sup>21</sup>	Goals and planning (1.1,1.4) Feedback and monitoring (2.3) Shaping knowledge (4.1) Comparison of behavior (6.1)	Repetition and substitution (8.1,8.6,8.7) Comparison of outcomes (9.1)	Goals and planning (1.2,1.5) Social support (3.1) Natural consequences (5.1) Regulation (11.2)	
Quicke 2017 <sup>22</sup>	Goals and planning (1.1,1.4) Feedback and monitoring (2.2) Shaping knowledge (4.1)	Comparison of behavior (6.1) Repetition and substitution (8.1) Generalization of a target behavior (8.6)	Goals and planning (1.2,1.8) Feedback and monitoring (2.3) Generalization of a target behavior (8.7)	
Bennell 2014 <sup>23</sup>	Goals and planning (1.1,1.4) Feedback and monitoring (2.2) Shaping knowledge (4.1) Comparison of behavior (6.1)	Repetition and substitution (8.1,8.6,8.7) Comparison of outcomes (9.1)	Goals and planning (1.2,1.5)	

Study	Index Rehabilitation	Program	Adjunct Adherend	ce-Enhancing
Sequentially Deliver	red Adjunct Adherence			
Lonsdale 2017 <sup>24</sup>	Goals and planning (1.1,1.4) Feedback and monitoring (2.2) Shaping knowledge (4.1) Comparison of behavior (6.1)	Repetition and substitution (8.1,8.6,8.7) Comparison of outcomes (9.1)	Goals and planning (1.2) Feedback and monitoring (2.3) Natural consequences (5.1)	
Ben-Ami 2017 <sup>19</sup>	Goals and planning (1.1,1.4) Feedback and monitoring (2.2) Feedback and monitoring (4.1) Comparison of behavior (6.1)	Repetition and substitution (8.1,8.6,8.7) Comparison of outcomes (9.1)	Goals and planning (1.2) Social support (3.1) Natural consequences (5.1) Associations (7.7)	Repetition and substitution (8.2) Comparison of outcomes (9.2,9.3) Identify (13.5)
Bennell 2017 <sup>25</sup>	Goals and planning (1.1,1.4) Feedback and monitoring (2.2,2.3) Shaping knowledge (4.1) Natural consequences (5.1)	Comparison of behavior (6.1) Repetition and substitution (8.1,8.6,8.7) Comparison of outcomes (9.1)	Goals and planning (1.2,1.5) Feedback and monitoring (2.3)	
Brosseau 2012 <sup>18</sup>	Feedback and monitoring (2.3) Shaping knowledge (4.1) Comparison of behavior (6.1) Repetition and substitution (8.1)		Goals and planning Natural consequer Comparison of out	g (1.1,1.2) ices (5.1) comes (9.1)
Pisters 2010 <sup>26</sup>	Goals and planning (1.1,1.4,1.5) Feedback and monitoring (2.2) Shaping knowledge (4.1)	Comparison of behavior (6.1) Repetition and substitution (8.1,8.68.7) Comparison of outcomes (9.1)	Goals and planning Feedback and mor	g (1.2) hitoring (2.3)
Friedrich 1998 <sup>27</sup>	Feedback and monitoring ( 2.2) Shaping knowledge (4.1) Natural consequences (5.1) Comparison of behavior (6.1)	Repetition and substitution (8.1,8.6,8.7) Comparison of outcomes (9.1)	Goals and planning (1.1,1.2,1.4,1.8) Feedback and monitoring (2.3)	Natural consequences (5.2) Associations (7.1) Reward and threat (10.3,10.11) Self-belief (15.1)



*Notes.* Behavior change technique domains: 1.1 Goal setting (behavior); 1.2 Problem solving; 1.3 Goal setting (outcome); 1.4 Action planning; 1.5 Review behavior (goals); 1.8 Behavioral contract; 2.1 Monitoring of behavior by others without feedback; 2.2 Feedback on behavior; 2.3 Self-monitoring of behavior; 2.4 Self-monitoring of outcome of behavior; 3.1 Social support (unspecified); 4.1 Instruction on how to perform a behavior; 4.4 Behavioral experiments; 5.1 Information about health consequences; 5.2 Salience of consequences; 6.1 Demonstration of the behavior; 6.2 Social comparison; 7.1 Prompts/cues; 7.7 Exposure; 8.1 Behavioral practice/rehearsal; 8.2 Behavior Substitution; 8.3 Habit formation; 8.6 Generalization of a target behavior; 8.7 Graded tasks; 9.1 Credible source; 9.2 Pros and cons; 9.3 Comparative imagining of future outcomes; 10.1 Material incentive (behavior); 10.3 Non-specific reward; 10.9 Self-reward; 10.11 Future punishment; 11.2 Reduce negative emotions; 12.1 Restructuring the physical environment; 12.4 Distraction; 13.5 Identity associated with changed behaviors; 15.1 Verbal persuasion about capability; 15.3 Focus on past success; 15.4 Self-talk. *Abbreviations*. BCT=Behavior Change Techniques.

# APPENDIX G. BEHAVIOR CHANGE TECHNIQUES USED IN INCLUDED STUDIES

Please refer to the main report's reference list for full citations.

Cluster	ВСТ	Number of Interventions BCT Is Present In	Studies
Goals and planning	1.1 Goal setting (behavior)	10 (100%)	18-27
	1.2 Problem solving	10 (100%)	18-27
	1.3 Goal setting (outcome)	1 (10%)	20
	1.4 Action planning	9 (90%)	19-27
	1.5 Review behavior (goals)	4 (40%)	21,23,25,26
	1.8 Behavioral contract	2 (20%)	22,27
Feedback and monitoring	2.1 Monitoring of behavior by others without feedback	1 (10%)	20
	2.2 Feedback on behavior	8 (80%)	19,20,22-27
	2.3 Self-monitoring of behavior	8 (80%)	18,20-22,24-27
	2.4 Self-monitoring of outcome of behavior	1 (10%)	20
Social support	3.1 Social support (unspecified)	3 (30%)	19-21
Shaping knowledge	4.1 Instruction on how to perform a behavior	10 (100%)	18-27
	4.4 Behavioral experiments	1 (10%)	20
Natural consequences	5.1 Information about health consequences	7 (70%)	18-27
	5.2 Salience of consequences	1 (10%)	27
Comparison of behavior	6.1 Demonstration of the behavior	10 (100%)	18-27
	6.2 Social comparison	1 (10%)	20
Associations	7.1 Prompts/cues	2 (20%)	20,27
	7.7 Exposure	1 (10%)	19
Repetition and substitution	8.1 Behavioral practice/rehearsal	10 (100%)	18-27
	8.2 Behavior Substitution	1 (10%)	19
	8.3 Habit formation	1 (10%)	20

₩ 4

Cluster	ВСТ	Number of Interventions BCT Is Present In	Studies
	8.6 Generalization of a target behavior	9 (90%)	19-27
	8.7 Graded tasks	9 (90%)	19-27
Comparison of outcomes	9.1 Credible source	9 (90%)	18-21,23-27
	9.2 Pros and cons	1 (10%)	19
	9.3 Comparative imagining of future outcomes	1 (10%)	19
Reward and threat	10.1 Material incentive (behavior)	1 (10%)	18
	10.3 Non-specific reward	1 (10%)	27
	10.9 Self-reward	1 (10%)	20
	10.11 Future punishment	1 (10%)	27
Regulation	11.2 Reduce negative emotions	1 (10%)	21
Antecedents	12.1 Restructuring the physical environment	1 (10%)	20
	12.4 Distraction	1 (10%)	20
Identify	13.5 Identity associated with changed behaviors	1 (10%)	19
Self-belief	15.1 Verbal persuasion about capability	2 (20%)	27
	15.3 Focus on past success	1 (10%)	20
	15.4 Self-talk	1 (10%)	20